
 

Local Agency Formation Commission of Napa County 
Subdivision of the State of California  
 

We Manage Government Boundaries, Evaluate Municipal Services, and Protect Agriculture  
 

  Margie Mohler, Chair    Anne Cottrell, Vice Chair    Mariam Aboudamous   Kenneth Leary 
  Belia Ramos    Beth Painter, Alternate    Joelle Gallagher, Alternate    Eve Kahn, Alternate 

  

    
    

 
Administrative Office  

1754 Second Street, Suite C 
Napa, California 94559 

Telephone: 707-259-8645 
www.napa.lafco.ca.gov  

   
 

 
 

 
 

 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
Monday, February 6, 2023, 2:00 PM 

County of Napa Administration Building 
1195 Third Street, Board Chambers, 3rd Floor 

Napa, California 94559 
 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER BY CHAIR; ROLL CALL 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

3. OATH OF OFFICE FOR NEW COMMISSIONERS 
Commission Counsel will administer Oaths of Office for new Commissioners Cottrell, Ramos, and Gallagher. 

 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
The Chair will consider approving the agenda as prepared by the Executive Officer with any requests to 
remove or rearrange items by members of the Commission or staff.  
 

5. PUBLIC COMMENTS  
The public may address the Commission concerning any matter not on the Agenda. The Commission is 
prohibited from discussing or taking action on any item not appearing on the posted Agenda.  
 

6.  RECOGNITION OF SERVICE: Ryan Gregory 
 
7. SPECIAL PRESENTATION: LAFCO 101 
 Staff will present an introduction to LAFCO, including an overview of LAFCO’s history, powers, and 

legislative mandates.  
 

8. CONSENT ITEMS 
 

Action Items: 
a) Approval of Meeting Minutes: December 5, 2022 Regular Meeting 
 

Receive Report for Information Only:  
b) Second Quarter Budget Report for Fiscal Year 2022-23 
c) Current and Future Proposals 
d) CALAFCO Quarterly Newsletter and 2023 Events Calendar 
e) Local Policy Manual 
f) Directory of Local Agencies Subject to LAFCO Jurisdiction 

 

9. ACTION ITEMS 
Items calendared for action do not require a public hearing before consideration by the Commission. 
Applicants may address the Commission. Any member of the public may provide comments on an item.  

 

a) Subcommittee Appointments 
The Commission will consider making appointments to the Fiscal Year 2023-24 Budget Committee and 
the Legislative Committee.  
 

b) CALAFCO Board of Directors Vacancy and Possible Nomination 
The Commission will receive an update on the membership of the California Association of LAFCOs 
(CALAFCO) Board of Directors and consider nominating a county member to complete an unexpired 
term on the CALAFCO Board.  

http://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/


LAFCO of Napa County Regular Meeting Agenda 
February 6, 2023 
Page 2 of 3 
 
10.  COMMISSIONER COMMENTS/REQUESTS FOR FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 

This is an opportunity for Commissioners to comment on issues not listed on the agenda, provided that the 
subject matter is within the jurisdiction of the Commission. No discussion or action may occur or be taken, 
except to place the item on a future agenda if approved by a majority of the Commission. 

 
11.  RECOGNITION OF SERVICE FOR COMMISSIONERS DILLON AND WAGENKNECHT 
 
12.  ADJOURNMENT TO NEXT SCHEDULED MEETING 

Monday, April 3, 2023 at 2:00 P.M. at the Napa County Board of Supervisors Chambers, located at 1195 
Third Street, 3rd floor, Napa, CA 94559. 

 
 

 
MEETING INFORMATION 

 
AGENDA ITEMS: The Commission may reschedule items on the agenda. The Commission will generally hear 
uncontested matters first, followed by discussions of contested matters, and staff announcements in that order.  
 
CONDUCT OF HEARINGS: A contested matter is usually heard as follows: (1) discussion of the staff report and the 
environmental document; (2) testimony of proponent; (3) public testimony; (4) rebuttal by proponent; (5) provision 
of additional clarification by staff as required; (6) close of the public hearing; (7) Commission discussion and 
Commission vote. 
 
ADDRESSING THE COMMISSION: The Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) of Napa County 
welcomes and encourages participation in its meetings. Any person who wishes to address the Commission should 
move to the front of the chambers when an item is called and, when recognized by the Chair, state their name, address, 
and affiliation. Please attempt to make your statements concise and to the point. It is most helpful if you can cite facts 
to support your contentions. Groups of people with similar viewpoints should appoint a spokesperson to represent 
their views to the Commission. The Commission appreciates your cooperation in this matter. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT TIME LIMITS: The Commission will hear public comment prior to the consideration of any 
item. (1) A principal proponent will be allowed up to a 5-minute statement; (2) other proponents will be allowed up 
to 3-minute statement; (3) opponents are allowed up to 3-minute statement with the exception of spokespersons for 
any group who shall be permitted up to 5-minutes; (4) the principal proponent shall have up to a 3-minute rebuttal; 
(5) staff will provide clarification, as required. 
 
SUBMITTING WRITTEN COMMENTS TO BE READ AT THE MEETING: Any member of the public may submit 
a written comment to the Commission before the meeting by email to info@napa.lafco.ca.gov or by mail to Napa 
LAFCO at 1754 Second Street, Suite C, Napa, CA 94559-2450. If you are commenting on a particular item on the 
agenda, please identify the agenda item number and letter. Any comments of 500 words or less (per person, per item) 
will be read into the record if: (1) the subject line includes “COMMENT TO COMMISSION – PLEASE READ”; 
and (2) it is received by the Commission prior to the deadline of February 6, 2023 at 10:00 A.M. 
 
SUBMITTING SUPPLEMENTAL WRITTEN COMMENTS: Any member of the public may submit supplemental 
written comments to the Commission, beyond the 500-word limit for comments read into the record, and those 
supplemental written comments will be made a part of the written record. 
 
VOTING: A quorum consists of three members of the Commission. No action or recommendation of the Commission 
is valid unless a majority of the quorum of the Commission concurs therein. 
  
 
 

mailto:info@napa.lafco.ca.gov


LAFCO of Napa County Regular Meeting Agenda 
February 6, 2023 
Page 3 of 3 
 
OFF AGENDA ITEMS: Matters under the jurisdiction of the Commission and not on the posted agenda may be 
addressed by the public under “Public Comments” on the Agenda. The Commission limits testimony on matters not 
on the agenda to 500-words or less for a particular subject. The Commission cannot take action on any unscheduled 
items. 
 
SPECIAL NEEDS: Meetings are accessible to persons with disabilities. Requests for assistive listening devices or 
other considerations should be made 72 hours in advance through LAFCO staff at (707) 259-8645 or 
info@napa.lafco.ca.gov.  
 
POLITICAL REFORM ACT: Pursuant to Government Code Sections 56700.1 and 81000 et seq., any person or 
combination of persons who directly or indirectly contributes $1,000 or more or expends $1,000 or more in support 
of or in opposition to a change of organization or reorganization that will be, or has been, submitted to LAFCO must 
comply, to the same extent as provided for local initiative measures, with reporting and disclosure requirements of 
the California Political Reform Act of 1974. Additional information can be obtained by contacting the Fair Political 
Practices Commission. Pursuant to Government Code Section 84308, if you wish to participate in the proceedings 
indicated on this agenda, you or your agent is prohibited from making a campaign contribution of $250 or more to 
any Commissioner or Alternate Commissioner. This prohibition begins on the date you begin to actively support or 
oppose an application before LAFCO and continues until three months after a final decision is rendered by LAFCO. 
If you or your agent has made a contribution of $250 or more to any Commissioner or Alternate Commissioner during 
the 12 months preceding the decision, that Commissioner or Alternate Commissioner must disqualify themselves 
from the decision in the proceeding. However, disqualification is not required if the Commissioner or Alternate 
Commissioner returns that campaign contribution within 30 days of learning both about the contribution and the fact 
that you are a participant in the proceedings. 
 
MEETING MATERIALS: Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the members of the Commission 
regarding any item on this agenda after the posting of the agenda and not otherwise exempt from disclosure will be 
made available for public review at https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov or by contacting LAFCO staff at 
info@napa.lafco.ca.gov or call the LAFCO office at (707) 259-8645. If the supplemental materials are made available 
to the members of the Commission at the meeting, a copy will be available for public review at 
https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov. Staff reports are available online at https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/staff_reports.aspx 
or upon request to LAFCO staff at info@napa.lafco.ca.gov or call the LAFCO office at (707) 259-8645. 
 
VIEWING RECORDING OF MEETING: The Commission’s meeting will be recorded. Members of the public may 
access the meeting and other archived Commission meetings by going to 
https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/cm_meeting_video.aspx. Please allow up to one week for production time. Meetings 
are also broadcast on Napa TV on the second and fourth Tuesdays of each month at 8pm and second and fourth 
Wednesdays at 1pm (http://napavalleytv.org/channel-28). 
 

mailto:info@napa.lafco.ca.gov
https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/
mailto:info@napa.lafco.ca.gov
https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/
mailto:info@napa.lafco.ca.gov
https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/cm_meeting_video.aspx
http://napavalleytv.org/channel-28/


 

 

Margie Mohler, Chair 
Councilmember, Town of Yountville 
 

Mariam Aboudamous, Commissioner 
Councilmember, City of American Canyon 
 

Beth Painter, Alternate Commissioner 
Councilmember, City of Napa 
 
 
 

Anne Cottrell, Vice Chair 
County of Napa Supervisor, 3rd District 

 

Belia Ramos, Commissioner 
County of Napa Supervisor, 5th District 

 

Joelle Gallagher, Alternate Commissioner 
County of Napa Supervisor, 1st District 

 

Kenneth Leary, Commissioner 
Representative of the General Public 

 

Eve Kahn, Alternate Commissioner  
Representative of the General Public 

 

Brendon Freeman 
Executive Officer 

 

Local Agency Formation Commission of Napa County  
Subdivision of the State of California  
 
 
We Manage Local Government Boundaries, Evaluate Municipal Services, and Protect Agriculture  

 

 
1754 Second Street, Suite C 

Napa, California  94559 
Phone: (707) 259-8645 
www.napa.lafco.ca.gov 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8a (Consent/Action) 
 
 
 
TO:    Local Agency Formation Commission 
 
PREPARED BY: Brendon Freeman, Executive Officer 
 
MEETING DATE: February 6, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: Approval of Meeting Minutes: December 5, 2022 Regular Meeting  
 
 
SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATION 
 
This is a consent item for formal action. Accordingly, if interested, the Commission is 
invited to pull this item for additional discussion with the concurrence of the Chair. 
 
The Commission will consider approving the draft meeting minutes prepared by staff for 
the December 5, 2022 regular meeting, included as Attachment One.  
 
Staff recommends approval of the draft meeting minutes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENT 
 
1) Draft Minutes for December 5, 2022 Regular Meeting 
 
 
 

 



LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA COUNTY 
MEETING MINUTES OF DECEMBER 5, 2022  

1. WELCOME AND CALL TO ORDER; ROLL CALL
Chair Mohler called the regular meeting of December 5, 2022 to order at 2:02 PM.
At the time of roll call, the following Commissioners and staff were present:

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Chair Mohler led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

3. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
Chair Mohler asked if there were any requests to rearrange the agenda.  There were no requests. 
Upon motion by Commissioner Leary and second by Commissioner Wagenknecht, the 
Commission adopted the agenda as submitted by the following vote: 

VOTE: 
AYES:  LEARY, WAGENKNECHT, DILLON, MOHLER, PAINTER  
NOES: NONE 
ABSENT: ABOUDAMOUS 
ABSTAIN:  NONE 

4. PUBLIC COMMENTS
Chair Mohler invited members of the audience to provide public comment. No comments were 
received. 

5. CONSENT ITEMS
Action Items: 
a) Approval of Meeting Minutes: October 3, 2022, Regular Meeting
b) Approval of Meeting Calendar for 2023
c) Approval of Amendment to General Policy Determinations Changing the Name to Policy

on Proposals and Making Other Changes Amendment to Policy on Indemnification
d) Establishing a Matching Retirement Savings Contribution for the Executive Officer in

2023

   Regular Commissioners   Alternate Commissioners      Staff 
Margie Mohler, Chair 
Brad Wagenknecht, Vice 
Chair 
Diane Dillon 
Kenneth Leary 
Mariam Aboudamous 
(Absent)  

  Ryan Gregory (Absent) 
  Eve Kahn 
  Beth Painter (Voting) 

Brendon Freeman, Executive Officer        
Dawn Mittleman Longoria, Analyst II and 
Interim Clerk 
Gary Bell, Commission Counsel (Absent)  

Attachment One



Local Agency Formation Commission of Napa County 
Meeting Minutes of December 5, 2022 
Page 2 of 3 
 

Receive Report for Information Only:  
e) First Quarter Budget Report for Fiscal Year 2022-23 
f) Current and Future Proposals 
g) Expiring Commissioner Terms in 2023 
h) Bay Area Greenprint Case Study on Napa LAFCO 
i) Legislative Report 
j) CALAFCO Annual Conference Report 
 
Chair Mohler asked if Commissioners wanted to discuss any of the consent items, no requests 
were made.  
Upon motion by Commissioner Wagenknecht and second by Commissioner Leary,  
the consent action items were approved by the following vote:   

 
VOTE: 

 AYES:  WAGENKNECHT, LEARY, DILLON, MOHLER, PAINTER 
NOES:  NONE 

 ABSENT: ABOUDAMOUS 
 ABSTAIN:   NONE 
 

 
6. ACTION ITEMS 

Items calendared for action do not require a public hearing before consideration by the Commission. 
Chair Mohler invited members of the audience to provide public comment. No comments were 
received. 

a) Financial Audit for Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2022 
The Commission received and filed a financial audit prepared by Brown Armstrong for the fiscal 
year ending June 30, 2022. 
Upon motion by Commissioner Leary and second by Commissioner Dillon, the Commission 
accepted the financial audit for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022 by the following vote:   

 
VOTE: 

 AYES:  LEARY, DILLON, MOHLER, PAINTER, WAGENKNECHT  
 NOES:  NONE 
 ABSENT: ABOUDAMOUS 
 ABSTAIN:   NONE 

 
 
7. INFORMATION TEMS  

Chair Mohler invited members of the audience to provide public comment. No comments were 
received. 
 

a) Presentation on the Napa Valley Drought Contingency Plan 
The Commission received a presentation on the Napa Valley Drought Contingency Plan from City of 
Napa Water Resources Analyst Patrick Costello. No action was taken.  

 
8. COMMISSIONER COMMENTS/REQUESTS FOR FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 

Chair Mohler opened the meeting to Commission comments/requests; none were received. 

Attachment One



Local Agency Formation Commission of Napa County 
Meeting Minutes of December 5, 2022 
Page 3 of 3 

9. RECOGNITION OF SERVICE FOR COMMISSIONERS DILLON AND WAGENKNECHT

10. ADJOURNMENT TO NEXT REGULAR SCHEDULED MEETING
The meeting was adjourned at 2:53 PM.  The next regular LAFCO meeting is scheduled for Monday,
February 6, 2023, at 2:00 PM. The meeting location will be at the Napa County Board of Supervisors
Chambers, located at 1195 Third Street, 3rd floor, Napa, CA 94559.

   ____________________________________ 
Margie Mohler, LAFCO Chair 

ATTEST:     
Brendon Freeman, Executive Officer 

Prepared by: 

______________________________ 
Dawn Mittleman Longoria, Interim Commission Clerk 

Attachment One



 

 

Margie Mohler, Chair 
Councilmember, Town of Yountville 
 

Mariam Aboudamous, Commissioner 
Councilmember, City of American Canyon 
 

Beth Painter, Alternate Commissioner 
Councilmember, City of Napa 
 
 
 

Anne Cottrell, Vice Chair 
County of Napa Supervisor, 3rd District 

 

Belia Ramos, Commissioner 
County of Napa Supervisor, 5th District 

 

Joelle Gallagher, Alternate Commissioner 
County of Napa Supervisor, 1st District 

 

Kenneth Leary, Commissioner 
Representative of the General Public 

 

Eve Kahn, Alternate Commissioner  
Representative of the General Public 

 

Brendon Freeman 
Executive Officer 

 

Local Agency Formation Commission of Napa County  
Subdivision of the State of California  
 
 
We Manage Local Government Boundaries, Evaluate Municipal Services, and Protect Agriculture  

 

 
1754 Second Street, Suite C 

Napa, California  94559 
Phone: (707) 259-8645 
www.napa.lafco.ca.gov 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8b (Consent/Information) 
 
 
 
TO:    Local Agency Formation Commission 
 
PREPARED BY: Brendon Freeman, Executive Officer 
 
MEETING DATE: February 6, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: Second Quarter Budget Report for Fiscal Year 2022-23 
 
 
BACKGROUND AND SUMMARY 
 
This is a consent item for information purposes only. Accordingly, if interested, the 
Commission is invited to pull this item for additional discussion with the concurrence of 
the Chair. No formal action will be taken as part of this item.  
 
On June 6, 2022, the Commission adopted a final budget for fiscal year 2022-23. This 
report compares budgeted versus actual transactions through December 31, 2022. A second 
quarter budget sheet with year-end projections is included as Attachment One.  
 
Operating revenues are budgeted at $663,588. Actual revenues collected through the 
second quarter totaled $657,083. Staff projects the Commission will finish the fiscal year 
with $665,855 in total revenues, resulting in a surplus of $2,267 relative to budgeted 
revenues. 
 
Operating expenses are budgeted at $663,588. Actual expenses incurred through the second 
quarter totaled $295,681. Staff projects the Commission will finish the fiscal year with 
$596,859 in total expenses, resulting in a savings of $66,729 relative to budgeted expenses. 
The savings in expenses are primarily attributed to the Commission Clerk vacancy. 
 
Local policy directs the Commission to maintain an available/unrestricted fund balance 
(“reserves”) equal to a minimum of four months, or 33.3%, of budgeted expenses. The 
Commission’s reserves as of June 30, 2022 totaled $281,201, representing 42.4% of 
budgeted expenses in fiscal year 2022-23. Staff projects the Commission will finish the 
fiscal year with an overall budget surplus of $68,996, which would increase reserves to 
$350,197, or 52.8% of budgeted expenses.  
 
 
ATTACHMENT 
 
1) Second Quarter Budget Sheet for Fiscal Year 2022-23 with Year-End Projections 



 Account   Category 

 Adopted 

Budget 

 Actual 

YTD 

 YTD Percent of 

Budget 

 Year‐End 

Projection 

 Year‐End 

Projection Percent 

of Budget 

42690 Permits/Application Fees 25,000             23,460          93.8% 28,560               114.2%

43910 County of Napa 313,794           313,794        100.0% 313,794            100.0%

43950 Other‐Governmental Agencies 313,794           313,794        100.0% 313,794            100.0%

45100 Interest 6,000                3,368            56.1% 6,700                 111.7%

46800 Charges for Services 1,000                ‐                0.0% 340  34.0%

47900 Miscellaneous 4,000                2,667            66.7% 2,667                 66.7%

4* Total Revenues 663,588        657,083     99.02% 665,855         100.3%

51210 Director/Commissioner Pay 15,200             7,290            48.0% 12,990               85.5%

51300 Medicare 250  103               41.2% 206  82.4%

51305 FICA 500  276               55.2% 552  110.4%

52100 Administration Services 509,844           222,378        43.6% 460,000            90.2%

52125 Accounting/Auditing Services 7,500                4,627            61.7% 7,500                 100.0%

52130 Information Technology Service 23,974             11,987          50.0% 23,974               100.0%

52131 ITS Communication Charges 1,685                846               50.2% 1,692                 100.4%

52140 Legal Services 35,000             23,638          67.5% 40,000               114.3%

52310 Consulting Services 10,000             ‐                0.0% ‐  0.0%

52345 Janitorial Services 300  ‐                0.0% 300  100.0%

52515 Maintenance‐Software 1,930                390               20.2% 1,930                 100.0%

52600 Rents and Leases ‐ Equipment 4,000                1,476            36.9% 3,500                 87.5%

52605 Rents and Leases ‐ Bldg/Land 25,995             12,900          49.6% 25,995               100.0%

52700 Insurance ‐ Liability 638  ‐                0.0% 638  100.0%

52800 Communications/Telephone 3,000                518               17.3% 2,236                 74.5%

52830 Publications & Notices 1,000                232               23.2% 696  69.6%

52835 Filing Fees 200  ‐                0.0% 50  25.0%

52900 Training/Conference Expenses 15,000             4,637            30.9% 7,500                 50.0%

52905 Business Travel/Mileage 1,000                713               71.3% 1,426                 142.6%

53100 Office Supplies 1,000                416               41.6% 832  83.2%

53110 Freight/Postage 150  ‐                0.0% 20  13.3%

53115 Books/Media/Subscriptions 119  ‐                0.0% 119  100.0%

53120 Memberships/Certifications 3,078                3,078            100.0% 3,078                 100.0%

53205 Utilities ‐ Electric 2,000                176               8.8% 1,400                 70.0%

53415 Computer Software/License 225  ‐                0.0% 225  100.0%

5* Total Expenditures 663,588        295,681     44.56% 596,859         89.9%

Net Surplus (Deficit) ‐                  361,402     54.5% 68,996           10.4%

LAFCO FY 2022‐23 Second Quarter Budget Report
Revenues and Expenses through 12/31/22 with Year‐End Projections

Revenues

Expenses

Attachment One



 

 

Margie Mohler, Chair 
Councilmember, Town of Yountville 
 

Mariam Aboudamous, Commissioner 
Councilmember, City of American Canyon 
 

Beth Painter, Alternate Commissioner 
Councilmember, City of Napa 
 
 
 

Anne Cottrell, Vice Chair 
County of Napa Supervisor, 3rd District 

 

Belia Ramos, Commissioner 
County of Napa Supervisor, 5th District 

 

Joelle Gallagher, Alternate Commissioner 
County of Napa Supervisor, 1st District 

 

Kenneth Leary, Commissioner 
Representative of the General Public 

 

Eve Kahn, Alternate Commissioner  
Representative of the General Public 

 

Brendon Freeman 
Executive Officer 

 

Local Agency Formation Commission of Napa County  
Subdivision of the State of California  
 
 
We Manage Local Government Boundaries, Evaluate Municipal Services, and Protect Agriculture  

 

 
1754 Second Street, Suite C 

Napa, California  94559 
Phone: (707) 259-8645 
www.napa.lafco.ca.gov 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8c (Consent/Information) 
 
 
 
TO:    Local Agency Formation Commission 
 
PREPARED BY: Brendon Freeman, Executive Officer 
 
MEETING DATE: February 6, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: Current and Future Proposals 
 
 
SUMMARY 
 
This is a consent item for information purposes only. Accordingly, if interested, the 
Commission is invited to pull this item for additional discussion with the concurrence of 
the Chair. No formal action will be taken as part of this item.  
 
This report summarizes all current and future boundary change proposals. There are 
currently four active proposals on file and seven anticipated new proposals that are 
expected to be submitted in the future. A summary follows. 
 
Active Proposals 
 
Partrick Road/Borrette Lane No. 3 Annexation to NSD 
 
The landowner of one parcel located at 1200 Partrick Road 
in the City of Napa submitted an application to annex the 
parcel to the Napa Sanitation District (NSD). The parcel is 
developed with one single-family residence and a 
vineyard. The parcel is identified as Assessor Parcel 
Number 041-490-005 and is approximately 4.0 acres in 
size. Annexation to NSD would facilitate the expansion of 
the existing residence to include additional bedrooms and 
bathrooms, and would not involve removal of the vineyard 
or additional residential units. It is anticipated the 
Commission will consider action on the proposal at its 
April 3, 2023 meeting. 
  



Current and Future Proposals 
February 6, 2023 
Page 2 of 6 
 
Sierra Avenue/Villa Lane Annexation to NSD  
 
A representative for the landowner of two 
parcels located at 1185 Sierra Avenue in the 
City of Napa submitted an application to 
annex the parcels to NSD. The parcels are 
identified as Assessor Parcel Numbers 038-
250-035 & -037 and total approximately 10.5 
acres in size. The parcels were previously 
used as the Vintage High School’s former 
farm site. The purpose of the annexation is to 
facilitate the planned Vintage Ranch 
Subdivision residential project. The 
submitted application is considered 
incomplete until the necessary CEQA 
documents are completed. It is anticipated the 
Commission will consider action on the 
proposal as early as its June 5, 2023 meeting.  
 
 
 
Devlin Road No. 6 Annexation to NSD 
 
A representative for the landowner of 
one unincorporated parcel submitted an 
application to annex the parcel to NSD. 
The parcel is undeveloped, identified as 
Assessor Parcel Number 057-170-024, 
has no situs address, and is 
approximately 27.5 acres in size. 
Annexation to NSD would facilitate the 
Nova Business Park North project, 
which will include industrial land uses. 
The proposal is on hold until CEQA 
requirements related to the proposed 
annexation have been satisfied. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Current and Future Proposals 
February 6, 2023 
Page 3 of 6 
 
Old Sonoma Road/Buhman Avenue Annexation to CVWD 
 
A landowner previously submitted a proposal 
to annex three unincorporated parcels 
totaling approximately 141.5 acres in size to 
the Congress Valley Water District (CVWD). 
The parcels are located along the 
northwestern side of Old Sonoma Road at its 
intersection with Buhman Avenue and 
identified as Assessor Parcel Numbers 047-
030-005, 047-030-020, and 047-080-001. 
Current land uses include two single-family 
residences and commercial vineyards with 
auxiliary structures and facilities. Two of the 
parcels already receive water service through 
grandfathered outside service agreements. 
Annexation would establish permanent water 
service to all three parcels. CVWD has 
requested, and the landowners have agreed, 
to postpone LAFCO action. There is no 
current timetable. 
 
 
Anticipated Proposals 
 
3090 Browns Valley Road Annexation to the City of Napa and NSD 
 
The City of Napa is expected to adopt a 
resolution of application to initiate the 
annexation of, at a minimum, one 
unincorporated parcel located at 3090 Browns 
Valley Road. Land use within the parcel is 
limited to one single-family residence. The 
parcel is approximately 3.8 acres in size, 
identified as Assessor Parcel Number 041-170-
009, and located within an unincorporated 
island referred to as “Browns Valley/Kingston”. 
The proposal will involve annexation to the 
City, annexation to NSD, and detachment from 
CSA No. 4. The City has invited other 
landowners within the island to join the 
annexation. The underlying purpose of 
annexation of 3090 Browns Valley Road is to 
facilitate a planned subdivision totaling 12 
single-family residences consistent with the 
City’s prezoning assignments. The proposal is expected to be submitted in the near future.  



Current and Future Proposals 
February 6, 2023 
Page 4 of 6 
 
Vintage High School Farm SOI Amendment and Annexation Involving the City of 
Napa and NSD  
 
The Napa Valley Unified School District 
(NVUSD) has inquired about a sphere of 
influence (SOI) amendment and 
annexation of approximately 12.8 acres of 
unincorporated territory involving the 
City of Napa and NSD. The territory is 
contiguous to the City of Napa near the 
eastern terminus of Trower Avenue and 
identified as Assessor Parcel Number 
038-240-020. The parcel is currently 
undeveloped and designated for 
residential land use under the County of 
Napa General Plan. The purpose of the 
SOI amendment and annexation is to 
facilitate the planned relocation of 
NVUSD’s educational farm near Vintage 
High School. It is anticipated a proposal 
for annexation will be submitted in the 
future, but there is no current timetable. 
 
 
7140 & 7150 Berryessa-Knoxville Road Annexation to SFWD 
 
A landowner has inquired about annexation 
of one entire unincorporated parcel and a 
portion of a second unincorporated parcel 
totaling approximately 7.9 acres in size to the 
Spanish Flat Water District (SFWD). The 
parcels were recently added to SFWD’s 
sphere of influence (SOI), are located at 7140 
and 7150 Berryessa-Knoxville Road, and 
identified as Assessor Parcel Numbers 019-
280-004 (entire) and 019-280-006 (portion). 
Current land uses within the parcels include 
a commercial boat and recreational vehicle 
storage facility (Lakeview Boat Storage), 
approximately 6,000 square feet of enclosed 
storage structures, an administrative office, 
and a detached single-family residence. The 
parcels are currently dependent on private 
water and septic systems to support existing uses. Annexation would facilitate the 
connection of existing uses to SFWD’s water and sewer services. It is anticipated a 
proposal for annexation will be submitted in the future, but there is no current timetable. 



Current and Future Proposals 
February 6, 2023 
Page 5 of 6 
 
NCRCD Donut Hole Annexation 
 
Staff from the Napa County Resource 
Conservation District (NCRCD) has 
inquired about annexation of 
approximately 1,300 acres of 
incorporated territory located in the City 
of Napa. This area comprises the only 
remaining territory located within 
NCRCD’s SOI but outside its 
jurisdictional boundary, and is 
commonly referred to as a “donut hole”. 
The purpose of annexation would be to 
allow NCRCD to expand its service 
programs and hold public meetings 
within the affected territory; activities 
that are currently prohibited within the 
area. In February 2020, the Commission 
approved a request for a waiver of 
LAFCO’s proposal processing fees. It is 
anticipated a proposal for annexation 
will be submitted in the future, but there is no current timetable. 
 
 
Materials Diversion Facility Annexation to the City of Napa 
 
Staff from the City of Napa has inquired about 
annexation of approximately 2.9 acres of 
unincorporated territory comprising a portion of 
an approximate 35.0-acre parcel currently owned 
by the Napa-Vallejo Waste Management 
Authority. The current Assessor Parcel Number is 
057-090-060. A property sale and a lot line 
adjustment are contemplated to create new parcels. 
The purpose of the property acquisition and future 
annexation is to expand the City’s existing 
materials diversion facility operations. The 
property is located outside the City of Napa’s SOI 
near the City of American Canyon. Annexation to 
the City of Napa is allowed given the property is 
owned by the City and soon will be used by the 
City for municipal purposes.1 It is anticipated a 
proposal for annexation will be submitted in the 
future, but there is no current timetable. 

 
1 See California Government Code §56742. 

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=56742


Current and Future Proposals 
February 6, 2023 
Page 6 of 6 
 
Watson Lane/Paoli Loop Annexation to the City of American Canyon 
 
The City of American Canyon is 
expected to submit an application to 
annex 16 parcels and a portion of railroad 
totaling approximately 77.7 acres of 
unincorporated territory. The area is 
located within the City’s SOI near 
Watson Lane and Paoli Loop and 
identified as Assessor Parcel Numbers 
057-120-014, -015, -017, -028, -034, -
036, -041, -045, -047, -048, -049, -050, 
& -051, 057-180-014 & -015, and 059-
020-036. The area is within the American 
Canyon Fire Protection District’s 
boundary. The purpose of annexation is 
to allow development of the area for 
industrial and residential purposes as 
well as help facilitate the extension of 
Newell Drive to South Kelly Road. It is 
anticipated a proposal for annexation will 
be submitted in 2023. 
 
Wastewater Treatment Plant Annexation to NBRID 
 
Staff from the Napa Berryessa Resort 
Improvement District (NBRID) has 
inquired about annexation of two 
unincorporated parcels totaling 
approximately 101 acres in size that serve 
as the location of the District’s wastewater 
treatment plant facilities. The parcels were 
recently added to NBRID’s SOI, are 
owned by NBRID, and are identified as 
Assessor Parcel Numbers 019-220-028 & 
-038. Annexation would be for purposes 
of reducing NBRID’s annual property tax 
burden. It is anticipated a proposal for 
annexation will be submitted in the future, 
but there is no current timetable. 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
None 



 

 

Margie Mohler, Chair 
Councilmember, Town of Yountville 
 

Mariam Aboudamous, Commissioner 
Councilmember, City of American Canyon 
 

Beth Painter, Alternate Commissioner 
Councilmember, City of Napa 
 
 
 

Anne Cottrell, Vice Chair 
County of Napa Supervisor, 3rd District 

 

Belia Ramos, Commissioner 
County of Napa Supervisor, 5th District 

 

Joelle Gallagher, Alternate Commissioner 
County of Napa Supervisor, 1st District 

 

Kenneth Leary, Commissioner 
Representative of the General Public 

 

Eve Kahn, Alternate Commissioner  
Representative of the General Public 

 

Brendon Freeman 
Executive Officer 

 

Local Agency Formation Commission of Napa County  
Subdivision of the State of California  
 
 
We Manage Local Government Boundaries, Evaluate Municipal Services, and Protect Agriculture  

 

 
1754 Second Street, Suite C 

Napa, California  94559 
Phone: (707) 259-8645 
www.napa.lafco.ca.gov 

 
   
 
 

Agenda Item 8d (Consent/Information) 
 
 
 
TO:    Local Agency Formation Commission 
 
PREPARED BY: Brendon Freeman, Executive Officer 
 
MEETING DATE: February 6, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: CALAFCO Quarterly Newsletter and 2023 Events Calendar 
 
 
SUMMARY 
 
This is a consent item for information purposes only. Accordingly, if interested, the 
Commission is invited to pull this item for additional discussion with the concurrence of 
the Chair. No formal action will be taken as part of this item.  
 
CALAFCO recently released a Quarterly Newsletter dated December 2022, included as 
Attachment One, with a summary of matters that may be of interest to members of the 
Commission.  
 
In addition, CALAFCO’s 2023 calendar of events is included as Attachment Two. 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
1) CALAFCO Quarterly Newsletter (December 2022) 
2) 2023 Events Calendar 



 

NE W S LETT ER  
                                                                    December, 2022 Edition 

BOARDROOM Brief 

D e c e m b e r ,  2 0 2 2   |   P a g e  1  o f  8    

Copyright © 2022 CALAFCO. All Rights Reserved. 

CELEBRATING EXTRAORDINARY! 

On October 20, 2021, CALAFCO held its much 
anticipated Achievement Awards Dinner in the 
glittering Pacific Ballroom at the Hyatt Regency John 
Wayne hotel in Newport Beach, California. The 
prestigious awards are given annually as a way of 
highlighting exceptional people or projects that have 
advanced the principles and goals of the Cortese-Knox
-Hertzberg Act over the past year.  

Honoring extraordinary efforts, the awards begin as 
nominations submitted by members from among eight 
categories. Those nominations then undergo a 
thorough consideration by the Achievement Awards 
Committee, with the final award recipients unveiled 
during the Awards Dinner at the annual conference. 

CALAFCO wishes to extend congratulations to this 
year’s phenomenal winners: 

 Outstanding Commissioner:  

DON SAYLOR (Yolo) 

 Outstanding LAFCo Professional:  

CAROLYN EMERY (Orange) 

 Mike Gotch Excellence in Public Service Award for 
Innovation (two-way tie) between: 

CHRISTINE CRAWFORD (Yolo),  

and the dynamic duo of ERICA SANCHEZ (El 

Dorado) and AMANDA ROSS (South Fork 

Consulting, LLC). 

Congratulations to all! 

Left to Right: Don Saylor (Yolo), Carolyn Emery (Orange), Christine 
Crawford (Yolo), and Amanda Ross (Southfork Consulting) and 
Erica Sanchez (El Dorado) 

New Gold  
Associate 
 

Thank you to RSG, Inc. for upgrading to a Gold 

Membership! 

RSG performs fiscal and reorganizational stud-

ies for LAFCos and applicants with the goal of 

(Continued on page 8) 

OCTOBER found us in Newport Beach for the 
annual conference, the regional elections on 
October 20th, and the October 21st Board 
meeting.   

Regional elections saw a return of all 
directors except for Directors Blake Inscore 
(Northern) and Daron McDaniel (Central), 
who chose not to run again. Our sincere 
thanks to them for their service and many 
contributions to CALAFCO.  

Taking their places are new Directors, Tom 
Cooley, our new city member for the 
Northern Region (Plumas), and Rodrigo 
Espinosa, the new County rep for the Central 
Region (Merced). Welcome! 

With the elections completed, the CALAFCO 
Board members for the next year are: 

Central:  
Rodrigo Espinosa (Merced) 
Gay Jones (Sacramento) 
Anita Paque (Calaveras) and  
Daniel Parra (Fresno)  

Coastal:  
Chris Lopez (Monterey) 
Mike McGill (Contra Costa) 
Margie Mohler (Napa) and  
Shane Stark (Santa Barbara)  

Northern:  
Bill Connelly (Butte),  
Tom Cooley (Plumas) 
Debra Lake (Humboldt) and  
Josh Susman (Nevada) 

Southern:  
Mike Kelley (Imperial),  
Jo MacKenzie (San Diego) 
Derek McGregor (Orange) and 
Acquanetta Warren (San Bernardino)  

(Continued on page 5) 

Attachment One



A Message from the 

Executive  
Director 

Whirlwind Journey 

There is something about December that soothes my 

soul. Maybe it’s the changing weather, the holiday sights and sounds, the 

children oozing with excitement, or maybe it is just knowing that the 

upcoming change of years allows a little downtime and an opportunity to 

reflect, rejuvenate, and regrow. That is particularly true this year as 

December also marks my tenth month as the CALAFCO Executive Director. 

It has been a bit of a whirlwind journey, but I have been SO glad to have 

you all by my side. 

With the disruption of the pandemic, it’s no wonder that the last two years 

have been challenging for CALAFCO – as with many nonprofits across the 

country. However, the experience caused us not only to re-examine how 

we conduct business but to streamline some areas. While it was a painful 

period, we survived, adjusted, and even developed some new offerings – 

all in spite of the global conditions. 

Then, just when we thought we were normalizing, the year took a bumpy 

turn due to a spike in COVID-19 cases. That not only forced the 

cancellation of the spring workshop but also transferred some of its 

financial obligations to the fall conference. However, despite that, we ended 

up hosting a successful and well-received conference. Simply put, that 

success is due to the army of volunteers who assisted in the planning, the 

presentations, the staffing, and the fundraising that all helped get us there. 

Because of those combined efforts, we actually made a small profit of 

approximately $5,000 on the conference – something I did not think 

possible back in May. Truly an astounding success, this was a stellar 

example of the teamwork that made the dream work! Thank you to 

everyone who offered a helping hand to make it work. (I don’t dare try to 

name you all for fear of missing someone!) 

But, that’s behind us and we are already looking forward to building on that 

success in 2023. Of course, we have our next Staff Workshop planned for 

April 26th-28th in Murphys, California. The planning committee is currently 

being formed and we will, again, need many hands. Please contact Michelle 

McIntyre if you would like to help out. Similarly, if you have an idea for a 

session, please send that to Michelle and me as soon as possible so that 

the committee has ample time to consider it. Emails to Michelle should be 

sent to mmcintyre@placer.ca.gov while those to me should go to 

rlaroche@calafco.org. Look for a flyer for that workshop to go out in 

January. 

Other things expected to occur in 2023 are the selection of a new 

accountant for CALAFCO, and the build-out of a new website. The need to 

identify a new accountant rose in June of this year when Jim Gladfelter, our 

current C.P.A., informed us that he is partially retiring and will no longer be 

preparing tax returns after this year. Since that preparation is a substantial 

portion of what he does for CALAFCO, the Board approved an RFP seeking 

a new accountant with nonprofit expertise. That RFP was issued on 

December 11th and is currently open. The RFP was transmitted to the EOs 

who, in turn, have distributed it to their networks and I’m pleased to report 

(Continued on page 7) 

D e c e m b e r ,  2 0 2 2   |   P a g e  2  o f  8  

CALAFCO Quarterly Newsletter                                                                       December, 2022 

Copyright © 2022 CALAFCO. All Rights Reserved. 

 
FROM THE 

BOARD 

CHAIR 

 
Dear 
CALAFCO members,  
  
As the newly elected Board 
Chair, let me first say how 
honored and proud I am to 
have been selected as your 
Board Chair. I have always 
recognized the importance 
of the work that LAFCos do 
and, by extension, the 
importance of the support 
that CALAFCO provides.   
  
Secondly, I want to offer 
my sincere thanks to my 
fellow Board members who 
elected me to this position. 
Your trust is appreciated 
and I, of course, will always 
do my best to be a 
thoughtful leader and good 
steward for CALAFCO.  
  
And, lastly, I want to take a 
moment to recognize Anita 
Paque, our former Board 
Chair, for her leadership. 
While all of the Board 
positions come at the 
expense of one’s time, the 
Board Chair position is 
more intense, so thank you, 
Anita, for your service to 
the Association during a 
difficult year! 
  
As we close the door on 
2022, I want to wish Happy 
Holidays to everyone. I look 
forward to a rewarding 
2023 at CALAFCO!  

Bill Connelly 

Attachment One



CONFERENCE CANDIDS 

Newport Beach, October, 2022 

D e c e m b e r ,  2 0 2 2   |   P a g e  3  o f  8  

CALAFCO Quarterly Newsletter                                                                       December, 2022 

Copyright © 2022 CALAFCO. All Rights Reserved. 

Attachment One



D e c e m b e r ,  2 0 2 2   |   P a g e  4  o f  8  

CALAFCO Quarterly Newsletter                                                                       December, 2022 

Copyright © 2022 CALAFCO. All Rights Reserved. 

IN 

MEMORIAM  

It is with sadness that we 
report the passing of 
Riverside LAFCo 
Commissioner, Phil 
Williams, on November 

20th.  

Commissioner Williams was a Special District 
Member from the Elsinore Valley Municipal 
Water District and had served on that board 
since 2001. He was also a local real estate 
broker and lifelong resident of Lake Elsinore.  

Known for his servant heart, he worked 
tirelessly with local, state, and federal 
agencies on behalf of his community. 

CALAFCO sends it condolences to our 
colleagues at Riverside LAFCo and to 
Commissioner Williams’ family and friends. 

 

 

 

NEW Roles 

BRIAN SPAUNHURST, New Fresno EO 

Departing EO, David Fey, reported that Brian 
Spaunhurst was appointed in late May as his 
replacement. Somehow Brian got missed in the 
August newsletter but we are rectifying that 
omission now! Brian has thrown himself into the 
role and CALAFCO, and has attended the 
conference (where he could be seen serving time 
at the registration desk), and has also volunteered 
to serve on the Legislative Committee. Welcome 
aboard, Brian! 

SHIVA FRENTZEN Appointed El Dorado EO 

El Dorado LAFCo reported that its commission took 

action on September 28th to appoint Shiva 

Frentzen as Executive Officer. If Shiva’s name is 

familiar, it’s because she was previously an El 

Dorado LAFCo Commissioner who served on the 

CALAFCO Board of Directors. Welcome (again), 

(Continued on page 8) 

FAREWELL to Two Contra 
Costa LAFCo Commissioners - 
Rob Schroder and Tom Butt 

Submitted by Contra Costa LAFCo 

Following 20 years as a Contra Costa 
LAFCo Commissioner, six years as Martinez 
City Council member, and 20 years as 
Mayor of the City of Martinez, Rob 
Schroder is retiring. During his tenure, Rob 
served on various committees and regional 
government agencies and boards, including 
the Contra Costa Transportation Authority 
(CCTA) (22 years), Central Contra Costa 
Identification Bureau (19 years), Marin 
Clean Energy (MCE) (3 years), and was an 
active member of the Contra Costa Mayors 
Conference. Commissioner Schroder began 
his LAFCo career in 2003 and is currently 
one of our longest serving Commissioners. 
During Rob’s tenure, LAFCo processed 330 
applications, including four district 
formations and seven district dissolutions, 
and most recently, a large fire district 
reorganization. LAFCo also completed 1st 
and 2nd round municipal service reviews 
(MSRs)/sphere of influence (SOI) updates 
covering all municipal services.  

Commissioner Schroder attended many 
CALAFCO conferences and says “serving as 
a LAFCo commissioner gave me an 
opportunity to understand the relationship 
between various governmental agencies 
and how the services they provide 
intertwine and rely on each other. The MSR 
process, although confusing when we first 
started the process many years ago, 
became a valuable tool in analyzing the 
efficient delivery of service and identifying 
deficiencies, areas, and entities that need 
to be improved or dissolved. Being a LAFCo 
commissioner made me a better Mayor 
with the knowledge of the annexation 
process and the efficient delivery of 
services.” 

Following nearly 12 years as a LAFCo 
Commissioner, 27 years as City of 

(Continued on page 6) 

Attachment One



D e c e m b e r ,  2 0 2 2   |   P a g e  5  o f  8  

CALAFCO Quarterly Newsletter                                                                       December, 2022 

Copyright © 2022 CALAFCO. All Rights Reserved. 

 
    

The new members were seated during the October 
21st meeting, followed by the election of the 
following Executive Officers: 

Bill Connelly (Chair)  
Margie Mohler (Vice Chair) 
Acquanetta Warren (Treasurer) 
Daniel Parra (Secretary) 

With Anita Paque rotating into the Immediate 
Past Chair position. Thank you to all for your 
service! 

With those changes, the first “regular” Board 
meeting occurred on December 9, 2022, with 
Chair Connelly at the helm. At that time, the 
Board chose committee members for the new year 
(staff members for the Leg Committee had been 
appointed on October 21st.) Committees and 
members are: 

LEGISLATIVE COMMITTEE 

Board Appointees - Bill Connelly, Gay Jones, 
Mike Kelley, Chris Lopez, Jo MacKenzie, Mike 
McGill, Margie Mohler, Anita Paque, Daniel Parra 
and Josh Susman. 

Staff Voting Members - Clark Alsop, Gary Bell, 
Mark Bramfitt, Scott Browne, Carolyn Emery, 
Steve Lucas, Kai Luoma, Jennifer Stephenson, and 
Gary Thompson. 

Staff Alternates - Rob Fitzroy, Paula Graf, Joe 
Serrano, and Paula de Sousa. 

Advisory - Tara Bravo, Crystal Craig, Brandon 
Fender, Sara Lytle-Pinhey, Priscilla Mumpower, 
Erica Sanchez, Jim Simon, and Luis Tapia. 

ACHIEVEMENT AWARDS COMMITTEE 

Mike Kelley, Debra Lake, Margie Mohler, Anita 
Paque, and Shane Stark.  

ELECTIONS COMMITTEE 

Rodrigo Espinosa, Chris Lopez, Derek McGregor, 
and Josh Susman. 

(Continued from page 1) 
BOARDROOM  CONFERENCE PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Gay Jones, Derek McGregor, Margie Mohler, Anita 
Paque (Chair), and Josh Susman. 

Other matters on the Board’s December 9th 
agenda included receipt of the Investment and 
Financial Reports for the First Quarter, adoption 
of the Board’s meeting schedule for the next year, 
approval of an RFP for Accounting Services, and 
receipt of the Conflict of Interest forms, 
Legislative Committee report, and Conference 
Overview.  

Speaking of the conference, we must express 
thanks and gratitude to Paul Novak (Los Angeles) 
and Carolyn Emery (Orange), for their 
extraordinary fundraising. Because of their 
efforts, the conference posted a small profit of 
approximately $5,000 - despite the nearly 
$32,000 in additional fees that we were obligated 
to pay due to the cancellation of the spring 
workshop. Hopefully, we can keep these efforts 
going next year!! 

The last item of the meeting was a closed session 
evaluation of the Executive Director’s (ED) 
performance. At it’s conclusion, the Board 
announced that the term of the ED’s employment 
contract was extended to June 30, 2026, that 
they had formally approved a 4.9% cost of living 
increase (the allocation for which had been 
approved in April with the adopted budget) and, 
due to security concerns at the current CALAFCO 
office, approved the ED working remotely from 
any location, subject to approval by the Executive 
Committee. For full particulars of public items, 
please see the agenda packet. 

The biennial Strategic Planning session is 
scheduled for February 16th at the Sacramento 
offices of Best Best & Krieger located at 500 
Capitol Mall. The Board meeting will be held the 
next day (February 17th) at the same location. 

All agendas, staff reports, and minutes can be found on 

the CALAFCO website at www.calafco.org. Any 

questions should be directed to the Executive Director 

at rlaroche@calafco.org.  Continued in next column 

Attachment One



D e c e m b e r ,  2 0 2 2   |   P a g e  6  o f  8  

CALAFCO Quarterly Newsletter                                                                       December, 2022 

Copyright © 2022 CALAFCO. All Rights Reserved. 

Richmond Council member, and the past 
eight years as the City’s Mayor, Tom Butt is 
retiring. Tom served on multiple boards and 
committees including MCE, CCTA, San 
Francisco Bay Conservation and 
Development Commission, West Contra 
Costa Transportation Advisory Committee, 
Association of Bay Area Governments, US 
Conference of Mayors, Climate Mayors, 
League of California Cities, and was an 
active member of the Contra Costa Mayors 
Conference. Commissioner Butt notes that 
these regional and statewide appointments 
have been critical in bringing many benefits 
to the community including hundreds of 
millions of dollars in grants, public works 
projects, legislation, and a seat at the larger 
table. During Tom’s tenure, LAFCo 
processed 95 applications, including 
numerous boundary changes/ 
reorganizations, five dissolutions, and most 
recently, a large fire district reorganization 
and an out of agency service contract for 
fire services. During Commissioner Butt’s 
tenure, LAFCo completed 1st and 2nd round 
MSRs/SOI updates covering all municipal 
services. 

In 2019, both commissioners shared in 
receipt of CALAFCO’s “Most Effective 
Commission” award. Contra Costa LAFCo 
Commissioners were recognized for their 
leadership, diligence, and endeavors to 
promote healthy and sustainable local 
agencies. Since 2010, Contra Costa LAFCo 
Commissioners assisted three special 
districts to improve their operations and 
transparency, encouraged several districts 
to revise its governance structure, 
reorganized one special district, and 
dissolved four special districts. 

Congratulations and best wishes to 
Commissioners Schroder and Butt for their 
valuable and dedicated service to their 
communities and to Contra Costa LAFCo! 

(Continued from page 4) 

CONTRA COSTA FAREWELLS ALAMEDA CONDUCTS MEASURE D 
STUDY 
 
Submitted By Rachel Jones, Executive Officer, 
Alameda LAFCo  

 
Alameda LAFCO recently conducted a special 
study regarding ballot Measure D that was 
passed in November of 2000 and did the 
following: 
 
• Amending the County’s Urban Growth 

Boundary  

• Increasing restrictions on building 
intensity, minimum parcel sizes and 
permitted uses in rural areas of the County  

• Establishing that all County planning 
policies and zoning regulations must be 
consistent with provisions of Measure D, 
and  

• Mandating that any changes to the land 
use designations, building intensity or 
minimum parcel sizes as established by 
Measure D be subject to a new vote of the 
County electorate 

 
The study’s purposes were to review how 
Measure D has affected agricultural and 
open space lands and the surrounding 
communities, and to consider how 
implementation of Measure D has or has not 
met its own LAFCO policies pertaining to 
agriculture and open space. The study found 
that since the measure’s passing, the 
agricultural and equestrian communities of 
Alameda County argue that the strict square 
footage limitations hinders their business 
performance. Alameda LAFCO recommended 
proposed amendments to the County to 
allow equestrian centers, greenhouses and 
wineries more flexibility in their building 
plans. 
 
This November, Alameda County voters 
approved the recommended amendments on 
Measure D, or the “Save Agriculture and 
Open Space Lands” initiative, that aimed at 
increasing profits for agriculture business 
while simultaneously preserving the county’s 
open land. 
 
For more information see: https://
dailycal.org/2022/10/31/preserve-open-land
-alameda-county-to-vote-on-amended-
measure-d 

Attachment One

https://dailycal.org/2022/10/31/preserve-open-land-alameda-county-to-vote-on-amended-measure-d
https://dailycal.org/2022/10/31/preserve-open-land-alameda-county-to-vote-on-amended-measure-d
https://dailycal.org/2022/10/31/preserve-open-land-alameda-county-to-vote-on-amended-measure-d
https://dailycal.org/2022/10/31/preserve-open-land-alameda-county-to-vote-on-amended-measure-d


D e c e m b e r ,  2 0 2 2   |   P a g e  7  o f  8  

CALAFCO Quarterly Newsletter                                                                       December, 2022 

Copyright © 2022 CALAFCO. All Rights Reserved. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
2023 STAFF WORKSHOP 
April 26 - 28, 2023 

Learn technical topics in a scenic setting! Don’t miss the Staff Work-
shop to be held on the beautiful grounds of Ironstone Vineyards in 
Murphys, California.   
 

2023 ANNUAL CONFERENCE 
October 18-20, 2023 

Hyatt Regency Hotel, Monterey, California 
 

 
 
 

CALAFCO U explores topics of interest to LAFCos and are offered at 
no cost to our members.  

Feb. 23, 2023:   The Dirty Dozen: Things I Wish I Knew About  
   The Act    

BOARD MEETINGS: 

Feb. 16, 2023 (Strategic Planning) LOCATION: Sacramento 

Feb. 17, 2023 LOCATION: Sacramento 

Apr. 21, 2023 LOCATION: Virtual 

Jul. 14, 2023 LOCATION: Virtual 

Oct. 20, 2023 LOCATION: Monterey 

Dec. 1, 2023 LOCATION: Virtual 

LEGISLATIVE COMMITTEE MEETINGS: 

Jan. 13, 2023 LOCATION: Virtual (9 AM) 

Feb. 24, 2023 LOCATION: Sacramento (10 AM) 

Mar. 31, 2023 LOCATION: Virtual (9 AM) 

May. 5, 2023 LOCATION: Virtual (9 AM) 

Jun. 16, 2023 LOCATION: San Diego (10 AM) 

Jul. 28, 2023 LOCATION: Virtual, as needed (9 AM) 

Aug. 25, 2023 LOCATION: Virtual, as needed (9 AM) 

Nov. 3, 2023 LOCATION: Virtual, as needed (9 AM) 

Dec. 8, 2023 LOCATION: Virtual, as needed (9 AM) 

 

that we’ve already begun fielding questions from 

potential bidders. 

The second large administrative undertaking for 

2023 will be the website. We have known since 

March of this year that the platform on which our 

website has been built is being retired. So far, 

our vendor has been able to keep the website 

functioning at an increasing cost. However, the 

underlying computer language that it uses will 

not be supported at all after November, 2023. 

Given that we have no choice but to rebuild the 

website, it presents the ideal opportunity to 

upgrade it to an Association Management System 

(AMS) which will provide more features to the 

membership, while reducing some of the 

repetitive administrative things that Jeni does 

behind the scenes. We are currently in the 

process of comparing costs and features between 

available AMS systems and hope to be able to 

bring something before the Board in the first part 

of 2023. 

While that’s a lot, we’re also planning for the Fall 

Conference. Our October event was so successful 

that I have already begun hearing from sponsors 

who are interested in the Monterey conference.  

Beyond that administrative matrix, we also 

foresee a busy year for the Legislative Committee 

who will be working through some of the back-

end things needed to get the GC 56133 proposal 

moving. Now that our new White Paper has been 

published (“Planning for a Sustainable and 

Predictable Future: Clarifying LAFCo Authority to 

Determine Government Code Section 56133(e) 

Exemption Eligibility”), we can begin the process 

of reaching out to stakeholders. 

Lastly, I am pleased to report that at its 

December 9th meeting, the Board approved an 

extension to my employment contract through 

June 30, 2026. I am gratified beyond measure at 

the faith they, and you, have placed in me and I 

hope to continue to be worthy of it in the years to 

come.  

Hopefully, you can tell that I am exhilarated by 

the opportunities and prospects before us. While 

the year has been a bumpy one, it has led to 

good friendships, great partnerships, and the 

start of some wonderful things. I call that a 

winning year! 

Happy Holidays to each of you! May the season 

ahead bring you love and laughter. May the year 

to come bring you prosperity and contentment. 

Happy New Year, everyone!! 

(Continued from page 2) 
ED WHIRLWIND 

Attachment One



D e c e m b e r ,  2 0 2 2   |   P a g e  8  o f  8  

CALAFCO Quarterly Newsletter                                                                       December, 2022 

Copyright © 2022 CALAFCO. All Rights Reserved. 

RSG, Inc. Continued from page 1 

establishing a factual, transparent and credible basis for our clients to make informed decisions. RSG 
prepared Placer LAFCo’s comprehensive fiscal analysis for the 2017 incorporation proposal for Olympic 
Valley, the preliminary feasibility studies for a 2018 incorporation in Malaga (Fresno County), as well 
as several reorganization proposals and municipal service reviews.  

To learn more about RSG, Inc, visit their website at www.webrsg.com or contact Jim Simon at: jsi-
mon@webrsg.com.  

 

 

 

 

 

All information is provided by the Associate upon joining the Association. All Associate Member information can 
be found in the CALAFCO Member Directory. 

CALAFCO wishes to thank all of our Associate Members for their ongoing support and partnership. We 
look forward to highlighting other Associate Members in future Newsletters.  

CONNECTIONS 
          

 

 

 

  

Shiva!  

J.D. HIGHTOWER takes the EO rein in San 
Joaquin 

J.D. Hightower has taken the EO reins in San 
Joaquin. Jim Glaser hung around for a month or 
two to assist with the transition (and even made 
an appearance at the conference) but is looking 
forward to indulging in some traveling. 

Welcome aboard, J.D.!  

KRIS BERRY now with San Benito 

Kris Berry has reported that she has accepted a 
contract to be San Benito’s EO. This makes the 
second LAFCo in Kris’ belt, as she is also EO for 
Amador LAFCo. Looks like lots of travel is in Kris’ 
future. Congratulations, Kris! 

STEVE ENGFER appointed Interim EO in 
Mariposa 

Long-time EO, Sarah Williams, has retired after 

33 years with Mariposa County. In her place, the 
Board of Supervisors has appointed Assistant 
Planning Director Steve Engfer as both the 
Interim Planning Director and the Interim LAFCo 
EO. Welcome, Steve! 

LORI ZINN hired as San Diego’s new Clerk/
Analyst 

San Diego LAFCo is pleased to welcome Lori Zinn 
who joined them as their new Clerk/Analyst. Her 
first day there was October 24th. 
Congratulations, Lori! 

STEPHANIE PRATT welcomed as Marin 
Clerk/Jr. Analyst 

In August, Marin welcomed Stephanie Pratt to 
the LAFCo family. She comes to Marin from the 
private sector so is learning not just about LAFCo 
but the public sector. Hang in there, Stephanie, 
and welcome! 

Congratulations to you all! 

CITY OF RANCHO MIRAGE 

Located in the geographic center of the 
Coachella Valley, Rancho Mirage 

enjoys sunshine nearly every day with clean 
air.  Resort living, superb dining, outdoor 
recreation, cultural and business opportunities 
all contribute to a superior quality of life. 

To learn more about the City of Rancho 
Mirage, visit their website at: 
https://ranchomirageca.gov/ 

QK 

QK (formerly Quad Knopf) provides 
planning, engineering, biology, environmental, 
and survey services to public and private clients. 
Our planners have previous experience working 
for public agencies, including serving as LAFCo 
Analysts. We specialize in the San Joaquin Valley 
and Sacramento Valley regions. 

To learn more about QK visit their website at 
www.qkinc.com, or contact Trevor Stearns at 
tstearns@qkinc.com 

                                     

Continued from Page 4 

Attachment One



For current information and other CALAFCO resources please visit www.calafco.org 

Last Updated: December 9, 2022 

THE CALIFORNIA ASSOCIATION OF LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSIONS 

2023 Events Calendar

JANUARY 

13 CALAFCO Legislative Committee (Virtual) 

18-20 League New Mayor & Council Academy

25-27 CA Assn. of Sanitation Agencies Winter
Conference (Palm Springs) 

FEBRUARY 

16 CALAFCO Board of Directors Strategic 
Planning (Sacto.) 

17 CALAFCO Board of Directors Meeting 
(Sacto.) 

23 CALAFCO U Webinar  

24 CALAFCO Legislative Committee (Sacto.) 

MARCH 

14-17  Fire District Assn. Annual Meeting (Napa)

31 CALAFCO Legislative Committee (Virtual)

APRIL 

20-21 CA State Assn. of Counties Leg Days (Sacto.)

21 CALAFCO Board of Directors Meeting 
(Virtual) 

26-28 CALAFCO Staff Workshop (Murphys)

MAY 

3-5 Assn. of CA Water Agencies Conference 
(Sacto.) 

5 CALAFCO Legislative Committee (Virtual) 

16-17 CA Special Districts Assn. Leg Days (Sacto.)

JUNE 

16 CALAFCO Legislative Committee (San 
Diego) 

JULY 

14 CALAFCO Board of Directors Meeting 
(Virtual) 

28 CALAFCO Legislative Committee (Virtual) 

AUGUST 

9-11 CA Assn. of Sanitation Agencies Annual 
Conference (San Diego) 

25 CALAFCO Legislative Committee (Virtual) 

28-31 CA Special Districts Assn. Conference
(Monterey) 

SEPTEMBER 

20-22 Regional Council of Rural Counties Annual
Meeting (Monterey) 

20-23 League Annual Conference (Sacto.)

OCTOBER 

18-20  CALAFCO Annual Conference (Monterey)

19 CALAFCO Annual Business Meeting 
(Monterey) 

20 CALAFCO Board of Directors Meeting 
(Monterey) 

NOVEMBER 

3 CALAFCO Legislative Committee (Virtual) 

13-17 CA State Assn. of Counties Annual Conference
(Alameda) 

28-30 Assn. of CA Water Agencies Conference
(Indian Wells) 

DECEMBER 

1 CALAFCO Board of Directors Meeting 
(Virtual) 

8 CALAFCO Legislative Committee (Sacto.) 

Attachment Two



 

 

Margie Mohler, Chair 
Councilmember, Town of Yountville 
 

Mariam Aboudamous, Commissioner 
Councilmember, City of American Canyon 
 

Beth Painter, Alternate Commissioner 
Councilmember, City of Napa 
 
 
 

Anne Cottrell, Vice Chair 
County of Napa Supervisor, 3rd District 

 

Belia Ramos, Commissioner 
County of Napa Supervisor, 5th District 

 

Joelle Gallagher, Alternate Commissioner 
County of Napa Supervisor, 1st District 

 

Kenneth Leary, Commissioner 
Representative of the General Public 

 

Eve Kahn, Alternate Commissioner  
Representative of the General Public 

 

Brendon Freeman 
Executive Officer 

 

Local Agency Formation Commission of Napa County  
Subdivision of the State of California  
 
 
We Manage Local Government Boundaries, Evaluate Municipal Services, and Protect Agriculture  

 

 
1754 Second Street, Suite C 

Napa, California  94559 
Phone: (707) 259-8645 
www.napa.lafco.ca.gov 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8e (Consent/Information) 
 
 
 
TO:    Local Agency Formation Commission 
 
PREPARED BY: Brendon Freeman, Executive Officer 
 
MEETING DATE: February 6, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: Local Policy Manual 
 
 
BACKGROUND AND SUMMARY 
 
This is a consent item for information purposes only. Accordingly, if interested, the 
Commission is invited to pull this item for additional discussion with the concurrence of 
the Chair. No formal action will be taken as part of this item.  
 
The Commission’s ad hoc Policy Committee (Mohler and Wagenknecht) completed its 
comprehensive review and updates of local policies consistent with the Commission’s most 
recent strategic plan. The subcommittee terminated upon completion of this task. 
 
Staff compiled all local policies into a Policy Manual, included as Attachment One. Staff 
will update the Policy Manual and maintain a current version on the Commission’s website 
whenever individual policies are amended in the future.  
 
 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENT 
 
1) Policy Manual 



LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
OF NAPA COUNTY 

Policy Manual 

We Manage Local Government Boundaries, 
Evaluate Municipal Services, and Protect Agriculture 

MISSION STATEMENT 

The Local Agency Formation Commission of Napa 
County (LAFCO) is committed to serving the citizens 
and government agencies of its jurisdiction by 
encouraging the preservation of agricultural lands and 
open-space and coordinating the efficient delivery of 
municipal services. 

Available to download at: www.napa.lafco.ca.gov 

Attachment One

http://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/


TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Policy     Page 

Appointment of Counsel ....................................................... 1 
Appointment of Public Members ........................................... 2 
Budget ....................................................................................... 5 
CEQA .......................................................................................... 8 
Conducting Authority Proceedings...................................10 
Conducting Commission Meetings and Business ...........13 
Conflict of Interest Code .....................................................16 
Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities ..............21 
Establishing Officers of the Commission ...........................22 
Executive Officer Performance Review ...........................24 
Indemnification ......................................................................26 
Legislative ................................................................................27 
Municipal Service Reviews ..................................................28 
Outside Service Agreements ..............................................32 
Proposals..................................................................................39 
Records Retention and Destruction ..................................44 
Schedule of Fees and Deposits ..........................................49 
Scheduling of Commission Meetings ................................53 
Social Media Use ...................................................................54 
Spheres of Influence .............................................................58 
Telecommuting ......................................................................66 
Unincorporated Islands.........................................................68 

Attachment One



 
 

 LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA COUNTY 
 

 
 Policy on the Appointment of Counsel 

(Adopted: April 11, 2001;  Last Amended: August 1, 2022) 
 
 

I. BACKGROUND 
 
The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 requires the 
Commission to appoint legal counsel to advise it and to appoint alternate legal counsel in the 
event of a conflict of interest consistent with California Government Code §56384(b). 

 
II. PURPOSE  
 
The purpose of this policy is to guide the Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) of 
Napa County in appointing legal counsel and, when appropriate, alternate legal counsel. 

 
III. PROCEDURES  
 
The Commission shall appoint a Commission Counsel for a term specified as part of the 
appointment. Further, the policy of the Commission is: 

 
A. If the Commission determines that a conflict of interest exists for its counsel in the 

processing and review of a proposal, the Commission will appoint alternate legal counsel 
for that proposal. If the Commission determines that an applicant should bear the costs of 
alternate counsel, it shall require that the applicant put on deposit with the County Auditor 
funds sufficient to cover associated costs. 
 

B. The Commission will consider written requests that alternate legal counsel advise the 
Commission and its staff on matters pertaining to a particular proposal. This request may 
be made by any applicant, affected agency, or affected individual. Requests will be 
considered at the next regular meeting of the Commission for which the matter may be 
noticed properly. Approval of any such request is contingent upon the placement on deposit 
with the County Auditor of funds sufficient to cover associated costs. 
 

C. In all instances, appointment of alternate legal counsel is solely at the discretion of the 
Commission. 
 

D. When alternate legal counsel is used, the Commission reserves the right to make final 
approval of a proposal contingent upon payment of any outstanding legal costs in excess 
of the deposit on hand with the County Auditor. 
 

E. When alternate legal counsel is used, upon written confirmation from the Executive Officer 
that all billing matters have been resolved, the County Auditor will return any unexpended 
portion of funds on deposit. 

 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 1

Attachment One

https://law.justia.com/codes/california/2021/code-gov/title-5/division-3/part-2/chapter-3/section-56384/


LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA COUNTY 
 
Policy on the Appointment of a Public Member and Alternate Public Member 

(Adopted: October 11, 2001; Last Amended: November 18, 2019) 
 
 

 
 

I. Background 
 

The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization (CKH) Act of 2000 includes 
provisions for the composition of the Commission including the Public Member as follows: 
 
The composition of the Commission shall include one member representing the general public, 
hereinafter referred to as “public member.” The Commission may designate one alternate 
public member. The selection of the public member and alternate public member shall be 
subject to the affirmative vote of at least one of the members appointed by each of the 
appointing authorities (California Government Code (G.C.) §56325(d)). 

 
II. Purpose 
 
It is the intent of the Commission to establish a policy for the appointment of a public member 
and alternate public member which is consistent with CKH. This policy also includes 
procedures to address a vacancy in the position and other relevant matters. 
 
III. Eligibility  
 
The public member and alternate public member shall be a resident of Napa County.  No person 
may serve as public member or alternate public member if at the same time they are an officer or 
employee of the County, a city, town or district within Napa County.1  For purposes of this policy, 
an officer of a local government agency is a member of a local public board, commission, 
committee, or council with the authority to make advisory or final decisions relative to land use 
or the provision of municipal services. 
 
IV. Term of Office  
 
The term of office for Public Member and Alternate Public Member shall be four years and 
shall end on the first Monday in May of the year in which the term expires. The Public Member 
and Alternate Public Member shall continue to serve until a successor is appointed.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
1 The term “district” is defined in G.C. §56036. 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 2

Attachment One

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=3.&title=5.&part=2.&chapter=2.&article=
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=56036.


Policy on the Appointment of a Public Member and Alternate Public Member 
Page 2 of 3 

V.  Appointment Procedures  
 

A)  New Term for Public Member or Alternate Public Member 
 

It is the policy of the Commission that in anticipation of the expiration of a four-year term 
for the Public Member or Alternate Public Member, the following procedures will be taken: 
 
At a regular meeting at least 120 days prior to the scheduled expiration of the Public 
Member or Alternate Public Member’s term, the Executive Officer shall inform the 
Commission of the impending vacancy and whether the incumbent is eligible to seek 
reappointment. The Commission shall take one of the following two actions as set forth in 
the following subsection 1 or 2 below. 

 
1)   Direct the Executive Officer to recruit candidates and schedule a public hearing to 

consider making an appointment to the position. Tasks of the Executive Officer shall 
include, but not limited to, the following: 

 
(a)  At least 60 days prior to the scheduled hearing for the appointment, issue a notice 

announcing the vacancy and that the Commission is accepting applications for the 
position. The notice shall be posted at the LAFCO office and on its website, sent to 
all local agencies, and published in a newspaper of general circulation in Napa 
County.2 The notice shall indicate if the incumbent is eligible for reappointment. 
 

(b)  Determine the filing period to receive applications for the position. All applications 
shall be made available to each city and county member on the Commission at least 
14 days prior to the scheduled hearing for the appointment.  

 
(c)  If it becomes necessary for the Commission to cancel or reschedule the meeting at 

which the hearing for the appointment has been scheduled, the Executive Officer 
shall reschedule the hearing for the next regular meeting. 

 
2)  If the incumbent is eligible and has served no more than one four-year term, the 

Commission may direct the Executive Officer to schedule a public hearing to consider 
approving reappointment. Tasks of the Executive Officer shall include, but not limited 
to, the following: 

 
(a) Issue a notice announcing the scheduled reappointment of the incumbent. The 

notice shall be posted at the LAFCO office and on its website and sent to all local 
agencies. The notice shall be posted at least 21 days prior to the hearing for which 
the reappointment has been scheduled.   

 
(b)  If it becomes necessary for the Commission to cancel or reschedule the meeting at 

which the hearing for the reappointment has been scheduled, the Executive Officer 
shall reschedule the hearing for the next regular meeting. 

                                                 
2  For purposes of this policy, notice to local agencies is fulfilled by sending a copy of the notice to the clerk or secretary 

of the legislative body of each local agency in Napa County. Publishing in a newspaper of general circulation in Napa 
County shall be conducted by publishing, at minimum, a prominently placed display ad. 

 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 3

Attachment One



Policy on the Appointment of a Public Member and Alternate Public Member 
Page 3 of 3 

B)  Mid-Term Vacancies 
 

An appointment to fill an unexpired term for the position of Public Member or Alternate 
Public Member shall be preceded by posting a notice of vacancy. The notice will be posted 
at the LAFCO office and on its website and sent to all local agencies. The notice will be 
posted at least 21 days prior to the meeting at which time the Commission will consider 
taking action to fill the unexpired term. An appointment to fill an unexpired term will occur 
as follows: 

 
1) Public Member: If the position of Public Member becomes vacant prior to the 

expiration of the term, it is the policy of the Commission that it may fill the unexpired 
term through one of the following: 

 
(a)  Appoint the Alternate Public Member.  
 
(b)  Fill the position in the manner prescribed in Section V(A) “New Term for Public 

Member or Alternate Public Member” for the appointment of the Public Member 
to a new term.  

 
2)   Alternate Public Member: If the position of Alternate Public Member becomes vacant 

prior to the expiration of the term, it is the policy of the Commission that it may fill the 
unexpired term in the manner prescribed in Section V(A) “New Term for Public 
Member or Alternate Public Member” for the appointment of the Alternate Public 
Member to a new term. 

 
C)  Conducting Public Hearings for Appointing a Public Member or Alternate Public Member 

 
It is the policy of the Commission that a public hearing to appoint either the Public Member 
or Alternate Public Member shall be conducted as follows: 

 
The Chair shall open the public hearing and first invite candidates to address the 
Commission. The Commission may ask questions of the candidates. The Chair shall then 
invite public comments from the audience. Upon the close of the public comment period, 
the Public Member or Alternate Public Member will be selected based upon a motion and 
second followed by an affirmative vote. 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 4

Attachment One



 

  
   LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA COUNTY 
                           

Budget Policy 
(Adopted: August 9, 2001;  Last Amended: November 18, 2019) 

 
I. Background 

 
The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization (CKH) Act of 2000 includes 
provisions for establishing a budget and for the receipt of funds. Government Code (G.C.) §56381 
establishes that the Commission shall annually adopt a budget for the purpose of fulfilling its duties 
under CKH. 

 
II. Purpose 

 
It is the intent of the Commission to adopt a policy for budget purposes which establishes 
procedures for compiling, adopting and administering the budget. The Commission is committed 
to providing transparency of its operations including its fiscal activities. The Commission follows 
recognized accounting principles and best practices in recognition of its responsibility to the 
public. 

 
III.  Preparation of Annual Budget  

 
A) An annual budget shall be prepared, adopted and administered in accordance with (G.C.) 

§56381. 
 
B)  The Commission should annually consider the Fee Schedule, including any anticipated 

changes, and Work Program in conjunction with the budget process. 
 
C)  The Commission is committed to ensuring the agency is appropriately funded each fiscal year 

to effectively meet its prescribed regulatory and planning responsibilities. The Commission is 
also committed to controlling operating expenses to reduce the financial obligations on the 
County of Napa, the cities and town, hereafter referred to as the “funding agencies,” whenever 
possible and appropriate. 

 
D)  The budget shall include an undesignated/unreserved fund balance equal to a minimum of one-

third (i.e., four months) of annually budgeted operating expenses. 
 
E)   The Commission shall establish an ad-hoc budget committee at the last meeting of each 

calendar year comprising of two Commissioners which will terminate with the adoption of the 
final budget. Commissioners appointed to a budget committee shall receive a regular per diem 
payment for each meeting attended. 

 
F)  The adopted final budget should be posted on the Commission’s website for public viewing 

for a minimum of five years. 
 
G)  The Executive Officer shall provide quarterly budget reports to the Commission for 

informational purposes. 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 5

Attachment One

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56381.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56381.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56381.&lawCode=GOV


Budget Policy 
Page 2 of 3 

IV.  Budget Contributions and Collection of Funds 
 

G.C. §56381 establishes that the Commission shall adopt annually a budget for the purpose of 
fulfilling its duties under CKH. It further establishes that the County Auditor shall apportion 
the operating expenses from this budget in the manner prescribed by G.C. §56381(b), or in a 
manner mutually agreed upon by the agencies responsible for the funding of the Commission’s 
budget G.C. §56381(c) states that: 

 
After apportioning the costs as required in subdivision (b), the auditor shall 
request payment from the Board of Supervisors and from each city no later than 
July 1 of each year for the amount that entity owes and the actual administrative 
costs incurred by the auditor in apportioning costs and requesting payment from 
each entity. If the County or a city does not remit its required payment within 60 
days, the Commission may determine an appropriate method of collecting the 
required payment, including a request to the auditor to collect an equivalent 
amount from the property tax, or any fee or eligible revenue owed to the County 
or city. The auditor shall provide written notice to the County or city prior to 
appropriating a share of the property tax or other revenue to the Commission for 
the payment due the Commission pursuant to this section. 

 
It is the intent of the Commission that all agencies provide the costs apportioned to them from 
the LAFCO budget. Pursuant to G.C. §56381(c), the policy of the Commission is: 

 
A) If the County or a city or a town does not remit its required payment within 45 days of the 

July 1 deadline, the County Auditor shall send written notice to the agency in question that 
pursuant to G.C. §56381(c) and this policy, the Auditor has the authority to collect the 
amount of the Commission’s operating expenses apportioned to that agency after 60 days 
from the July 1 deadline. 

 
B) If the County or a city or a town does not remit its required payment within 60 days of the 

July 1 deadline, the County Auditor shall collect an amount equivalent to the cost 
apportioned to that agency from the property tax owed to that agency, or some other eligible 
revenue deemed appropriate or necessary by the County Auditor. The County Auditor shall 
send written notice of the action taken to the agency and to the Commission. 

  

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 6

Attachment One

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56381.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56381.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56381.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56381.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56381.&lawCode=GOV


Budget Policy 
Page 3 of 3 

V.  Executive Officer Purchasing and Budget Adjustment Authority 
 

Pursuant to G.C. §56380, the Commission shall make its own provision for necessary quarters, 
equipment, supplies, and services. The associated operating costs are provided for through the 
Commission’s adoption of its annual budget in the manner prescribed in G.C. §56381. 

 
It is the intent of the Commission to charge the LAFCO Executive Officer with the 
responsibility and authority for coordinating and managing the procurement of necessary 
quarters, equipment, supplies, and services, and to adjust the annual budget as necessary under 
certain circumstances. The policy of the Commission is: 

 
A) The Executive Officer is charged with the responsibility and authority for coordinating and 

managing the procurement of necessary quarters, equipment, supplies, and services in 
accordance with applicable laws, regulations and policies. 

 
B) The Executive Officer is authorized to act as the agent for LAFCO in procuring necessary 

quarters, equipment, supplies, and services. 
 
C) Only the Commission itself or the Executive Officer may commit LAFCO funds for the 

purchase of any necessary quarters, equipment, supplies, or services for LAFCO use. 
 
D) The Executive Officer is delegated purchasing authority on behalf of LAFCO for necessary 

quarters, equipment, supplies, and services not to exceed $5,000 per transaction. The 
Commission must approve any purchase of necessary quarters, equipment, supplies, and 
services that exceed the monetary limits set forth in this policy. 

 
E) Following review and approval by the Chair, the Executive Office is authorized to make 

adjustments and administrative corrections to the budget without Commission action 
provided the adjustments and corrections are within the total budget allocations adopted by 
the Commission. 

 
F) Following review and approval by the Chair, the Executive Officer is authorized to adjust 

the budget for purposes of carrying over to the new fiscal year any encumbered funds that 
have been approved by the Commission in a prior fiscal year and involve unspent balances. 
Said funds include committed contracts for services that were not completed in the prior 
fiscal year and must be re-encumbered by way of a budget adjustment in the new fiscal 
year. 

 
 
 
 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 7

Attachment One

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56380.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56381.&lawCode=GOV


LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA COUNTY 
 

 
Policy on CEQA 

(Adopted on December 4, 2006; Last Amended: October 4, 2021) 
    

I. BACKGROUND 
 
Under Public Resources Code Section 15022, each public agency shall adopt objectives, criteria, 
and specific procedures consistent with the California Environmental Quality Ace (CEQA) and 
the Guidelines for Implementation of the California Environmental Quality Act (“the 
Guidelines”) for administering its responsibilities under CEQA, including the orderly evaluation 
of projects and preparation of environmental documents. 
 
In adopting procedures to implement CEQA, a public agency may adopt the State CEQA 
Guidelines through incorporation by reference. The agency may then adopt only those specific 
procedures or provisions which are necessary to tailor the general provisions of the guidelines to 
the specific operations of the agency. A public agency may also choose to adopt a complete set 
of procedures identifying in one document all the necessary requirements. 
 
II. PURPOSE 
 
The Guidelines are the regulations that explain and interpret the law for both the public agencies 
required to administer CEQA and for the public generally. They are found in Chapter 3 of Title 
14 in the California Code of Regulations. The Guidelines provide objectives, criteria and 
procedures for the orderly evaluation of projects and the preparation of environmental impact 
reports, negative declarations, and mitigated negative declarations by public agencies. The 
fundamental purpose of the Guidelines is to make the CEQA process comprehensible to those 
who administer it, to those subject to it, and to those for whose benefit it exists. To that end, the 
Guidelines are more than mere regulations which implement CEQA as they incorporate and 
interpret both the statutory mandates of CEQA and the principles advanced by judicial decisions. 
The Governor's Office of Planning and Research prepares and develops proposed amendments 
to the Guidelines and transmits them to the Secretary for Resources. The Secretary for Resources 
is responsible for certification and adoption of the Guidelines and amendments thereto. 
 
Revision of the CEQA Guidelines is an on-going process. By statute, the Secretary of Resources 
is required to review and consider amendments to the Guidelines every two years. Annual 
changes to CEQA and evolving case law make revisions to the Guidelines necessary on a 
continual basis. 
 
III. CEQA GUIDELINES AND COMMISSION LOCAL INTEREST POLICIES 
 
It is the Commission’s policy to adopt the Guidelines approved by the State Department of 
Resources and as amended from time to time, in the preparation of all environment 
documentation. Whenever an agency other than the Commission is involved in the approval of 
a project, the Commission prefers that the other agency be designated as the “Lead Agency.” For 
annexations and/or reorganizations involving annexation to a city, the city shall act as the Lead 
Agency under CEQA for the proposal. CEQA processing shall be undertaken in accordance with 
the most recent version of CEQA, the Guidelines, and the Commission’s adopted policies. 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 8

Attachment One



Policy on CEQA 
Page 2 of 2 
 

 
 

Notably, the Commission has identified additional areas of local interest that shall be addressed 
by the Lead Agency in the preparation of any CEQA document. These include: 
 

A. Cumulative and regional impacts; 

B. Impacts to public services, including but not limited to, water supply and distribution 
systems; wastewater treatment and sewer collection systems; solid waste disposal 
capacity and collection; public school districts, fire and police protection; and public 
facilities, including discussion on the ability of the receiving entities (i.e. water district, 
sewer district, school district) to provide the services to the proposed boundary change 
area; 

C. Conversion of prime agricultural lands to urban uses and protection/preservation of 
prime agricultural lands and resources; 

D. Consistency with general and specific plans; and 
E. Availability of affordable housing. 

 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 9

Attachment One



ddf  

 LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA COUNTY 
 

                 Policy on Conducting Authority Proceedings  
               

    Adopted:   April 11, 2001 

            Amended:  December 1, 2008 

            

 

I. Background  
 

The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 directs the 

Commission to administer conducting authority proceedings for all approved changes of 

organization or reorganization unless waived.  Commission duties in administering 

conducting authority proceedings are codified in Government Code Sections 57000 et. seq.  
 

II. Objective  
 

The objective of this policy is to guide the Commission in administering conducting 

authority proceedings in an orderly and consistent manner.  This includes establishing 

procedures in (a) scheduling, (b) noticing, (c) holding, and (d) completing protest hearings. 

 

III. Procedures  
 

A. Scheduling  
 

1) The Executive Officer shall schedule a protest hearing within 35 days after the 

Commission’s approval of the change of organization or reorganization.  
 

2) The date of the protest hearing shall not be scheduled before the expiration of the 

30-day reconsideration period. 
 

B. Noticing 
 

1) The Executive Officer shall provide notice no less than 21 days and not more than 

60 days before the scheduled date of the protest hearing.   
 

2) The notice on the protest hearing shall be published, posted, and mailed to all 

affected agencies and landowners as well as interested parties.  The notice shall 

also be mailed to all affected registered voters if the territory is inhabited.  
 

3) The notice on the protest hearing shall summarize the change of organization or 

reorganization, including a statement of justification and a description of the 

affected territory’s location.  The notice shall clearly state the time, date, and 

location of the protest hearing.  
 

4)  The notice on the protest hearing shall be accompanied by a standard protest 

form as provided in Attachment One.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 10

Attachment One



Policy on Conducting Authority Proceedings  

Page 2 of 3 

 

C. Holding 

 

1) The Executive Officer shall be responsible for holding the protest hearing.  At the 

protest hearing, the Executive Officer shall take the following actions: 

 

 Summarize the Commission’s resolution approving the change of 

organization or reorganization. 
 

 Open the protest hearing to receive written or verbal protests. 
 

 Continue the protest hearing from time to time, if needed, but not to 

exceed 60 days from its original scheduled date.  
 

 Close the protest hearing. 

 

2)  At the close of the protest hearing, the Executive Officer shall work with the 

County of Napa Assessor and Registrar of Voters’ Offices, as needed, in 

validating the written protests filed and not withdrawn.  

 

D. Completing  

 

1) Within 30 days of the close of the protest hearing, the Executive Officer shall 

determine the value of the written protests filed and not withdrawn on the change 

of organization or reorganization.  
 

2) The Executive Officer shall present his or her determination regarding the value 

of the written protests filed and not withdrawn to the Commission at a public 

meeting.   The Commission shall adopt a resolution confirming the value of the 

written protests filed and not withdrawn and take one of the following actions:  

 

 If the affected territory is uninhabited: 
 

-  Terminate the change of organization or reorganization if the 

landowners representing 50% or more of the assessed value of the 

affected land have filed written protests; or  
 

-  Order the change of organization or reorganization without election if 

the landowners that have filed written protests representing less than 

50% of the assessed value of the affected land.   

 

 If the affected territory is inhabited: 
 

- Terminate the change of organization or reorganization if 50% or more 

of the registered voters residing within the affected land have filed 

written protests; or  
 

- Order the change of organization or reorganization subject to an 

election if more than 25% but less than 50% of the registered voters 

residing within the affected land have filed written protests; or  

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 11

Attachment One



Policy on Conducting Authority Proceedings  

Page 3 of 3 

 

- Order the change of organization or reorganization subject to an 

election if at least 25% of the number of landowners who also 

represent at least 25% of the assessed value of the affected land have 

filed written protests; or  
 

- Order the change of organization or reorganization without election if 

less than 25% of the registered voters have filed written protests or less 

than 25% of the number of landowners representing less than 25% of 

the assessed value of the affected land have filed written protests.  

 

 If the affected territory is inhabited and a landowner-voter district: 
 

- Terminate the change of organization or reorganization if 50% or more 

of the voting power of the eligible voters have filed written protests.  

 

3) If the Commission terminates the change of organization or reorganization, the 

Executive Officer shall prepare a Certificate of Termination of Proceedings.  

 

4) If the Commission orders a change of organization or reorganization without 

election, the Executive Officer shall prepare a Certificate of Completion. 

 

5) If the Commission orders a change of organization or reorganization subject to an 

election, the Executive Officer shall provide written notice to the Board of 

Supervisors or affected city council to conduct the election.  At the conclusion of 

the election, the Executive Officer shall take one of the following actions: 

 

 Prepare a Certificate of Completion for the change or organization or 

reorganization if approved by voters.  
 

 Prepare a Certificate of Termination of Proceedings for the change of 

organization or reorganization if disapproved by voters. 

 

 

 

 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 12

Attachment One



  LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA COUNTY 
 

Policy on Conducting Commission Meetings and Business 
(Adopted: August 9, 2001; Last Amended: February 7, 2022) 

 
 
I.   Background 
 
The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 (“CKH”), pursuant 
to California Government Code Section 56300, directs the Commission to exercise its regulatory 
and planning responsibilities consistent with its written policies and procedures.1  This includes 
establishing written rules to help ensure all meetings and related business occurs in an orderly and 
transparent manner.   
 
II.   Purpose 
 
The purpose of this policy is to provide clear and concise direction to Commissioners and staff 
with regard to conducting Commission meetings and related business involving the preparation of 
agendas, issuance of per diems, and reimbursement for member expenses.  
 
III.   Rules and Procedures in Conducting Business  
 

A.  Conducting Meetings  
 
1) The Commission acknowledges and affirms the conducting of its meetings and related 

business are subject to applicable California laws, most notably the provisions of CKH 
and the Ralph M. Brown Act (“Brown Act”).   

 
2) Three members of the Commission constitute a quorum. In the absence of a regular 

member, their alternate member (city, county, or public member as applicable) may 
serve and vote. In the absence of a quorum, the members present shall adjourn the meeting 
to a stated time and place of their choosing. If all members are absent, the Executive 
Officer or their designee may adjourn the meeting to a stated time and place. In such case, 
the Executive Officer shall cause written notice of adjournment to be given and shall post 
a notice of adjournment, consistent with the requirements of the Brown Act. 

 
3) A regular and/or special meeting of the Commission may be adjourned to any day prior 

to the date established for the next succeeding regular meeting of the Commission. 
 
4) If there is no business for the Commission's consideration five days before any regular 

scheduled meeting, the Executive Officer shall have the power to cancel the meeting by 
notifying the Chair and members there is no business before the Commission and the 
meeting has been cancelled. 

 
 

                                                 
1 Hereinafter all section references are to the California Government Code unless otherwise noted. 

 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 13

Attachment One



Policy on Conducting Commission Meetings and Business 
Page 2 of 3 
 

5) Special meetings may be called by the Chair at their discretion. Special meetings may also 
be called upon the written request of a majority of the members of the Commission 
submitted to the Chair. Notice of special meetings shall be given in accordance with the 
Ralph M. Brown Act. 

 
6) The Commission shall conduct its meetings in accordance with the rules of procedure 

set forth in the edition of “Rosenberg’s Rules of Order” that is most current at the time 
of the meeting. 

 
7) On all roll call votes, the names of the Commissioners shall be called in alphabetical 

order with the Chair voting last. 
 

8) It is the responsibility of the Executive Officer to ensure that adequate staff and related 
resources are available for all Commission meetings. 

 
9) If an applicant would like to speak to the Commission during an item, they will arrange 

the amount of time allotted in conjunction with the Executive Officer and the Chair 
prior to the meeting.  

 
B. Meeting Agendas  

 
1) It is the responsibility of the Executive Officer to prepare an agenda and all supporting 

documents for the Commission, and to distribute these materials to the Commission 
and all affected and interested parties not less than five days prior to a scheduled regular 
meeting. 

 
2) Meeting agenda items, except for consent items, shall concisely list the various items 

being considered and include a formal title along with a brief description of the 
underlying action or discussion and the Executive Officer’s recommendation, if 
applicable.  

 
3) The Executive Officer shall ensure items are agendized in an appropriate and timely 

manner relative to the Commission meeting its regulatory and planning responsibilities 
under CKH.   

 
4) Each meeting agenda shall provide an opportunity for Commissioners to identify and 

request a matter for future discussion or action with the concurrence of the majority of 
the voting membership present. The Chair shall also have discretion to direct the 
Executive Officer to agendize a matter for the next available meeting to address an 
urgent or otherwise time-sensitive issue in which applicable legal notice can be 
provided.  

 
5) It is the responsibility of the Executive Officer to see that legal notice for all agenda 

items to be considered by the Commission is given in accordance with the provisions 
of CKH and all other applicable laws.    

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 14

Attachment One



Policy on Conducting Commission Meetings and Business 
Page 3 of 3 
 

C. Commissioner Stipends  
 
1) Each Commissioner shall receive a stipend of $150.00 per day for time and attendance 

at the following meetings: 
 

a) Regular and special meetings of the Commission. 
b) Meetings of standing or ad hoc committees of the Commission. 
c) Attendance at the annual conference held by the California Association of Local 

Agency Formation Commissions (CALAFCO). 
d) Meetings of CALAFCO when a Commissioner is a member of the CALAFCO 

Board of Directors. 
e) Up to four days per year for other trainings, classes, or activities that are mandated 

or related to LAFCO business, with prior authorization from the Commission or 
Chair.  
 

2)  A Commissioner shall receive no more than five stipends per month pursuant to this 
policy. 

 
D. Commissioner Reimbursement for Expenses  

 
1) Each Commissioner may claim reimbursement for the actual amount of reasonable and 

necessary expenses incurred in performing the duties of their office, to be approved by 
the Executive Officer in accordance with Section D.2., below, and the Commission’s 
approved budget for such expenses, including: 

 
a) Attending conferences, workshops, and training programs of CALAFCO. 
b) Attending CALAFCO meetings if the member is on the Board.  
c) Attending other Commission related meetings, trainings, classes, or activities that 

are mandated or related to LAFCO business, with prior authorization from the 
Commission or Chair.  
 

2) All reimbursement of expenses for Commissioners shall be provided in accordance 
with the same rules and manner as provided for Commission staff.2  

                                                 
2  Refer to the current agreement for staff support services between the Commission and County of Napa, calling for 

reimbursement pursuant to the travel expense policy approved by the County Board of Supervisors in effect on the 
date of travel. 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 15

Attachment One



Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 16

Attachment One



Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 17

Attachment One



Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 18

Attachment One



Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 19

Attachment One



Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 20

Attachment One



 

 
 

 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA COUNTY 
 

Policy on Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities 
(Adopted:  October 1, 2018) 

 

I. BACKGROUND 

 

An essential component of the state’s Environmental Justice framework is to identify and engage 

disadvantaged and disproportionately impacted communities. The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg 

Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 (CKH) includes provisions requiring the 

Commission to identify the location and characteristics of disadvantaged unincorporated 

communities (DUCs) and take specific actions relating to DUCs pursuant to Government Code 

(G.C.) §56375, §56425, and §56430. CKH broadly defines DUCs in G.C. §56033.5 and allows 

the Commission to determine an appropriate local definition of DUCs with consideration given 

to local conditions and circumstances. 

 

II. DEFINITION  

 

The Commission defines “disadvantaged unincorporated communities” as territory that meets all 

of the following: 

 

a) Substantially developed with primarily residential uses. For purposes of this policy, 

“substantially developed” is determined by the Commission by considering the factors set 

forth in subsection (b)(4) of Government Code §56375.3. 

 

b) Does not have reliable public water, sewer, or structural fire protection service available. 

 

c) Meets the definition of “inhabited territory”, meaning at least 12 registered voters (G.C. 

§56046). 

 

d) Has a median household income level of less than 80% of the statewide median household 

income based on available data provided by the United States Census Bureau American 

Community Survey. The Commission will rely on data for census places identified by the 

Census Bureau as disadvantaged communities (less than 80% of the state’s median household 

income) and will annually review Census Bureau American Community Survey data to 

determine if local and/or statewide median household income levels have changed. 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 21

Attachment One



 LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA COUNTY 
 

 Policy on Establishing the Officers of the Commission 
(Adopted: August 9, 2001;  Last Amended: June 6, 2022) 

 
 

I. Background 
 

The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization (“CKH”) Act of 2000 includes 
provisions specifying the composition of the Commission in Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 
56325). In addition, these sections specify the procedures to select Commissioners, terms of office, 
and selection of the Chair of the Commission.  

  
II.  Purpose 

 
It is the policy of the Commission to establish policies which provide for the smooth and consistent 
operations of Commission business. The selection of officers of the Commission is a regular 
occurrence and therefore should follow adopted policy. 
 

 III. Officers of the Commission 
 

A)  The officers of LAFCO shall consist of a Chair, a Vice Chair, and a Clerk. 
 
B) The Chair and Vice Chair shall be appointed and serve terms in accordance with Section V 

“Appointment of Chair and Vice Chair.” 
 
C) The Executive Officer or the Executive Officer’s designee shall serve as the Clerk. 

 
IV. Duties of Officers 

 
A)  Duties of the Chair: The Chair shall preside at all meetings of the Commission and shall 

conduct the business of the Commission according to “Rosenberg’s Rules of Order.” The Chair 
shall preserve order and decorum and shall decide all questions of order subject to the action 
of a majority of the Commission. 

 
B) Duties of the Vice Chair: In the absence of the Chair, the Vice Chair shall assume all duties 

and responsibilities of the Chair's office. 
 
C) Duties of the Clerk: The Clerk shall call the roll, note approval of the minutes or corrections 

thereto, maintain record of testimony and action of the Commission on each item, and any 
other action deemed appropriate and necessary by the Commission to conduct its meetings and 
business. 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 22

Attachment One

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=3.&title=5.&part=2.&chapter=2.&article=
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=3.&title=5.&part=2.&chapter=2.&article=


Policy on Establishing the Officers of the Commission 
Page 2 of 2 
 

V. Appointment of Chair and Vice Chair 
 

A)  Term of Office: Beginning in 2024, the terms of office of the Chair and Vice Chair shall be for 
one year, beginning on January 1. 

 
B)  Rotation: The Chair and Vice Chair shall be appointed by the Commission according to the 

following annual rotational system, effective January 1, 2024, unless a temporary change is 
made pursuant to Section V(C): 
  

Chair Designations Vice Chair Designations 
County Member II Public Member 
Public Member City Member I 
City Member I County Member I 
County Member I City Member II 
City Member II County Member II 

 
It shall be the responsibility of the Executive Officer to maintain a record of the seat 
designations and occupants, and to annually inform the Commission prior to the rotation. 
 

C)  The Commission may create temporary changes to the rotation as part of an action item placed 
on a meeting agenda. If the Chair and Vice Chair offices are both vacant, and in the event the 
procedures set forth in Section VI “Vacancy,” below, are not feasible, the Executive Officer 
may call a meeting to order until the Chair and Vice Chair are appointed. 
 

VI. Vacancy 
 
The offices of Chair and Vice Chair shall reside with the particular appointing authority assigned 
to a designated seat. In the event that a Commissioner serving as Chair or Vice Chair is no longer 
able to serve on the Commission for any reason, the remainder of that Commissioner’s term in 
office shall be fulfilled by the other Commissioner from the same appointing authority (for 
example, if the Commissioner designated as “City Member I” is removed from the office of Chair 
in January, the Commissioner designated “City Member II” shall serve as Chair through the day 
immediately prior to the first Monday in May), subject to the following: 

 
A)  On January 1 of the following year, the established rotation set forth in Section V(B) 

“Rotation,” above, shall resume. 
 
B)  Should the office of Chair or Vice Chair be vacated by the Public Member, the Commission 

shall appoint another Commissioner at its next meeting to fulfill the remainder of the officer’s 
unexpired term.  

 
 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 23

Attachment One



 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA COUNTY 

 
Policy on Executive Officer Performance Review 
(Adopted: April 11, 2001;  Last Amended: April 5, 2021) 

 
I. Background 
 
Recognizing that the intent of the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act 
is that the Commission should function independent of any local agency, the policy of the 
Commission is that, pursuant to California Government Code §56384, it shall appoint an Executive 
Officer who serves at-the-will of the Commission.  
 
II.  Purpose 
 
The purpose of this policy is to provide clear and concise direction to the Commission regarding 
the timing and process for performance reviews of the Executive Officer.  
 
II.  Procedures 
 
The Executive Officer shall be subject to regular performance review by the Commission in closed 
session. Alternate Commissioners may not participate in a closed session performance review of 
the Executive Officer unless they are filling in for an absent regular Commissioner. With respect 
to this performance review, the policy of the Commission is: 
 

A. The first performance review of the Executive Officer shall occur approximately six 
months following the date of hire. The second performance review shall occur 
approximately twelve months following the date of hire. Thereafter performance 
reviews shall occur annually.  

 
B. The process for these performance reviews shall be: 

 
1) At least three weeks prior to the meeting at which the review is to take place, the 

Executive Officer shall send to each Commissioner, including Alternate 
Commissioners, a letter of self-evaluation. The Executive Officer or Commission 
Counsel will provide a performance review form or survey following review by 
the Commission Chair. 
 

2) At least one week prior to the review, each Commissioner and Alternate 
Commissioner is strongly encouraged to send a completed form or survey to the 
Commission Chair or the Chair’s designee who should be someone other than the 
Executive Officer. 
 

3) The Chair or Chair’s designee shall tabulate and summarize the forms or surveys 
and present this information to the Commission and the Executive Officer during 
the performance review.  

 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 24

Attachment One

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=56384#:%7E:text=56384.,day%20business%20of%20the%20commission.&text=If%20the%20commission%27s%20counsel%20is,legal%20counsel%20to%20advise%20it.


Policy on Executive Officer Performance Review 
Page 2 of 2 
 

C. At the completion of the performance review, the Commission will consider any 
appropriate action with respect to the compensation of the Executive Officer. 
 

D. The Commission or the Executive Officer may request the use of an outside facilitator 
to assist in the evaluation process. The Chair shall appoint the facilitator in consultation 
with the Executive Officer. Should the cost of the facilitator’s services exceed the 
Executive Officer delegated purchasing authority, the cost will be subject to a vote of 
the Commission at either a regular or special meeting and the facilitator may not 
commence services until budget authority has been obtained. 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 25

Attachment One



 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA COUNTY 

 
Policy on Indemnification 

(Adopted:  May 5, 2008;  Last Amended:  October 3, 2022) 
  

I. PURPOSE  
 
The purpose of this policy is to guide the Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) of 
Napa County in the indemnification process when processing applications. 

 
II. PROCEDURES  

           
As part of any application, the applicant and the real party in interest shall agree to indemnify 
the Local Agency Formation Commission of Napa County (LAFCO) in the following 
circumstances: 

 
• A change of organization or reorganization which shall include all actions listed 

under California Government Code (G.C.) §56021 
• A request for a sphere of influence amendment under G.C. §56425 
• A request for an outside service agreement under G.C. §56133, §56133.5, or 

§56133.6 
• Other applications as deemed necessary by the Executive Officer or Commission 

Counsel 
 

A real party in interest includes the landowner of the property subject to the application and/or 
registered voter.  
 
LAFCO may additionally require an applicant and/or real party in interest to execute an 
additional indemnity agreement as a condition of approval for any application.  
 
Commission Counsel shall prescribe the terms and conditions of the indemnification 
agreement that shall be part of the application or subsequent conditions of approval. 

 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 26

Attachment One

https://codes.findlaw.com/ca/government-code/gov-sect-56021.html
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=3.&title=5.&part=2.&chapter=4.&article
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=56133.
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=56133.5.
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=56133.6.


 

  
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA 

                           
Legislative Policy 

(Adopted: December 4, 2017; Last Amended: April 4, 2022) 
 
 
 

1) The Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) of Napa County (“the Commission”) 
shall establish a standing committee to review proposed legislation (“Legislative 
Committee”). At the beginning of each two-year legislative session, the Commission shall 
appoint (or re-appoint) two members to the Legislative Committee, in addition to LAFCO’s 
Executive Officer. Meetings of the Legislative Committee must be noticed in accordance 
with the Ralph M. Brown Act. 
 

2) The Legislative Committee shall, at least annually, review the California Association of 
LAFCOs’ legislative platform as well as the Commission’s adopted legislative platform if 
applicable and determine what action is needed in terms of adopting or amending a local 
legislative platform. The Legislative Committee shall present recommendations to the full 
Commission with respect to actions related to the local legislative platform. 
 

3) The Legislative Committee shall, at least annually, review proposed legislation affecting 
LAFCO. The Executive Officer shall continue monitoring proposed legislation and present 
recommendations to the full Commission with respect to formal positions on proposed 
legislation. 
 

4) In the event that proposed legislation affecting LAFCO cannot be considered by the full 
Commission due to timing, the Executive Officer is authorized to submit written 
correspondence to the appropriate entity regarding the Commission’s position if the 
position is consistent with the adopted legislative platform of the Commission. The Chair, 
or the Vice-Chair if the Chair is unavailable, shall review and approve the written 
correspondence prior to it being submitted by the Executive Officer.  
 

5) All submitted correspondence pursuant to this policy will be included on the next available 
Commission agenda. 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 27

Attachment One



 

 LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA COUNTY 
 
 

Policy on Municipal Service Reviews 
(Adopted:  November 3, 2008;   Last Amended:  June 6, 2022) 

 
        

I. BACKGROUND 
 
The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 requires the 
Commission to prepare municipal service reviews (MSRs) in conjunction with its mandate to review 
and update each city and special district’s sphere of influence every five years, as necessary. The 
legislative intent of the MSR process is to inform the Commission with regard to the availability, 
capacity, and efficiency of governmental services provided within its jurisdiction prior to making 
sphere of influence determinations. The MSR provides LAFCO with a tool to comprehensively study 
existing and future public service needs and to evaluate options for accommodating growth, 
preserving agriculture, preventing urban sprawl, and ensuring critical services are efficiently and 
cost-effectively provided.   
 
Napa County has been at the forefront of preserving agriculture. The first Agricultural Preserve in 
the United States was created in 1968 by the Napa County Board of Supervisors. The Agricultural 
Preserve protects lands in the fertile valley and foothill areas of Napa County in which agriculture is 
and should continue to be the predominant land use. Measure P was passed by voters in 2008 and 
requires voter approval for any changes that would re-designate unincorporated agricultural and 
open-space lands.  
 
II. PURPOSE  
 
The purpose of this policy is to guide the Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) of Napa 
County in scheduling, preparing, and adopting MSRs. 
 
III. OBJECTIVE 
 
The objective of the Commission in conducting MSRs is to evaluate governmental services 
necessary to support orderly growth and development in Napa County. Underlying this objective is 
the development and expansion of the Commission’s knowledge and understanding of the current 
and planned provision of local governmental services in relationship to the present and future needs 
of the community. The Commission will use MSRs not only to inform subsequent sphere of 
influence (SOI) determinations, but also to identify opportunities for greater coordination and 
cooperation between service providers as well as possible government structure changes.  
 
The MSR process requires LAFCO to make determinations regarding the provision of public 
services pursuant to Government Code (G.C.) §56430 and empowers, but does not require, the 
Commission to initiate changes of organization based on MSR conclusions. However, the 
Commission, affected local agencies, and the public may subsequently use the determinations and 
related analysis to consider whether to pursue changes to service delivery, government organization, 
or SOIs. 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 28

Attachment One

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=56430.


Policy on Municipal Service Reviews 
Page 2 of 4 

IV. SCHEDULING 
 
The Commission will adopt an annual Work Program during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year 
in conjunction with the budget process, which shall include a schedule for initiating and completing 
MSRs consistent with the Commission’s obligation to review and update each city and special 
district’s SOI, as necessary, and consistent with the Commission’s adopted Policy on SOIs. MSRs 
shall be completed for each city and each special district as defined in G.C. §56036. When feasible, 
the Commission shall schedule MSRs in conjunction with general plan updates.  
 
The Executive Officer may revise the adopted Work Program to add, modify, or eliminate scheduled 
MSRs to address changes in circumstances, priorities, and available resources. Revisions to the 
Work Program shall be presented at the next Commission meeting for information purposes. 
 
At the discretion of the Executive Officer and in consultation with the Commission, each MSR will 
generally be prepared in four distinct phases: 
 

A. The first phase will involve the distribution of a request for information to be completed 
by the affected local agency and returned to LAFCO staff for review and analysis. Staff 
will compile this information in an administrative draft report, which will be made 
available to staff from each affected local agency for review and comment to identify any 
needed technical corrections. 

 
B. The second phase will be the release of a public draft report that includes technical 

corrections identified by the affected local agencies. Staff will present the public draft 
report for discussion purposes only at the next Commission meeting. The public draft 
report will be provided to the Commission and affected local agencies, and will be made 
available to the public for review and comment for a period of no less than 30 days.  

 
C. In the third phase, a final report that includes any new information or comments generated 

during the public review period will be presented to the Commission for formal action at a 
noticed public hearing. 

 
D. In the fourth phase, every effort should be made to disseminate the MSR beyond the 

affected agencies. Stakeholders and the general public should be made aware and have 
access to the information and recommendations included in the MSR.  

 
V. PREPARATION 

 
A.  Format 

 
The Commission may prepare MSRs using any of the following formats: 

 
1) A countywide service-specific MSR will examine a governmental service or 

services across multiple local agencies on a countywide basis.  
 
2) A region-specific MSR will examine governmental services provided by all local 

agencies that are entirely contained within a designated geographic area. 
 
3) An agency-specific MSR will examine targeted governmental services provided 

by a specific local agency as described in Section V(C)(3) of this policy.  

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 29

Attachment One

https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/uploads/documents/Policy_SOIs_6-7-21.pdf
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=56036.


Policy on Municipal Service Reviews 
Page 3 of 4 

B. Local Agency Participation 
 
The Commission will encourage input from affected local agencies in designing MSRs to 
enhance the value of the process among stakeholders and capture unique local conditions and 
circumstances effecting service provision. This includes identifying appropriate performance 
measures as well as regional growth and service issues transcending political boundaries. The 
Commission will also seek input from the affected local agencies in determining final 
geographic area boundaries for region-specific MSRs. Factors the Commission may consider 
in determining final geographic area boundaries include, but are not limited to, SOIs, 
jurisdictional boundaries, urban growth boundaries, general plan designations, topography, 
and socio-economic communities of interest. 

 
C. Content 

 
MSRs shall include: 

 
1) Written determinations for each of the following factors enumerated under G.C. 

§56430(a): 
 

a) Growth and population projections for the affected area. 
b) The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated 

communities within or contiguous to the sphere of influence. 
c) Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and 

infrastructure needs or deficiencies including needs or deficiencies related to 
sewers, municipal and industrial water, and structural fire protection in any 
disadvantaged, unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the sphere 
of influence. 

d) Financial ability of agencies to provide services. 
e) Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities. 
f) Accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure 

and operational efficiencies. 
g) Any other matter related to effective or efficient service delivery, as required by 

commission policy. 
 

2) An evaluation of the following matters related to effective or efficient service 
delivery pursuant to G.C. §56430(a)(7) if the Executive Officer, in consultation with 
the agencies being reviewed, determines the matter is relevant: 

 
a) Agricultural Preserve and Measure P  
b) Location and characteristics of existing outside service agreements  
c) Joint powers agreements involving the direct provision of public services 
d) Growth goals and policies of the land use authorities in Napa County 
e) Climate change 
f) Housing, including affordable housing and workforce housing 
g) Transportation 
h) Cumulative service impacts related to current and planned development 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 30

Attachment One

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=56430.
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=56430.
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=56430.


Policy on Municipal Service Reviews 
Page 4 of 4 

3) An evaluation of target governmental services, which may include, but are not limited 
to, water, wastewater, law enforcement, fire protection, emergency medical, streets, 
and parks. General governmental services such as courts, social services, human 
resources, tax collection, and administrative services will generally not be included in 
the MSR. LAFCO reserves the right to consider additional service classifications in 
each MSR. 

 
VI. SPHERE OF INFLUENCE 

 
A completed MSR will be used to inform the review and, if appropriate, update of each affected 
agency’s SOI consistent with G.C. §56430(a) as well as the Commission’s adopted Work Program 
and Policy on SOIs. The Commission and any affected local agencies are encouraged to discuss the 
need for SOI updates. The Commission may complete the MSR and any appropriate SOI actions at 
the same meeting or as part of separate meetings. 

 
VII. ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 

 
MSRs are informational documents and generally exempt from environmental review under the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to California Code of Regulations §15306 
because they are limited to basic data collection, research, and resource evaluation activities that do 
not result in a serious or major disturbance to any environmental resource. However, if an MSR is 
used to facilitate a significant governmental change such as formation of a new special district, it 
can be assumed the MSR would be subject to CEQA and may require the preparation of an 
environmental impact report. The Commission shall act in accordance with its adopted Policy on 
CEQA. 
 
VIII. ADOPTION 
 
The Commission will complete each scheduled MSR by formally receiving a final report and 
adopting a resolution codifying its written determinations as part of a public hearing. Each completed 
MSR will be provided to any affected local agencies and included on the Commission’s website for 
public viewing.  

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 31

Attachment One

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=56430.
https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/uploads/documents/Policy_SOIs_6-7-21.pdf
https://govt.westlaw.com/calregs/Document/IE24447E0D48811DEBC02831C6D6C108E?viewType=FullText&originationContext=documenttoc&transitionType=CategoryPageItem&contextData=(sc.Default)&bhcp=1
https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/uploads/documents/Policy_CEQA_10-4-21.pdf
https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/uploads/documents/Policy_CEQA_10-4-21.pdf


LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA COUNTY 
 

 

   Policy on Outside Service Agreements 
                (Adopted: November 3, 2008;  Last Amended: February 5, 2018) 

    
         

I. BACKGROUND 

 

The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 includes 

provisions requiring cities, towns, and special districts to request and receive written 

approval from the Commission before providing new or extended services by agreements 

outside their jurisdictional boundaries with limited exemptions pursuant to Government 

Code (G.C.) Sections 56133, 56133.5, and 56134.  
 

The Commission may authorize a city, town, or special district to provide new or 

extended service outside its jurisdictional boundary, but within its sphere of influence, in 

anticipation of a subsequent change of organization, such as an annexation. The 

Commission may also authorize a city, town, or special district to provide new or 

extended service outside its jurisdictional boundary and sphere of influence (a) to address 

an existing or impending threat to public health or safety or (b) if the Commission makes 

the determinations set forth in Section V(A)(4) of this policy at a noticed public hearing. 

 

II. PURPOSE  

 

The purpose of these policies is to guide the Commission in reviewing city, town, and 

special district requests to provide new or extended services by agreement outside their 

jurisdictional boundaries. This includes making policy statements and establishing 

consistent procedures with respect to the form, review, and consideration of requests. 

 

III. OBJECTIVE  

 

The objective of the Commission in implementing these policies is to ensure the 

extension of services by cities, towns, and special districts outside their jurisdictional 

boundaries is logical and consistent with supporting orderly growth and development in 

Napa County, and to prevent the circumvention of the LAFCO process by providing 

services by contract instead of through the annexation of territory. The Commission 

recognizes the importance of considering local conditions and circumstances in 

implementing these policies. 
 

From LAFCO’s perspective, an Outside Service Agreement can: 
 

1) Protect the public from threats to health and safety. 
 

2) Impose restrictions that limit development to existing intensities. 
 

3) Permit a city or town to plan for future development in an orderly manner through 

the use of traditional zoning or specific plans. 
 

4) Discourage premature development of fringe properties. 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 32

Attachment One



Policy on Outside Service Agreements  

Page 2 of 4 
 

IV. DEFINITIONS 

 

The Commission shall incorporate the following definitions in administering this policy: 

 

A. “Services” shall mean any municipal service provided by a city, town, or 

special district unless otherwise exempted under G.C. Section 56133. 
 

B. “New” shall mean the extension of a service to previously unserved non-

jurisdictional land. 
 

C. “Extended” shall mean the intensification of existing services.  
 

D. “Outside Service Agreement” shall mean an agreement contemplated by 

G.C. Sections 56133, 56133.5, or 56134. 

 

V. LOCAL CONSIDERATIONS 

 

A. Consideration of New or Extended Services Outside a Jurisdictional 

Boundary and Outside the Sphere of Influence (G.C. Sections 

56133(c) or 56133.5) 

 

When considering any proposed Outside Service Agreement pursuant to 

G.C. Section 56133(c) or the Pilot Program under G.C. Section 56133.5, 

the Commission will consider the following, which will be addressed in the 

Executive Officer’s written report: 
 

1) The ability of the applicant to extend the subject service to the affected 

territory. 
 

2) The application’s consistency with the policies and general plans of all 

affected local agencies.  
 

3) The application’s effect on growth and development within and adjacent 

to the affected territory. 
 

4) The documentation presented pursuant to G.C. Section 56133(c)(1), 

which must provide substantial evidence to support a finding by the 

Commission of an impending threat to the health or safety of the public 

or the residents of the affected territory. 
 

5) The application’s potential impacts on prime agricultural or open space 

lands. 
 

6) The application’s consistency with the Commission’s adopted 

municipal service review determinations and recommendations. 
 

7) The application’s potential impacts with respect to supporting 

affordable or farmworker housing. 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 33

Attachment One



Policy on Outside Service Agreements  

Page 3 of 4 
 

B. Consideration of New or Extended Services Outside the Jurisdictional 

Boundary but within the Sphere of Influence in Anticipation of a Later 

Change of Organization (G.C. Section 56133(b)) 

 

Annexations to cities, towns, and special districts involving territory located 

within the affected agency’s sphere of influence are preferred to Outside 

Service Agreements. The Commission recognizes, however, that there may 

be instances when Outside Service Agreements involving territory within 

the affected agency’s sphere of influence are appropriate given unique local 

circumstances.  

 

When submitting an application under G.C. Section 56133(b), the city, 

town, or district must state with specificity the nature and timing of the 

anticipated later change of organization for the area affected by the potential 

Outside Service Agreement.  

 

C. Environmental Review  

 

The review of a proposed Outside Service Agreement will be subject to the 

review procedures defined in the California Environmental Quality Act 

(CEQA) and the Napa LAFCO CEQA Guidelines. Napa LAFCO will act 

as the Lead Agency under CEQA for its environmental review of any 

Outside Service Agreement request.  

 

If an environmental assessment/analysis was prepared for the project 

associated with the service extension request (i.e. the County or agency’s 

environmental analysis for a project) and LAFCO was afforded the 

opportunity to evaluate and comment during the Lead Agency’s 

environmental review process, then LAFCO can act as a Responsible 

Agency under CEQA for its environmental review of an Outside Service 

Agreement.  

 

A complete set of the adopted environmental documents prepared for the 

project, a copy of the filed Notice of Determination/Notice of Exemption, 

and a copy of the Department of Fish and Wildlife fee receipt must be 

submitted as part of the application. Completion of the CEQA review 

process will be required prior to action by the Executive Officer or the 

Commission. 

 

 VI. FORM OF REQUEST  

 

The Commission encourages cities, towns, and special districts to coordinate with 

the Executive Officer prior to filing a request under G.C. Sections 56133 or 56134 

in order to determine if the Pilot Program under G.C. Section 56133.5 or the 

exemptions under G.C. Section 56133(e) may apply. 

 

 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 34

Attachment One



Policy on Outside Service Agreements  

Page 4 of 4 
 

Requests to authorize an Outside Service Agreement shall be filed with the 

Executive Officer by the affected city, town, or special district. Requests shall be 

made by resolution of application with a cover letter accompanying a completed 

application using the form provided in Attachment A. Requests shall identify any 

assurances that the Outside Service Agreement would not induce growth or result 

in the premature conversion of agricultural or open space lands to an urban use. 
 

Requests shall include a check in the amount prescribed under the Commission’s 

adopted fee schedule along with a copy of the proposed Outside Service 

Agreement. The application shall be signed by an authorized representative of the 

city, town, or special district. 
 

VII. REVIEW OF REQUEST  
 

The Executive Officer shall review and determine within 30 days of receipt whether 

the request to authorize an Outside Service Agreement is complete. If a request is 

deemed incomplete, the Executive Officer shall immediately notify the applicant 

and identify the information needed to accept the request for filing.   
 

VIII. CONSIDERATION OF REQUEST  
 

Once a request is deemed complete, the Executive Officer will prepare a written 

report with a recommendation.  
 

In the case of a request involving an existing or impending public health or safety 

emergency, the Executive Officer will consult with the Chair regarding the request. 

If the Chair agrees that the request should be granted, then the Executive Officer 

may approve the request. The Commission shall ratify the approval at the next 

scheduled meeting. If the Chair does not agree, then the request will be presented 

at the Commission’s next meeting. 
 

For requests not involving an existing or impending public health or safety threat, 

the Executive Officer will present his or her report and recommendation at a public 

hearing for Commission consideration. The public hearing will be scheduled for 

the next meeting of the Commission for which adequate notice can be given but no 

later than 90 days from the date the request is deemed complete.  
 

The Commission may approve, approve with conditions, or deny the request for an 

Outside Service Agreement. The Commission’s determination and any required 

findings will be set out in a resolution that specifies the property or area to be 

served, the services to be provided, and the authority of the agency to provide its 

services outside its boundaries.  
 

If the request is approved, the Commission’s approval shall expire within one year 

from approval unless a contract has been executed and the construction of any 

needed infrastructure improvements has commenced. A one-time extension may be 

requested by the applicant for a period of time that is necessary to complete the 

Commission’s conditions. Time extension requests shall include a check in the 

amount prescribed under the Commission’s adopted fee schedule.  

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 35

Attachment One



ddf 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA COUNTY 

           APPLICATION  
           OUTSIDE SERVICE AGREEMENT 

A. Applicant Information

1) Agency Name: ______________________________________________ 

2) Contact Person and Title:  ______________________________________________

3) Contact Information: __________________   ___________________________ 
Telephone     E-Mail  

4) Mailing Address: __________________ ___________________________ 
Address    City, State, Zip Code 

B. Type of Outside Service Agreement

1) New □ Extended □ 
2) Water □ Sewer □ Other: ______________________________________

C. Location of Territory to be Served
(attach additional sheets if necessary)

1) Assessor Parcel Number: _______________________________________________

Size:__________   Current Use:_____________________ 

2) Assessor Parcel Number: ______________________________________________

Size:__________   Current Use:_____________________ 

3) Assessor Parcel Number: _______________________________________________

Size:__________   Current Use:_____________________ 

Attachment A

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 36

Attachment One



Application for Outside Service Agreement 
Page 2 of 3 
 
 
D.   Service Information  
 
1) 

 
Describe how the agency would provide the proposed new or extended service to the 
subject territory.  Please identify any necessary infrastructure or facility improvements 
and associated funding requirements necessary to provide service to the subject territory. 

  
_______________________________________________________________________ 

  
_______________________________________________________________________ 

  
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 
2) 

 
If the proposed new or extended service involves water or sewer, identify the anticipated 
demand in terms of use (i.e., gallons) associated with serving the subject territory.  

  
_______________________________________________________________________ 

  
_______________________________________________________________________ 

  
_______________________________________________________________________ 

  
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 
3) 

 
Does the agency have sufficient capacities to provide the proposed new or extended 
service to the subject territory without adversely effecting existing service levels?   

  
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 
4) 

 
What services, if any, are currently provided to the subject territory? 

 
 

 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

Attachment A

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 37

Attachment One



Application for Outside Service Agreement 
Page 3 of 3 
 
E.   Additional Information  
 
1) 

 
Identify the subject territory’s land use designation and zoning standard along with the 
minimum parcel density requirements. 

  
_______________________________________________________________________ 

  
_______________________________________________________________________ 

  
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 
2) 

 
Are there any proposed or approved, but not yet built, development projects involving 
the subject territory?   

 
Yes    □   No  □ 

 
 

 
If yes, describe the proposed projects or the approved permits/land use entitlements. 

  
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

  
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 
3) 

 
The Commission’s action regarding this request by the agency to provide new or 
extended services outside its jurisdictional boundary is subject to the requirements of the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).  Has the agency conducted any CEQA 
reviews for any projects associated with this application?  

 
Yes    □   No  □ 

 
 

 
If yes, please provide copies of the environmental documentation, including the Notice 
of Exemption or Notice of Determination as well as proof of payment of applicable 
California Department of Fish & Game fees. 

 
4) 

 
Is the subject territory located within the agency’s sphere of influence? 

 
 Yes    □   No  □ 
 
 

 
If no, please identify whether there is an existing or impending threat to public health 
and safety or to the residents in support of the application. 

  
_______________________________________________________________________ 

  
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 

Attachment A

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 38

Attachment One



 

 LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA COUNTY 
 

 
 Policy on Proposals 

        (Adopted: August 9, 1972;  Last Amended: December 5, 2022) 
 
I. Background  
 
The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 (CKH) 
specifies the Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) of Napa County’s principal 
objectives are discouraging urban sprawl, preserving open space and agricultural resources, 
and encouraging the orderly formation and development of cities, towns, and special districts 
and their municipal services based on local conditions.1 Regulatory duties include approving 
or disapproving proposals involving the formation, reorganization, expansion, and 
dissolution of cities, towns, and special districts. The Commission’s regulatory actions must 
be consistent with its adopted written policies and procedures. The Commission must also 
inform its regulatory duties through a series of planning activities, which includes 
establishing and updating spheres of influence (SOIs).2 
 
II.  Purpose  

 
The purpose of this policy is to guide the Commission in considering proposals for changes 
of organization as defined under California Government Code (G.C.) §56021 and 
reorganizations as defined under G.C. §56073.  
 
III.  Objective 
 
It is the objective of the Commission to acknowledge and incorporate the policies of the 
Legislature regarding the promotion of orderly, well-planned development patterns that 
avoid the premature conversion of agricultural and open space lands and ensure effective, 
efficient, and economic provision of essential public services. The Commission reserves 
discretion in administering these policies to address special conditions and circumstances as 
needed. 

 
IV.  Commission Declarations 

 
The Commission declares its intent not to permit the premature conversion of agricultural or 
open space lands to urban uses. The Commission shall adhere to the following policies in the 
pursuit of this intent, and all proposals shall be reviewed with these policies as guidelines. 

 
A) Use of Municipal Service Reviews: 
 In evaluating a proposal, the Commission will use information contained within 

the most recently completed Municipal Service Review (MSR) for any affected 
agencies. The Commission retains discretion to determine if the most recent 
MSR is adequate for making decisions related to proposals.  

 
                                                 
1 CKH is codified under G.C. §56000 et seq. 
2 The Commission’s Policy on Spheres of Influence is available online at: https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov.  

 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 39

Attachment One

https://codes.findlaw.com/ca/government-code/gov-sect-56021.html
https://codes.findlaw.com/ca/government-code/gov-sect-56073.html
https://codes.findlaw.com/ca/government-code/gov-sect-56000.html
https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/


Policy on Proposals 
Page 2 of 5 

 
B) Use of County General Plan Designations: 

In evaluating a proposal, the Commission will give great weight to the Napa 
County General Plan to determine designated agricultural and open space lands. 
The Commission recognizes that inconsistencies may occur between the County 
General Plan and city or town general plans with respect to agricultural and open 
space designations. Notwithstanding these potential inconsistencies, the 
Commission will give great weight to the County General Plan in recognition of 
the public support expressed in both the incorporated and unincorporated areas of 
Napa County for the County's designated agricultural and open space lands 
through enactment of Measure P in 2008.3  
 

C) Recognition of the Napa County Agricultural Preserve: 
The first Agricultural Preserve in the United States was created in 1968 by the 
Napa County Board of Supervisors. The Agricultural Preserve protects lands in 
the fertile valley and foothill areas of Napa County in which agriculture is, and 
should continue to be, the predominant land use. The Commission will consider 
the Agricultural Preserve in the processing of proposals. 
 

D) Location of Urban Development:  
The Commission will give great weight to urban growth boundaries and  guide 
urban development away from agricultural or open space lands until such times 
as urban development becomes an overriding consideration as determined by 
the Commission. The Commission encourages urban development be located 
within areas designated for urban use in the County General Plan and in close 
proximity to a city, town, or special district that can provide any needed public 
services. Urban development should be discouraged if it is apparent that any 
needed public services necessary for the proposed development cannot readily be 
provided by a city, town, or special district. 
 

E) Timing of Urban Development: 
The Commission discourages proposals involving the premature annexation of 
undeveloped or underdeveloped lands to cities, towns, and special districts that 
provide potable water, sewer, fire protection and emergency response, or police 
protection services. This policy does not apply to proposals in which the affected 
lands are subject to a specific development plan or agreement under consideration 
by a land use authority. This policy does not apply to city or town annexation 
proposals in which the affected lands are part of an unincorporated island.4 
 

F) Encouragement of Reorganizations: 
The Commission encourages reorganization proposals when appropriate and 
feasible to facilitate boundary changes involving two or more local governmental 
agencies. The Commission recognizes the efficiency of reorganizations to 
simplify and expedite logical and orderly concurrent boundary changes. 

                                                 
3  Measure P is an extension of Measure J, which was enacted in 1990 and requires voter approval for any changes 

that would re-designate unincorporated agricultural and open space lands. 
4 The Commission’s Policy on Unincorporated Islands is available online at: https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov. 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 40

Attachment One

https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/


Policy on Proposals 
Page 3 of 5 

 
G) Factors for Evaluating Proposals Involving Agricultural or Open Space Lands: 

The Commission recognizes there are distinct and varying attributes and 
classifications associated with agricultural and open space designated lands. A 
proposal which includes agricultural or open space land shall be evaluated 
considering the following factors: 

  
(1) “Agricultural land”, as defined by G.C. §56016. 

 
(2) "Prime agricultural land", as defined by G.C. §56064. 
 
(3) "Open space", as defined by G.C. §56059. 
 
(4) Land that is under contract to remain in agricultural or open space use, such 

as a Williamson Act Contract or Open Space Easement. 
 

(5) Land with a County General Plan agricultural or open space designation 
(Agricultural Resource or Agriculture, Watershed and Open Space). 

 
(6) The adopted general plan policies of the County and any affected city or 

town. 
 

H)  Activating Latent Services and Deactivating Existing Services: 
Commission approval is required for a special district to establish new services 
(i.e., activate latent service powers that were not previously authorized) or 
divestiture of existing services (i.e., deactivate service powers that were 
previously authorized) within all or parts of its jurisdictional boundary. 
Requests by a special district shall be made by adoption of a resolution of 
application and include all the information required and referenced under G.C. 
§56824.12.  

 
V. Policies Concerning Annexations 
 

A)  General Policies Concerning All Annexations:  
 

 (1)  Inclusion in SOI:   
The affected territory shall be included, or the applicant has concurrently 
requested the affected territory be included, within the affected agency’s SOI 
prior to issuance of the Executive Officer's certificate of filing for the subject 
annexation proposal. The Executive Officer may agendize both an SOI 
amendment and annexation application for Commission consideration and 
action at the same meeting.  

 
(2)  Property Tax Exchange Agreement: 

A property tax exchange agreement between all affected agencies should be 
in place prior to submittal of an annexation proposal. 

 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 41

Attachment One

https://codes.findlaw.com/ca/government-code/gov-sect-56016.html
https://codes.findlaw.com/ca/government-code/gov-sect-56064.html
https://codes.findlaw.com/ca/government-code/gov-sect-56059/
https://codes.findlaw.com/ca/government-code/gov-sect-56824-12.html
https://codes.findlaw.com/ca/government-code/gov-sect-56824-12.html


Policy on Proposals 
Page 4 of 5 

 
(3) Inclusion of Public Rights-of-Way: 

When a proposal for annexation involves territory located adjacent to a public 
right-of-way, the proposal should also include the adjacent portion of right-of-
way to facilitate logical and orderly boundaries for any affected agencies.  
 

(4) Boundary Modifications: 
The Commission encourages modifications to proposed annexation 
boundaries when appropriate and feasible in order to facilitate logical and 
orderly boundaries for any affected local agencies. During the preliminary 
consultation phase, staff will encourage applicants to contact landowners of 
nearby properties to solicit interest in joining the annexation. 
 

B)     Policies Concerning Annexations to a City or Town: 
 

(1) General Plan Designation and Prezoning: 
The territory proposed for annexation shall be included in the city or town 
general plan and prezoned prior to submittal of an annexation proposal.  
 

(2) Urban Growth Boundaries: 
To the extent that a city or town maintains an urban growth boundary, the 
affected territory proposed for annexation should be included in the urban 
growth boundary prior to submittal of an annexation proposal. This does 
not apply to proposals consistent with G.C. §56742.  
 

(3) Proposals Within Unincorporated Islands: 
When a proposal for annexation involves territory within an 
unincorporated island, staff will encourage the affected city or town to 
apply for the annexation of the entire island. 
 

C)  Policies Concerning Annexation of Municipally-Owned Land: 
 

(1) Land Owned and Used by a City or Town Located Outside Their SOI: 
Land that is owned by a city or town, used by the city or town for a 
municipal purpose, and located outside their SOI may be annexed 
pursuant to G.C. §56742.  
 

(2) Restricted Use Lands Owned by Public Agencies:   
The Commission discourages annexation of municipally-owned land 
designated agricultural or open space in the County General Plan or 
subject to a Williamson Act contract unless the land will be used for a 
municipal purpose and no suitable alternative site reasonably exists within 
the affected agency’s SOI. 

 
(3) Municipal Purpose Defined:   

Municipal purpose means a public service facility, but does not include 
agricultural or open space land. 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 42

Attachment One

https://codes.findlaw.com/ca/government-code/gov-sect-56742.html
https://codes.findlaw.com/ca/government-code/gov-sect-56742.html


Policy on Proposals 
Page 5 of 5 

 
D) Concurrent Annexation Policies: 

 
The Commission encourages concurrent annexations to cities, towns, and special 
districts whenever appropriate and feasible. 
 

(1)  City of Napa and Napa Sanitation District (NSD): 
 

a) Annexations to NSD:   
All annexation proposals to NSD involving territory located outside of 
the City should include annexation to the City if the affected territory is 
located within the City’s SOI, is located within the City’s Rural Urban 
Limit, and annexation is legally possible. 

 
b)   Annexations to the City: 

All annexation proposals to the City involving territory located outside 
of NSD should annex to NSD if the affected territory is located within 
NSD’s SOI and if service is available. 

 
(2)  City of American Canyon and American Canyon Fire Protection District 

(ACFPD): 
 

a) Annexations to ACFPD:   
All annexation proposals to ACFPD involving territory located outside 
of the City should annex to the City if the affected territory is located 
within the City’s SOI, is located within the City’s Urban Limit Line, and 
annexation is legally possible. 

 
b) Annexations to the City:   

All annexation proposals to the City involving territory located outside 
of ACFPD should annex to ACFPD if the affected territory is located 
within ACFPD’s SOI and if service is available. 

 
(3)    County Service Area (CSA) No. 4: 

 
a) Annexations to Cities or Towns: 

All annexations to a city or town should include concurrent 
detachment from CSA No. 4 unless the affected territory has been, or 
is expected to be, developed to include planted vineyards totaling one 
acre or more. 

 
VI. Policies Concerning City or Town Incorporations 

 
A) The Commission discourages proposals to incorporate communities unless 

substantial evidence suggests the County and any affected special districts are 
not effectively meeting the needs of the community.   

 
B) The Commission discourages proposals to incorporate communities involving 

land that is not already receiving essential public services from special districts. 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 43

Attachment One



 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION NAPA COUNTY 
 

Policy on Records Retention and Destruction 
(Adopted: August 1, 2011;  Last Amended: August 2, 2021) 

 
 
I. Background  
 
The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000, pursuant to 
California Government Code (G.C.)§56382, directs the Commission to make arrangements 
for the retention and safekeeping of records relating to activities and actions tied to 
administering its regulatory and planning responsibilities. This includes preserving and 
protecting records for future public reference relating to the formation, expansion, and 
reorganization of cities and special districts and their municipal services.   
 
Many other laws and standards apply to the management, retention, and destruction of 
Commissions records, including G.C. §58000 et seq. related to destruction of public agency 
records. 
 
II.  Purpose 

 
The intent of this policy is to provide guidance to Commission staff regarding the 
management, retention, and, when authorized by the Executive Officer upon compliance 
with this Policy, destruction of agency records. Effective implementation of the policy will 
help to ensure accountable and accurate handling of agency records in a manner that 
provides for prompt retrieval while reducing storage requirements for inactive and outdated 
documents.  
 
Benefits include: 
 

• Reduce administrative expenses, expedite procedures 
• Free filing cabinet and office space 
• Reduce the cost of records storage 
• Eliminate duplication of effort  
• Find records faster 
• Protection of records 

 
III.  Definitions 

 
A) Computer Drives:  Computer drives, including network drives, USB drives, etc.; 

other than the Laserfiche repository.   
 

B) Drafts:  Those records that are not retained for the purpose of preserving the 
informational content for future reference.1 

 

C) Electronic Document Management System (EDMS): the Commission has 
purchased Laserfiche software as one of multiple systems for the purpose of 
preserving selected final versions of Official Records in a manner that complies with 
the Trustworthy Electronic Records laws. 

                                                
1 64 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 317 (1981) 

 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 44

Attachment One

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56382.&lawCode=GOV


Policy on Records Retention and Destruction 
Page 2 of 2 

 

D) Non-Record:  Published books and pamphlets printed by outside agencies. 
 
E) Official Records:  Final versions of records which are made or retained for the 

purpose of preserving the informational content for future reference or documents 
defined in the agency’s business practices.2, 3  

 
F) Records:  Any writing containing information relating to the conduct of the 

Commission’s business that is prepared, owned, used, or retained, regardless of 
physical form or characteristics.4 

 
G) Trustworthy Electronic Records: Electronic records that can serve as the Official 

Records.5  
 

IV.   General Guidelines  
 
A) The Commission’s Executive Officer shall be responsible for administering this 

policy to ensure the effective management, retention, and, as appropriate, destruction 
of records consistent with this policy and the attached Records Retention Schedule 
(Attachment A).  

 
B) The following general guidelines apply to all Commission records: 
 

(1) Copies, drafts, notes, or non-records may be destroyed at any time without 
authorizations being obtained. This includes copies, drafts, notes, and non-
records stored on computer drives. 
 

(2) Destruction of Official Records that have exceeded their retention period (as 
provided for in the Records Retention Schedule (Attachment A)) shall be 
authorized according to policies and procedures prior to destroying them, using 
the “Authorization to Destroy Records” form (Attachment B), and obtaining all 
authorizations prior to the official record being destroyed. 

 
(3) Holds on Destruction:  Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act 

requests, audits, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods, and 
records shall not be destroyed unless authorized by the Commission’s attorney. 
 

(4) Repository for Trustworthy Electronic Records:  If an electronic record is 
to serve as the Commission’s Official Record, it may be placed in the Laserfiche 
repository or the Commission’s shared drive or the County of Napa’s 
trustworthy record, and various legal requirements complied with. The record  
shall include all referenced attachments. All official records shall comply with 
Basic Legal Requirements.6  

                                                
2 64 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 317 (1981) 
3 2 CCR §22620.1 et seq. 
4 Government Code §6252 through §6257 
5 Government Code §56382, §12168.7, EVC §1550, 2 CCR §22620.1 et seq. 
6 Government Code §56382, §12168.7, EVC §1550, 2 CCR §22620.1 et seq. 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 45

Attachment One



ATTACHMENT A 
 

 LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION NAPA COUNTY 
 

  Policy on Records Retention and Destruction  (Last Amended: August 2, 2021) 
 

Records Retention Schedule 

 
Record Type 

 
Record Description (Non-Exclusive) 

Retention:  
Original Record 

Administrative   
 Accounts Payable invoices for purchase orders, reimbursements, services received audited + 4 years 
 Accounts Receivable invoices for applications, miscellaneous fees, services provided audited + 4 years 
 Administrative Policies & Procedures adopted guidelines, standards, requirements 1 superseded + 4 years 
 Audits independent analyses of year-end financial statements Permanent 
 Budgets annual revenue and expense ledgers, adjustments, transfers Permanent 
 Consultant Contracts information services provided by contracted third parties completion + 7 years 
 General Correspondence communication with public and local agencies, including e-mails 5 years 
 Oath of Office commissioners’ oaths of office taken at commencement of term Permanent 
 Payroll employee timesheets, leave balances, labor distribution reports 2 audited + 7 years 
 Personnel Files employee applications, performance reviews, leave forms 3 separation + 6 years 
 Personnel Files – Medical Files pre-employment physical clearances, etc. separation + 30 years 
 Public Member Recruitment notice of vacancy, applications, appointments current + 10 years 
 Public Records Requests written requests to inspect or copy agency documents current + 2 years 
 Requests for Proposals written solicitation for consultant services 4 current + 5 years 
 Statements of Economic Interest FPPC Form 700 - disclosure of income/gifts 5 current + 7 years 
 Vendor Agreements and Leases third party equipment/facility services completion + 5 years 
Meetings   
 Affidavits affirmations relating to postings and publications 2 years 
 Agendas & Agenda Packets staff reports and related documents for calendared meeting items Permanent 
 Audio/Video Recordings auditory and visual recordings of regular and special meetings 2 years 
 Elections – Administration correspondence, schedules, etc. 2 years 
 Elections – Historical Sample ballot, final results Permanent 
 Mailing Lists landowner and/or registered voter rolls tied to public hearings 2 years 
 Minutes summary of discussion/action for regular and special meetings Permanent 
 Resolutions records of adopted actions Permanent 
Regulatory Records   
 Agency Maps jurisdictional boundaries, spheres of influence, service areas Permanent 
 Change of Organization Proposals application, petition, staff report, certificates, etc. 6 Permanent 
 Change of Reorganization Proposals application, petition, staff report, certificates, etc. 7 Permanent 
 Outside Service Requests application, staff report, environmental document 8 Permanent 
 Related Correspondence communication with public and local agencies including e-mails 5 years 
Planning Records   
 Municipal Service Reviews 9 written report and supporting documentation Permanent 
 Other Studies written report and supporting documentation Permanent 
 Sphere of Influence Updates 10 written report and supporting documentation Permanent 
 Related Correspondence communication with public and local agencies including e-mails 5 years 

 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 46

Attachment One



Notes 
 
1 Records relating to administrative policies and procedures shall include documents that have been subsequently amended, superseded, or replaced. 
 
2 / 3 : Commission currently contracts with the County of Napa for staff support services. Accordingly, the County’s Auditor’s Office and Human Resources 

Department independently retain payroll and personnel records, respectively, pursuant to their own records retention schedules.  
 
4 : Records relating to requests for proposals include accepted and unaccepted bids, including proposal statements, bidder forms, data sheets, proof of insurance, 

and  evaluation rankings. 
 
5 : Government Code §81009 specifies statements of economic interest must be maintained a minimum of seven years; original statements can be stored on space-

saving materials after two years. 
 
6 / 7 / 8 : Records relating to change of organization proposals, change of reorganization proposals, and outside service requests include information generated or 

managed by LAFCO. 
 

9 / 10 : The contents of municipal service reviews and sphere of influence updates shall include written reports and resolutions making determinations with respect 
to Government Code §56430 and §56425, respectively. 

 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 47

Attachment One



ATTACHMENT B 
   
Date:                                                                                                     Department:  LAFCO of Napa County 

                                                      

 
AUTHORIZATION TO DESTROY PAPER RECORDS  

 
Records Description   (All records from LAFCO office) Agency 

1.   

2.   

3.   

4.   

5.   

6.   

7.   

8.   

9.   

10.   

11.   

12.   

13.   

14.   

15.   

   
I certify the above Records are approved for destruction on an on-going (day-forward) basis, provided they 
comply with written policies and procedures approved by the Commission: 
 
___________________________  ___________________________    
       LAFCO Secretary/Clerk          Date      
 
CHECK ONE OPTION FOR DESTRUCTION: 
 
__ Shredding is required (Records contain private information)   or   __   Recycle (Records do NOT contain 
private info.)  
 
 
THE PAPER VERSION OF THE ABOVE RECORDS ARE APPROVED FOR DESTRUCTION: 
 
_______________________________  ___________________________ 
        LAFCO Executive Officer          Date 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
(Complete after destruction has been performed, if done by employees).  
 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that the items listed above have been destroyed in accordance with policies and 
procedures: 
 
_________________________________    __________________________ 
LAFCO Secretary/Clerk                       Date 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 48

Attachment One



 
 

 

Local Agency Formation Commission of Napa County 
Subdivision of the State of California 

 

We Manage Local Government Boundaries, Evaluate Municipal Services, and Protect Agriculture 
 

Schedule of Fees and Deposits 
Effective Date: January 1, 2023 

 
These are the policies of the Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) of Napa County 
with respect to setting fees and deposits in fulfilling LAFCO’s regulatory and planning duties 
prescribed under the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000. 
 
1. This schedule shall be administered in accordance with the provisions of Government Code 

(G.C.) Section 56383.  
  
2. This schedule includes both “fixed” and “at-cost” fees. Fixed fees represent reasonable cost 

estimates for processing routine proposals and based on a number of predetermined staff 
hours. At-cost fees apply to less routine proposals and based on the number of actual staff 
hours. Staff time is charged at a fully burdened hourly rate of $170. 

 
3. Proposals submitted to the Commission shall be accompanied by the appropriate proposal 

fees as detailed in this schedule. Staff shall identify which fees are due at the time the 
proposal is submitted and the timing when other fees are required. Any required proposal 
fees that have not been received at the time of Commission action on a proposal shall be 
made a condition of proposal approval. 
 

4. Staff may stop work on any proposal until the applicant submits a requested deposit or fee. 
 

5. All deposit amounts for at-cost proposals shall be determined by the Executive Officer. 
The Executive Officer shall provide a written accounting of all staff time and related 
expenses billed against the deposit. If the cost in processing a proposal begins to approach 
or exceed the deposited amount, the Executive Officer shall request additional monies from 
the applicant.  

 
6. Upon completion of an at-cost proposal, staff shall issue to the applicant a statement 

detailing all billable expenditures from a deposit. Staff shall refund the applicant for any 
monies remaining from the deposit less one-half hour of staff time to process the return as 
provided in this schedule. 

 
7. All fees payable to the Commission shall be submitted by check and made payable to 

“LAFCO of Napa County.” 
 

8. In the course of processing proposals, staff is required to collect fees on behalf of other 
agencies such as the State Board of Equalization. The Commission recognizes these are 
“pass through” fees that are not within the Commission’s discretion and therefore no 
Commission action is required to make changes to those fees in this schedule. 

 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 49

Attachment One

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56383.&lawCode=GOV
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56383.&lawCode=GOV


Schedule of Fees and Deposits Effective January 1, 2023 
Page 2 of 4 
 

9. Applicants are responsible for any fees or charges incurred by the Commission and/or 
required by other governmental agencies in the course of the processing of a proposal. 
 

10. Applicants are responsible for any extraordinary administrative costs as determined by the 
Executive Officer and detailed for the applicant in a written statement. 

 
11. Proposal fees shall not be charged by the Commission for city annexation proposals 

involving one or more entire unincorporated islands subject to G.C. Section 56375.3 and 
the Commission’s Policy on Unincorporated Islands, unless otherwise determined by the 
Executive Officer based on extraordinary circumstances. 

 
12. If the processing of a proposal requires the Commission contract with another agency firm, 

or individual for services beyond the normal scope of staff work, such as the drafting of an 
Environmental Impact Report or Comprehensive Fiscal Analysis, the applicant shall be 
responsible for all costs associated with that contract. The applicant will provide the 
Commission with a deposit sufficient to cover the cost of the contract. 
 

13. With respect to instances where the Commission approves an outside service agreement 
under G.C. Section 56133, the fee for a subsequent annexation involving the affected 
territory and affected agency will be reduced by one-half if filed within one calendar year. 
 

14. Requests for research on any particular subject will be provided at no cost for the first two 
hours. This includes, but is not limited to, archival retrieval, identifying properties relative 
to agency boundaries, and discussing potential proposals. Any additional research time will 
be billed at the fully burdened hourly rate provided in this schedule. 
 

15. Annexation or detachment proposals involving boundary changes for two or more agencies 
qualify as reorganizations and will be charged an additional fee of $850 (five hours). 
Annexation proposals involving cities that require concurrent detachment from County 
Service Area No. 4 and no other boundary changes will only incur an additional fee of 
$170 (one hour). 
 

16. The Commission shall annually review this schedule and update the fully burdened hourly 
rate to help maintain an appropriate level of cost-recovery.  
 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 50

Attachment One

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=56375.3
https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/uploads/documents/Policy_UnincorporatedIslands_2-3-20.pdf
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56133.&lawCode=GOV


Schedule of Fees and Deposits Effective January 1, 2023 
Page 3 of 4 
 
INITIAL PROPOSAL FEES 
 
The following fees must be submitted to the Commission as part of the proposal filing. The Executive 
Officer will identify the specific deposits, fees, and amounts that apply to the proposal. 
 

Change of Organization or Reorganization: Annexations and Detachments 
 
 

• Proposals Exempt from California Environmental Quality Act  
100% Consent from Landowners and Agencies where the  
Commission is Responsible or Lead Agency 

 
$5,100 (30 hours) 

Without 100% Consent from Landowners and Agencies 
where the Commission is Responsible or Lead Agency 

 
$6,800 (40 hours) 

 
• Proposals Not Exempt from California Environmental Quality Act /  

Negative Declaration 
100% Consent from Landowners and Agencies where the 
Commission is Responsible Agency 

 
$5,950 (35 hours) 

100% Consent from Landowners and Agencies where the 
Commission is Lead Agency 

 
$8,500 (50 hours) 

Without 100% Consent from Landowners and Agencies 
where the Commission is Responsible Agency 

 
$7,650 (45 hours)  

Without 100% Consent from Landowners and Agencies 
where the Commission is Lead Agency 

 
$10,200 (60 hours) 

  
• Proposals Not Exempt from California Environmental Quality /  

Environmental Impact Report 
100% Consent from Landowners and Agencies where the 
Commission is Responsible Agency 

 
$6,800 (40 hours) 

100% Consent from Landowners and Agencies where the 
Commission is Lead Agency 

$8,500 (50 hours)  
plus consultant contract  

Without 100% Consent from Landowners and Agencies 
where the Commission is Responsible Agency 

 
$8,500 (50 hours) 

Without 100% Consent from Landowners and Agencies 
where the Commission is Lead Agency 

$10,200 (60 hours)  
plus consultant contract  

 
Change of Organization or Reorganization: Other  

• City Incorporations and Disincorporations  at-cost 
• Special District Formations, Consolidations, Mergers and Dissolutions at-cost  
• Special District Requests to Activate or Deactivate Powers at-cost  

  
Other Service Requests 

• New or Extended Outside Service Request $3,400 (20 hours) 
• Request for Reconsideration  $3,400 (20 hours) 
• Request for Time Extension to Complete Proceedings $850 (5 hours) 
• Municipal Service Reviews   at-cost 
• Sphere of Influence Establishment/Amendment   at-cost  

   

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 51

Attachment One



Schedule of Fees and Deposits Effective January 1, 2023 
Page 4 of 4 
 

Miscellaneous 
• Special Meeting $1,200 
• Alternate Legal Counsel  at-cost 

 
OTHER PROPOSAL FEES 
 
These fees generally apply to proposals that have been approved by the Commission and are not required 
at the time of filing. An exception involves the fee for registered voter lists, which may be required 
before the Commission takes action on an application if the underlying activity is subject to protest 
proceedings. Other fees in this section apply to service requests that are not tied to a specific proposal, 
such as research and photocopying. 
 

Fees Made Payable to the County of Napa   
• Assessor’s Annexation Mapping Fee  $162 
• Ownership Verification Fee (Landowner Proposals) $13 
• Signature Verification Fee (Registered Voter Proposals) $13 
• County Surveyor’s Review Fee $253.09 
• Elections’ Registered Voter List Fee $75 hourly 
• Clerk-Recorder’s Environmental Filing Fee  $50 
• Clerk-Recorder’s Environmental Document Fee   

.......................................................................Environmental Impact Report  $3,839.25 

....................................................................Mitigated Negative Declaration  $2,764.00 
....................................................................................Negative Declaration  $2,764.00 

  
Fees Made Payable to LAFCO   

• Geographic Information System Update   $170   
• Public Hearing Notice Newspaper Publishing at-cost 
• Photocopying $0.10 (black) / $0.40 (color) 
• Mailing at-cost 
• Audio Recording of Meeting at-cost 
• Research/Archive Retrieval $170 hourly 

 
 

Fees Made Payable to the State Board of Equalization to Record Boundary Changes     
Acre Fee Acre Fee 

0.00-0.99 $300 51.00-100.99 $1,500 
1.00-5.99 $350 101.00-500.99 $2,000 
6.00-10.99 $500 501.00-1,000.99 $2,500 
11.00-20.99 $800 1,001.00-2,000.99 $3,000 
21.00-50.99 $1,200 2,001.00+ $3,500 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 52

Attachment One



 

  
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA 

                           
                          Policy on Scheduling of Commission Meetings  
                                 (Adopted: June 14, 2001;  Last Amended: August 1, 2022) 

 
    

I. BACKGROUND 
 
Meetings of the Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) of Napa County will be 
noticed and conducted in accordance with the Ralph M. Brown Act, California Government 
Code (G.C.) §54950 et seq. In response to G.C. §54954, this policy establishes the time and 
place for regular meetings and additionally establishes how a special meeting may be 
scheduled. 
 
II. PROCEDURES 

 
A.  Regular Meetings 
 

1) The regular meeting day of the Commission is the first Monday of each even-
number month (February, April, June, August, October, and December) at 2:00 
PM. The location will be the County of Napa Board of Supervisors Chambers 
located at 1195 Third Street, Third Floor, Napa, California 94559.  
 

2) The Chair may cancel a regular meeting if he or she determines the Commission 
cannot achieve a quorum or there is a lack of business. Regular meetings may 
also be canceled with the consent of a majority of the regular members of the 
Commission. For the purpose of this policy, a majority includes at least one 
member representing the cities and one member representing the county.  
 

B.  Special Meetings 
 

1) Special meetings may be scheduled in accordance with the Ralph M. Brown 
Act which at the time of the adoption of this policy allows the Commission 
Chair to schedule special meetings as needed. The Chair shall consult with the 
Executive Officer in scheduling special meetings to ensure a quorum is 
available at a specified place and time. 

 
2) Requests from outside parties for special meetings must be made in writing and 

submitted to the Executive Officer. If approved and scheduled by the Chair, the 
affected outside party requesting the special meeting will be responsible for any 
related charges pursuant to the Commission’s Schedule of Fees and Deposits. 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 53

Attachment One

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?division=2.&chapter=9.&part=1.&lawCode=GOV&title=5
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?division=2.&chapter=9.&part=1.&lawCode=GOV&title=5
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=54954.


 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA COUNTY 
 

 
           Policy on Social Media Use 

(Adopted: October 3, 2011;  Last Amended: April 5, 2021) 
 
I. Background  
 
The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization (“CKH”) Act of 2000, 
pursuant to California Government Code §56300, directs the Commission to exercise its 
regulatory and planning responsibilities consistent with its written policies and procedures. 
The Commission is also directed under subsection (f) to maintain an internet website to 
ensure pertinent agency information is readily available to the public; a provision intended 
to improve engagement with the public. Further, subsequent to CKH’s enactment in January 
1, 2001, advances in internet-based programs have significantly expanded the type and 
scope of social media tools available in engaging the public. Several social media tools are 
now commonly used by public agencies to promote government information and services 
to a continually increasing audience. 
 
II.  Purpose 

 
The purpose of this policy is to provide clear and concise direction to Commission staff 
regarding the appropriate use of authorized social media sites in disseminating information 
to, and engaging with, the public. This includes establishing standards and protocols in 
managing authorized social media sites to help ensure appropriate decorum is maintained 
in communicating with the public.  
 
III. Policy Statement 
 
The Commission shall use authorized social media sites to maintain and enhance effective 
communication with local agencies and the public. This policy shall be reviewed 
periodically to ensure consistency with industry practices.  
 
IV.  Administration  
 

A) The Executive Officer shall be responsible for maintaining user accounts and 
passwords for all social media sites authorized by the Commission for use by 
staff. The Executive Officer or designee will be responsible for posting, 
monitoring, and removing content consistent with this policy.   

 
B) This policy shall be implemented in conjunction with all related administrative 

policies adopted by the Commission or as applicable through the Commission’s 
contract with the County of Napa for staff support services. This includes, but is 
not limited to, complying with the County’s policies concerning the use of 
computers pursuant to County Policy Manual Section 31A. 

 

 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 54

Attachment One

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=56300.
https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/uploads/documents/CountyPolicyManualSection31A.pdf


Policy on Social Media Use 
Page 2 of 4 

 

 

C) The Commission shall exercise discretion in reconciling inconsistencies or 
conflicts between Commission and County policies as it relates to the use of 
social media sites.    

 
V.    Compatibility with Website  
 

A) The Commission’s website (https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov) shall continue to 
serve as the agency’s primary and predominant internet presence. Towards this 
end, whenever possible, content posted on the Commission’s social media sites 
will also be made available on the agency website.  

 
B) Content published by staff on the Commission’s social media sites shall not be 

offered in lieu of information on the agency’s website. The Commission’s social 
media sites shall all contain hyperlinks to the agency’s website.   

 
VI. Posts 
 

A) Posts published by staff on the Commission’s social media sites are not kept in the 
ordinary course of business of the Commission.. 

 
B) Posts published by visitors on the Commission’s social media sites are deemed 

transitory in nature and are not considered records of the Commission. 
 
VII.  Disclaimer Notice   
 

A) The Commission’s social media sites shall include a disclaimer notice informing 
visitors that all postings must comply with content standards as they are outlined 
in Section VIII, Subsection C of this policy. This includes advising visitors that 
the Commission disclaims responsibility and liability for any materials the 
agency deems inappropriate for posting that cannot be removed in an expeditious 
and otherwise timely manner. 

 
VIII. General Content Standards  
 

A) The Executive Officer or designee shall regularly monitor the Commission’s 
social media sites to ensure content standards as established in this policy are 
maintained.   

 
B) The Commission’s social media sites shall notify visitors that the intended 

purposes of the sites are to facilitate communication between the Commission 
and the public. Sites must provide clear statements of the discussion topics 
introduced for public comments so that the public is aware of the limited nature 
of the discussion and that inappropriate posts are subject to removal. 

 
 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 55

Attachment One

https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/


Policy on Social Media Use 
Page 3 of 4 

 

 

C) The Executive Officer or designee shall remove any postings, comments, or other 
communications on its social media sites that are deemed inappropriate if any of 
the following forms of content are present: 

 
(1) Profane language or content; 
(2) Content promoting, fostering, or perpetuating discrimination of protected 

classes under California Government Code §12940; 
(3)  Sexual content or hyperlinks to sexual content;  
(4) Comments in support of or opposition to political campaigns or ballot 

measures;  
(5) Solicitations of commerce;  
(6) Conduct or encouragement of illegal activity;  
(7) Information that may compromise the safety or security of the public or 

public infrastructure; and  
(8) Content violating a legal ownership interest of any other party. 

 
IX. Authorized Social Media Sites   
 

A) The social media sites authorized by the Commission for use by staff are identified 
by their short-term designation below and corresponding address. 

 
(1)    Facebook / http://www.facebook.com  
(2)    Twitter / http://www.twitter.com  

  
X. Specific Standards and Protocols for Authorized Social Media Sites 

 
A) Facebook 
 

(1) The Executive Officer shall hold and maintain the Commission’s Facebook 
account. Account information, including the password, will be kept by the 
Executive Officer and registered to his or her work e-mail address.   

 
(2)  The Commission will have only one Facebook account, but may have more 

than one Facebook page under that account.  
 
(3) Postings and comments will not be added to the Commission’s Facebook 

page(s) without the approval of the Executive Officer or designee.  
  
(4) The Commission’s Facebook page(s) will be described as “government” and 

depict the agency’s adopted logo and mission statement in the introduction 
box. The following description will be included on each Facebook page: 

 
“This is an official Facebook page of LAFCO of Napa County. More 
information about LAFCO is available on our agency’s website, 
https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov. This page is intended to facilitate broad 
and enhanced communication between LAFCO and the public.”  
 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 56

Attachment One

http://www.facebook.com/
http://www.twitter.com/
https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/


Policy on Social Media Use 
Page 4 of 4 

 

 

(5) The Executive Officer will determine when to turn on the comment option on 
the Facebook page(s). If comments are allowed, the Facebook page shall 
include the following disclaimer on content: 

 
“Comments posted to this page will be monitored, and inappropriate 
content will be removed, as soon as possible consistent with the agency’s 
Policy on Social Media Use available on LAFCO’s website at: 
https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/uploads/documents/Policy_SocialMediaU
se_4-5-21.pdf. LAFCO disclaims responsibility and liability for any 
inappropriate postings that cannot be removed in an expeditious and 
otherwise timely manner.”  

  
(6) The Executive Officer or designee shall monitor comments on the Facebook 

page(s) no less than once a week. If monitoring is not available, the Executive 
Officer or designee shall turn off the comment option. 

 
(7) The Executive Officer or designee may add photographs or videos to the 

Facebook page(s). However, all postings of photographs or videos of the 
public must be accompanied by written waivers of the affected individuals.   

 
(8) Visitors to the Facebook page(s) shall not be allowed to post photographs, 

videos, or hyperlinks. Notification will be provided through a disclaimer.   
 
B) Twitter  

 
(1) The Executive Officer shall hold and maintain the Commission’s Twitter 

account. Account information, including the password, will be kept by the 
Executive Officer and registered to his or her work e-mail address.   

 
(2)  The Commission will have only one Twitter account.  
 
(3) Postings and retweets will not be added to the Commission’s Twitter page 

without the approval of the Executive Officer or designee.   
 
(4) The Commission’s biography summary on its Twitter page will include a 

hyperlink to the agency’s website along with the following disclaimer: 
 

“This is an official Twitter page of LAFCO of Napa County. More 
information about LAFCO is available on our agency’s website, 
https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov. This page is intended to facilitate specific 
and enhanced communication between LAFCO and the public.”   

 
(5) Postings and retweets shall be relevant, timely, and informative. Postings 

shall also remain professional and incorporate proper grammar and avoid the 
use of jargon or abbreviations. 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 57

Attachment One

https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/uploads/documents/Policy_SocialMediaUse_4-5-21.pdf
https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/uploads/documents/Policy_SocialMediaUse_4-5-21.pdf
https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/


LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA COUNTY 
 

 
Policy on Spheres of Influence 

(Adopted on June 7, 2021) 
    

I. BACKGROUND 
 
The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000, beginning with 
California Government Code (G.C.) §56425, requires the Local Agency Formation Commission 
(LAFCO or “Commission”) to establish and maintain spheres of influence for all local agencies 
within its jurisdiction. A sphere of influence (SOI) is defined by statute as a “plan for the 
probable physical boundary and service area of a local government agency as determined by the 
commission” (G.C. §56076). Every determination made by LAFCO shall be consistent with the 
SOIs of the local agencies affected by that determination (G.C. §56375.5). The Commission 
encourages cities, towns, and the County of Napa (“County”) to meet and agree to SOI changes. 
The Commission shall give “great weight” to these agreements to the extent they are consistent 
with its policies (G.C. §56425(b) and (c)). Local agency SOIs are established and changed in 
part based on information in municipal service reviews, including adopted determinative 
statements and recommendations (G.C. §56430). 
 
II. PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of these policies is to guide the Commission in its consideration of SOI amendment 
requests as well as SOI reviews and updates initiated by LAFCO. This includes establishing 
consistency with respect to the Commission’s approach in the scheduling, preparation, and 
adoption of SOI reviews and updates. Requests to amend an SOI may be made by any person or 
local agency as described in Section VI of this policy. Requests to amend an SOI are encouraged 
to be filed with LAFCO’s Executive Officer as part of the Commission’s municipal service 
review (MSR) and SOI review process. 
 
III. OBJECTIVE 
 
It is the intent of the Commission to determine appropriate SOIs that promote the orderly 
expansion of cities, towns, and special districts in a manner that ensures the protection of the 
environment and agricultural and open space lands while also ensuring the effective, efficient, 
and economic provision of essential public services, including public water, wastewater, fire 
protection and emergency response, and law enforcement. The Commission recognizes the 
importance of considering local conditions and circumstances in implementing these policies. 
An SOI is primarily a planning tool that will: 
 

• Serve as a master plan for the future organization of local government within the County 
by providing long range guidelines for the efficient provision of services to the public; 
 

• Discourage duplication of services by two or more local governmental agencies; 
 

• Guide the Commission when considering individual proposals for changes of 
organization; 

 

• Identify the need for specific reorganization studies, and provide the basis for 
recommendations to particular agencies for government reorganizations. 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 58

Attachment One

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=56425.
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56076.&lawCode=GOV
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56375.5.&lawCode=GOV
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=56425.
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56430.&lawCode=GOV


Policy on Spheres of Influence 
Page 2 of 6 
 

 
 

IV. DEFINITIONS  
 

Recognizing that an SOI is a plan for the probable physical boundary and service area of a local 
government agency as determined by LAFCO, the Commission incorporates the following 
definitions: 

 
A. “Agricultural lands” are defined as set forth in G.C. §56016. 

 
B. “Open space” are defined as set forth in G.C. §56059. 

 
C. “Prime agricultural land” is defined as set forth in G.C. §56064. 

 
D. “Infill” is defined as set forth in Public Resources Code §21061.3. 

 
E. “Underdeveloped land” is defined as land that lacks components of urban 

development such as utilities or structure(s). 
 

F. “Vacant land” is defined as land that has no structure(s) on it and is not being used. 
Agricultural and open space uses are considered a land use and therefore the 
underlying land is not considered vacant land.  

 
G. “SOI establishment” refers to the initial adoption of a city or special district SOI by 

the Commission. 
 
H. “SOI amendment” refers to a single change to an established SOI, typically 

involving one specific geographic area and initiated by a landowner, resident, or 
local agency.  

 
I. “SOI review” refers to a comprehensive review of an established SOI conducted as 

part of an MSR. Based on information collected in the SOI review component of 
an MSR, the Commission shall determine if an SOI update is needed. 

 
J. “SOI update” refers to a single change or multiple changes to an established SOI, 

typically initiated by the Commission and based on information collected in the 
SOI review. 

 
K. “Zero SOI” when determined by the Commission, indicates a local agency should 

be dissolved and its service area and service responsibilities assigned to one or more 
other local agencies. 

 
L. “Study area” refers to territory evaluated as part of an SOI update for possible 

addition to, or removal from, an established SOI. The study areas shall be identified 
by the Commission in consultation with all affected agencies. 

 
  

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 59

Attachment One

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56016.&lawCode=GOV
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56059.&lawCode=GOV
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56064.&lawCode=GOV
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=21061.3.&lawCode=PRC


Policy on Spheres of Influence 
Page 3 of 6 
 

 
 

V. LOCAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 

A. General Guidelines for Determining Spheres of Influence 
 
The following factors are intended to provide a framework for the Commission to 
balance competing interests in making determinations related to SOIs. No single factor 
is determinative. The Commission retains discretion to exercise its independent 
judgment as appropriate: 
 

1) Land defined or designated in the County of Napa General Plan land use map 
as agricultural or open space shall not be approved for inclusion within any 
local agency’s SOI for purposes of new urban development unless the action 
is consistent with the objectives listed in Section III of this policy. 
 

2) The Commission encourages residents, landowners, and local agencies to 
submit requests for changes to SOIs to the LAFCO Executive Officer as 
part of the LAFCO-initiated MSR and SOI review process. 
 

3) The first Agricultural Preserve in the United States was created in 1968 by 
the Napa County Board of Supervisors. The Agricultural Preserve protects 
lands in the fertile valley and foothill areas of Napa County in which 
agriculture is and should continue to be the predominant land use. Measure J 
was passed by voters in 1990 and Measure P was passed by voters in 2008 
and requires voter approval for any changes that would re-designate 
unincorporated agricultural and open-space lands. The Commission will 
consider the Agricultural Preserve and intent of voters in passing Measure 
J and Measure P in its decision making processes to the extent they apply, 
prior to taking formal actions relating to SOIs.  

 
4) In the course of an SOI review for any local agency as part of an MSR, the 

Commission shall identify all existing outside services provided by the 
affected agency. For any services provided outside the affected agency’s 
jurisdictional boundary but within its SOI, the Commission shall request the 
affected agency submit an annexation plan or explanation for not annexing 
the territory that is receiving outside services. For any services provided 
outside an agency’s jurisdictional boundary and SOI, the Commission 
encourages a dialogue between the County and the affected agency relating 
to mutually beneficial provisions. 
 

5) In the course of reviewing a city or town’s SOI, the Commission will consider 
the amount of vacant land within the affected city or town’s SOI. The 
Commission discourages SOI amendment requests involving vacant or 
underdeveloped land that requires the extension of urban facilities, utilities, 
and services where infill development is more appropriate. 

 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 60

Attachment One



Policy on Spheres of Influence 
Page 4 of 6 
 

 
 

6) A local agency’s SOI shall generally be used to guide annexations within a 
five-year planning period. Inclusion of land within an SOI shall not be 
construed to indicate automatic approval of an annexation proposal.  

 
7) When an annexation is proposed outside a local agency’s SOI, the 

Commission may consider both the proposed annexation and SOI amendment 
at the same meeting. The SOI amendment to include the affected territory, 
however, shall be considered and resolved prior to Commission action on the 
annexation. 
 

8) A local agency’s SOI should reflect existing and planned service capacities 
based on information collected by, or submitted to, the Commission. This 
includes information contained in current MSRs. The Commission shall 
consider the following municipal service criteria in determining SOIs:  

  
a) The present capacity of public facilities and adequacy of public services 

provided by affected local agencies within the current jurisdiction, and 
the adopted plans of these local agencies to address any municipal 
service deficiency, including adopted capital improvement plans. 

 
b) The present and probable need for public facilities and services within 

the area proposed or recommended for inclusion within the SOI, and the 
plans for the delivery of services to the area. 
 

9) The Commission shall consider, at a minimum, the following land use 
criteria in determining SOIs: 

 
a) The present and planned land uses in the area, including lands 

designated for agriculture and open-space. 
 

b) Consistency with the County General Plan and the general plan of any 
affected city or town. 

 
c) Adopted general plan policies of the County and of any affected city or 

town that guide future development away from lands designated for 
agriculture or open-space. 

 
d) Adopted policies of affected local agencies that promote infill 

development of existing vacant or underdeveloped land. 
 
e) Amount of existing vacant or underdeveloped land located within any 

affected local agency’s jurisdiction and current SOI. 
 
f) Adopted urban growth boundaries by the affected land use authorities.  

 
 
 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 61

Attachment One



Policy on Spheres of Influence 
Page 5 of 6 
 

 
 

B. Scheduling Sphere of Influence Reviews and Updates 
 

G.C. §56425(g) directs the Commission to update each SOI every five years, as 
necessary. Each year, the Commission shall adopt a Work Program with a schedule 
for initiating and completing MSRs and SOI reviews based on communication with 
local agencies. This includes appropriate timing with consideration of city, town, 
and County general plan updates. The Commission shall schedule SOI updates, as 
necessary, based on determinations contained in MSRs. 
 

C. Environmental Review 
 

SOI establishments, amendments, and updates will be subject to the review 
procedures defined in the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and the 
Napa LAFCO CEQA Guidelines. If an environmental assessment or analysis is 
prepared by an agency for a project associated with an SOI establishment, 
amendment, or update, and LAFCO is afforded the opportunity to evaluate and 
comment during the Lead Agency’s environmental review process, then LAFCO 
can act as a Responsible Agency under CEQA for its environmental review process. 
All adopted environmental documents prepared for the project, a copy of the filed 
Notice of Determination/Notice of Exemption, and a copy of the Department of 
Fish and Wildlife fee receipt must be submitted as part of the application. 
Completion of the CEQA review process will be required prior to action by the 
Commission. 
 

VI. REQUESTS FOR SPHERE OF INFLUENCE AMENDMENTS 
 
A. Form of Request 
 

Any person or local agency may file a written request with the Executive Officer 
requesting amendments to an SOI pursuant to G.C. §56428(a). Requests shall be 
made using the form provided in Attachment A and be accompanied by a cover 
letter and a map of the proposed amendment. Requests shall include an initial 
deposit as prescribed under the Commission’s adopted Schedule of Fees and 
Deposits. The Executive Officer may require additional data and information to be 
included with the request. Requests by cities, towns, and special districts shall be 
made by resolution of application. 
 

B. Review of Request 
 

The Executive Officer shall review and determine within 30 days of receipt whether 
the request to amend an agency’s SOI is complete. If a request is deemed 
incomplete, the Executive Officer shall immediately notify the applicant and 
identify the information needed to accept the request for filing. 

 
 
 
 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 62

Attachment One

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56425.&lawCode=GOV
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56428.&lawCode=GOV


Policy on Spheres of Influence 
Page 6 of 6 
 

 
 

C. Consideration of Request 
 

Once a request is deemed complete, the Executive Officer will prepare a written 
report with a recommendation. The Executive Officer will present his or her report 
and recommendation at a public hearing for Commission consideration. The public 
hearing will be scheduled for the next meeting of the Commission for which 
adequate notice can be given. The Commission may approve, approve with 
conditions, or deny the request for an SOI amendment. The Commission’s 
determination and any required findings will be set out in a resolution that specifies 
the area added to, or removed from, the affected agency’s SOI. While the 
Commission encourages the participation and cooperation of the subject agencies, 
the determination of an SOI is a LAFCO responsibility and the Commission is the 
sole authority as to the sufficiency of the documentation and consistency with law 
and LAFCO policy. 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 63

Attachment One



Local Agency Formation Commission of Napa County 

1754 Second Street, Suite C 

Napa, California 94559 

(707) 259-8645 Telephone

www.napa.lafco.ca.gov

Questionnaire for Amending a Sphere of Influence 

1. Applicant information:

Name:  ______________________________________________________ 

Address: ______________________________________________________ 

Telephone Number: ______________ (Primary) _____________ (Secondary) 

E-Mail Address: ________________________________________________ 

2. What is the purpose for the proposed sphere of influence amendment?

_____________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________

3. Describe the affected territory in terms of location, size, topography, and any other

pertinent characteristics.

_____________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________

4. Describe the affected territory’s present and planned land uses.

_____________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________

ATTACHMENT A

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 64

Attachment One

http://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/


5. Identify the current land use designation and zoning standard for the affected 

territory. 

 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

 

      _____________________________________________________________________ 

 

      _____________________________________________________________________ 

 

6. Is the affected territory subject to a Williamson Act contract?  If yes, please provide a 

copy of the contract along with any amendments.  

 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

 

7. If applicable, identify the governmental agencies currently providing the listed 

municipal services to the affected territory.  

 

Water:  ______________________________________________________ 

 

 Sewer:  ______________________________________________________ 

 

 Fire:  ______________________________________________________ 

 

 Police:  ______________________________________________________ 

 

  

 

Print Name: _______________________________ 

 

 

Date:  _______________________________ 

 

 

Signature:  _______________________________ 

ATTACHMENT A

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 65

Attachment One



 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA COUNTY 

 
Policy on Telecommuting 

(Adopted:  July 8, 1997; Last Amended: November 18, 2019) 
 
 

I.  Background 
 
The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization (CKH) Act of 2000 is the enabling 
legislation for LAFCO. The Act includes the legislative intent, powers and composition of the 
Commission. LAFCO is established as an independent agency although the Commission is comprised 
of local government representatives. Each LAFCO has the authority to establish standards and policies 
to reflect local conditions. In order to carry out its legislative mandate, the Commission has the 
authority to appoint and assign staff personnel and to employ or contract for professional or consulting 
services to carry out and effect the functions of the commission (Government Code (G.C.) §56375(k). 
 
II. Purpose 
 
LAFCO considers telecommuting to be a viable work option that, when appropriately applied, benefits 
both the organization and the individual employee. Various studies confirm that telecommuting is cost 
effective and has a positive environmental impact (Forbes, July 20, 2017). It is the intent of the 
Commission to adopt a policy which allows staff to telecommute at the discretion of the Executive 
Officer.  
 
Telecommuting is defined as allowing designated employees, on a periodic basis and during their 
scheduled work hours, to fulfill their job responsibilities at a site other than their primary work location. 
Telecommuting can both accommodate the needs of employees and benefit the community by reducing 
distractions, interruptions, stress, traffic, greenhouse gas emissions, and parking impacts.  
 
III. Guidelines and Principles 
 
Telecommuting is a cooperative arrangement between the supervisor and employee, not an entitlement, 
and is based upon the needs of the job as well as the employee's past and present levels of performance. 
Jobs suitable for telecommuting are characterized by clearly defined tasks and work products. 
Telecommuting is a tool allowing for flexibility in work options. Telecommuting does not change the 
basic terms and conditions of employment with LAFCO. Each telecommuting arrangement is jointly 
agreed between the employee and Executive Officer. Telecommuting is voluntary and may be 
terminated, at will, at any time either by the Executive Officer or the employee. 
 
IV. Ground Rules 
 
Telecommuting occurs on a part-time basis. Salary, job responsibilities, and benefits do not change as 
a result of telecommuting. Telecommuters shall have regularly scheduled work hours agreed upon with 
the Executive Officer. Telecommuters will be as accessible as their on-site counterparts during their 
agreed upon regular business hours, regardless of work location. Telecommuters will exercise caution 
to ensure they have a safe work area.  Telecommuters working at home will take all precautions 
necessary to secure privileged information in the home and prevent unauthorized access to the LAFCO 
shared drive from the home.  Telecommuting expenses related to equipment will be dealt with on a 
case-by-case basis between the employee and the Executive Officer. Telecommuters shall comply with 
all established employment rules and regulations as set forth by the County of Napa. 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 66

Attachment One

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=56375
https://www.forbes.com/sites/andrealoubier/2017/07/20/benefits-of-telecommuting-for-the-future-of-work/#4598bed516c6
https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/uploads/documents/CountyTelecommutingPolicy.pdf


 

  

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA 
                           

Policy on Unincorporated Islands 
(Adopted: February 3, 2020) 

 

 
 

I. Background 
 

Unincorporated islands (hereinafter “islands”) are areas of unincorporated territory that are 

completely or substantially surrounded by an incorporated city or town. The Cortese-Knox-

Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization (CKH) Act of 2000 includes provisions for 

streamlining the annexation of islands to cities and towns (California Government Code (G.C.) 

§56375.3). CKH prohibits creation of new islands unless the Commission determines the 

prohibition would be detrimental to the orderly development of the community and that the area 

is located such that it could not reasonably be annexed to another city or town, or incorporated as 

a new city or town (G.C. §56744). As a condition of annexation to a city or town that includes 

territory located within an island, the Commission may require that the annexation include the 

entire island (G.C. §56375(a)(5)). 
 

II. Purpose 
 

It is the intent of the Commission to establish a policy that clearly defines the characteristics of 

islands in Napa County to allow for their streamlined annexation to cities and towns. This is 

consistent with the intent of the California Legislature when it enacted special legislation, 

originally adopted in 1977 and subsequently expanded, that made it possible for certain islands to 

be annexed without a protest hearing or election. In approving this legislation, the Legislature 

recognized the following: 
 

A) Islands continue to represent a serious and unnecessary statewide governmental 

inefficiency and that this inefficiency would be resolved if these islands were annexed into 

the appropriate surrounding city or town. 
 

B) Property owners’ ability to vote on boundary changes is a statutory privilege and not a 

constitutional right. 
 

C) Islands are inherently inefficient and that these inefficiencies affect not just residents within 

islands, but also those residing throughout the city or town and the county. 
 

III. Annexation Procedures 
 

In order to utilize the streamlined annexation provisions codified under G.C. §56375.3, a city or 

town is required to initiate the process by adopting a resolution of application and submit the 

adopted resolution to the Commission. The Commission shall approve the annexation at a noticed 

public hearing and waive protest proceedings. The Commission may not disapprove the 

annexation. A property tax sharing agreement between the County and the affected city or town is 

required before the Commission may take final action on annexation consistent with Revenue and 

Taxation Code §99. The Commission encourages any city or town to enter into tax sharing 

agreements for affected islands prior to adoption of a resolution of application.  

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 67

Attachment One

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56375.3.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56375.3.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56744.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56375.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56375.3.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=99.&lawCode=RTC
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=99.&lawCode=RTC


Policy on Unincorporated Islands 

Page 2 of 2 

 

 

IV. Local Policy Definition of “Island”  

 

The Commission defines an “island” in Napa County to include unincorporated territory that meets 

all of the following criteria: 

 

A) Located entirely within a city or town’s sphere of influence; 

 

B) Does not exceed 150 acres in size; 

 

C) Does not contain prime agricultural land as defined in the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Act 

(G.C. §56064); 

 

D) Does not contain lands subject to Measure P or has a General Plan designation of 

Agricultural Resource or Agriculture, Watershed and Open Space as reflected in the 

County of Napa General Plan Land Use Map; 

 

E) Designated for urban development in the general plan of the annexing city or town; 

 

F) Surrounded or substantially surrounded by the annexing city or town. Substantially 

surrounded territory is unincorporated territory with an outer boundary that is 50% or more 

contiguous to the annexing city or town’s jurisdictional boundary; 

 

G) The outer boundary is the annexing city or town’s jurisdictional boundary, the annexing 

city or town’s sphere of influence, and/or property owned by the State of California; 

 

H) The territory is developed or developing. This determination is based on the availability of 

public utilities, the presence of public improvements, or the presence of physical 

improvements on the parcels within the area; and 

 

I) The territory is currently receiving municipal service benefits from the annexing city or 

town, or would benefit from the city or town following annexation. 

 

 

 

Napa LAFCO Policy Manual Page 68

Attachment One

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56064.&lawCode=GOV


 

 

Margie Mohler, Chair 
Councilmember, Town of Yountville 
 

Mariam Aboudamous, Commissioner 
Councilmember, City of American Canyon 
 

Beth Painter, Alternate Commissioner 
Councilmember, City of Napa 
 
 
 

Anne Cottrell, Vice Chair 
County of Napa Supervisor, 3rd District 

 

Belia Ramos, Commissioner 
County of Napa Supervisor, 5th District 

 

Joelle Gallagher, Alternate Commissioner 
County of Napa Supervisor, 1st District 

 

Kenneth Leary, Commissioner 
Representative of the General Public 

 

Eve Kahn, Alternate Commissioner  
Representative of the General Public 

 

Brendon Freeman 
Executive Officer 

 

Local Agency Formation Commission of Napa County  
Subdivision of the State of California  
 
 
We Manage Local Government Boundaries, Evaluate Municipal Services, and Protect Agriculture  

 

 
1754 Second Street, Suite C 

Napa, California  94559 
Phone: (707) 259-8645 
www.napa.lafco.ca.gov 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8f (Consent/Information) 
 
 
 
TO:    Local Agency Formation Commission 
 
PREPARED BY: Brendon Freeman, Executive Officer 
 
MEETING DATE: February 6, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: Directory of Local Agencies Subject to LAFCO Jurisdiction 
 
 
BACKGROUND AND SUMMARY 
 
This is a consent item for information purposes only. Accordingly, if interested, the 
Commission is invited to pull this item for additional discussion with the concurrence of 
the Chair. No formal action will be taken as part of this item.  
 
Staff recently updated the Commission’s local agency directory, included as Attachment 
One. The directory is intended to assist the general public by providing basic information 
about each local agency in Napa County that is subject to LAFCO’s jurisdiction. The 
directory is available on the homepage of the Commission’s website. 
 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENT 
 
1) 2023 Directory of Local Agencies Subject to LAFCO Jurisdiction 



DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES 
Subject to LAFCO Jurisdiction 

2023 

Prepared by 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

OF NAPA COUNTY 

We Manage Local Government Boundaries, 
Evaluate Municipal Services, and Protect Agriculture 

MISSION STATEMENT 

The Local Agency Formation Commission of Napa 
County (LAFCO) is committed to serving the citizens 
and government agencies of its jurisdiction by 
encouraging the preservation of agricultural lands and 
open-space and coordinating the efficient delivery of 
municipal services. 

Available to download at: www.napa.lafco.ca.gov 

Attachment One

http://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/


Local Agency Formation Commission of Napa County 

Contact Information: 

Address: 

Phone: 

Website: 

1754 Second Street, Suite C 
Napa, California 94559-2451 

(707) 259-8645

www.napa.lafco.ca.gov 

Governing Body: 

Title 
Chair 
Vice-Chair 
Commissioner 
Commissioner 
Commissioner  
Commissioner Alternate 
Commissioner Alternate 
Commissioner Alternate

Administration/Staff: 

Title 
Executive Officer 
Assistant Executive Officer 
Counsel 
Clerk/Jr. Analyst

Marjorie Mohler, City Member  
Anne Cottrell, County Member
Mariam Aboudamous, City Member 
Kenneth Leary, Public Member  
Belia Ramos, County Member 
Joelle Gallagher, Alternate County Member 
Beth Painter, Alternate City Member
Eve Kahn, Alternate Public Member  

Brendon Freeman 
Dawn Mittleman Longoria
Gary Bell 
Vacant

Meetings: 1st Monday of each even-numbered month at 2:00 pm. 

Location: Napa County Administration Building 
Board of Supervisors Chambers  
1195 Third Street, 3rd Floor, Room 305 
Napa, CA 94559 

2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 
Attachment One

http://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov/
https://www.napa.lafco.ca.gov


2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
County of Napa............................................................................. 1 

Cities 

City of American Canyon .............................................................. 2 
City of Calistoga ........................................................................... 3 
City of Napa .................................................................................. 4 
City of St. Helena .......................................................................... 5 
Town of Yountville ......................................................................... 6 

Special Districts 

American Canyon Fire Protection District.................................. 7 
Circle Oaks County Water District .............................................. 8 
Congress Valley Water District .................................................... 9 
County Service Area No. 3 ........................................................ 10 
County Service Area No. 4 ........................................................ 11 
Lake Berryessa Resort Improvement District ............................ 12 
Los Carneros Water District ........................................................ 13 
Monticello Public Cemetery District ......................................... 14 
Napa County Flood Control and Water Conservation District 
....................................................................................................... 15 
Napa County Mosquito Abatement District ........................... 16 
Napa County Regional Park ..................................................... 17 
and Open Space District ........................................................... 17 
Napa County Resource Conservation District ........................ 18 
Napa-Berryessa Resort Improvement District .......................... 19 
Napa River Reclamation District No. 2109 ............................... 20 
Napa Sanitation District ................................................................ 21 
Pope Valley Cemetery District .................................................. 22 
Silverado Community Services District ..................................... 23 
Spanish Flat Water District .......................................................... 24 

Attachment One



2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

County of Napa 
Address: 1195 Third Street 

Napa, California 94559 
Phone: (707) 253-4421

Fax: (707) 253-4176

Website: www.countyofnapa.org

Governing Body: Chair 
Vice-Chair 
Supervisor 
Supervisor 
Supervisor 

Administration/Staff: 
Interim County Executive Officer 

Clerk to the Board 
County Counsel 

Auditor-Controller 
Assessor-Recorder-County Clerk 

Treasurer-Tax Collector 
Public Works Director 

Interim Director Planning, Bldg., Env. Svcs. 
Sheriff-Coroner 

Fire Chief 
Library Director 

Public Defender 
Chief Probation Officer 

District Attorney 
Director, Health & Human Services 

Director, Child Support Services 
Agricultural Commissioner/Sealer 

Belia Ramos
Joelle Gallagher 
Anne Cottrell
Ryan Gregory
Alfredo Pedroza 

David Morrison 
Neha Hoskins
Sheryl Bratton 
Tracy Schulze    
John Tuteur    
Robert Minahen 
Steven Lederer
Brian Bordona
Oscar Ortiz      
Jason Martin 
Anthony Halstead 
Ron Abernethy  
Amanda Gibbs 
Allison Haley 
Jennifer Yasumoto 
Janet Nottley   
Tracy Cleveland 

Meetings: Regular meetings of the Board are normally Tuesdays 
at the time, date and place specified on the calendar 
adopted at or before the last meeting in December. 

Location: Napa County Administration Building 
Board of Supervisors Chambers 
1195 Third Street, Suite 305 
Napa, CA 94559 

1 

Attachment One

http://www.countyofnapa.org/


2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

2 

City of American Canyon 
Contact Information: 

Address: 4381 Broadway Street, Suite 201 
American Canyon, CA 94503 

Phone: (707) 647-4369
Fax: (707) 643-2355

Website: www.cityofamericancanyon.org

Governing Body: 

Title 
Mayor 
Vice-Mayor 
Council Member 
Council Member 
Council Member 

Administration/Staff: 

Title 
City Manager 
City Counsel 
Deputy City Clerk 
Finance Director 

Leon Garcia 
Mariam Aboudamous 
David Oro 
Mark Joseph        
Pierre Washington  

Jason Holley 
William Ross 
Cherri Walton    
Lincoln Bogard 

Community Dev. Director   Brent Cooper 
Public Works Director Erica Smithies 

Meetings: 1st and 3rd Tuesday of every month at 6:30 pm. 
and every 5th Tuesday 

Location: American Canyon City Hall – Council Chambers 
4381 Broadway Street, Suite 201 
American Canyon, CA 94503 

Attachment One

http://www.cityofamericancanyon.org/


2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

3 

City of Calistoga 
Contact Information: 

Address: 1232 Washington Street 
Calistoga, California 94515 

Phone: (707) 942-2806

Fax: (707) 942-0732

Website: www.ci.calistoga.ca.us

Governing Body: 
Title 
Mayor 
Vice-Mayor 
Council Member 
Council Member 
Council Member 

Administration/Staff: 

Title 
City Manager City 
Attorney 
City Clerk 

Donald Williams   
Irais Lopez-Ortega 
Scott Cooper 
Kevin Eisenberg        
Lisa Gift

Laura Snideman  
Michelle Kenyon 
Marni Rittburg

Interim Admin. Services Nitish Sharma 
Planning & Building 
Public Works  

Claudia Aceves
Melissa Vasquez, Admin. Technician

Meetings: 1st and 3rd Tuesday of each month at 6:00 pm. 

Location: Calistoga Community Center 
1307 Washington Street 
Calistoga, CA 94515 

Attachment One

http://www.ci.calistoga.ca.us/


2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

4 

City of Napa 
Contact Information: 

Address: 955 School Street 
Napa, California 94559 

Phone: (707) 257-9500

Fax: (707) 257-9534

Website: www.cityofnapa.org

Governing Body: 

Title 
Mayor 
Vice-Mayor 
Council Member 
Council Member 
Council Member 

Administration/Staff: 

Title 
City Manager 
 Assistant City Manager 
Deputy City Manager 
Human Res. Director 
City Attorney 
City Clerk 
Finance Director           
Parks & Rec. Director 
Public Works Director
Utilities Director 

Scott Sedgley
Beth Painter
Liz Alessio
Mary Luros
Bernie Narvaez 

 Steve Potter
 Liz Habkirk
 Molly Rattigan
 Heather Ruiz 
 Michael Barrett 
 Tiffany Carranza  
 Vacant 
 Breyana Brandt 
 Julie Lucido 
 Phil Brun

Community Dev. Director  Vin Smith 
Zach Curren 
Jennifer Gonzales

Fire Chief 
Police Chief 

 

Meetings: 1st and 3rd Tuesday of each month. 
Afternoon Session at 3:30 pm. 
Evening Session at 6:30 pm. 

Location: Napa City Hall Chambers 
955 School Street Napa, CA 94559 

Attachment One

http://www.cityofnapa.org/


5 

2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

City of St. Helena 
Contact Information: 

Address: 1572 Railroad Avenue 
St. Helena, California 94574 

Phone: (707) 967-2792

Fax: (707) 963-7748

Website: www.cityofsthelena.org

Governing Body: 

Title 
Mayor 
Vice-Mayor 
Council Member 
Council Member 
Council Member 

Paul Dohring  
Eric Hall
Anna Chouteau 
Lester Hardy
Billy Summers

Administration/Staff: 

Title 
City Manager/Treasurer Anil Comelo 
City Attorney
City Clerk
Assistant City Manager
Planning Director 

Ethan Walsh  
Cindy Tzafopoulos 
April Mitts 
Maya DeRosa

Public Wrks Dir./Engineer  Joseph Leach
Admin. Services Dir.  Mandy Kellogg

Meetings: 2nd and 4th Tuesday of every month at 6:00 pm. 

Location: Vintage Hall Board Room 
(St. Helena High School) 
465 Main Street 
St. Helena, CA 94574 

Attachment One

http://www.cityofsthelena.org/


6 

2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

Town of Yountville 
Contact Information: 

Address: 6550 Yount Street 
Yountville, California  94599 

Phone: (707) 944-8851

Fax: (707) 944-9619

Website: www.townofyountville.com

Governing Body: 

Title 
Mayor 
Vice-Mayor 
Council Member 
Council Member 
Council Member 

Administration/Staff: 

Title 
Town Manager
Town Attorney
Town Clerk
Finance Director 
Planning & Bldg. Director 
Public Works Director 

Marjorie Mohler
Eric Knight
Hillery Bolt Trippe 
Robin McKee-Cant    
Pam Reeves

Steve Rogers 
Gary Bell 
Eddy Gomez 
Celia King 
Irene Borba
John Ferons 

Meetings: 

Location: 

1st and 3rd Tuesday of every month at 3:00 pm. 

Yountville Town Hall Chambers 
6550 Yount Street 
Yountville, CA 94599 

Attachment One

http://www.townofyountville.com/


7 

2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

American Canyon Fire Protection District 
Contact Information: 

Address: 911 Donaldson Way East 
American Canyon, CA  94503 

Phone: (707) 551-0650

Fax: (707) 642-0201

Website: http://www.amcanfire.com

Governing Body (Subsidiary): 

Title 
Chair 
Vice-Chair 
Board Member 
Board Member 
Board Member 

Administration/Staff: 

Title 
District Manager 
Legal Counsel 
Admin. Assistants 

Leon Garcia 
Pierre Washington
Mariam Aboudamous 
Mark Joseph
David Oro

Geoff Belyea, Fire Chief 
William Ross 
Martha Banuelos/Laura Provencher 

Meetings: 

Location: 

4th Tuesday of every month at 6:30 pm. 

American Canyon City Hall 
4381 Broadway Street, Suite 201 
American Canyon, CA 94503 

Attachment One

http://www.amcanfire.com/


8 

2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

Circle Oaks County Water District 

Contact Information: 

Address: 380 Circle Oaks Drive 
Napa, California 94558-6607 

Phone: (707) 254-7796

Fax: (707) 254-9880

Website: www.cocwd.com

Email: cocwd@circle-oaks.com

Board: waterboard@circleoaks.com 

Governing Body (Independent): 

Title 
President 
Vice President 
Director 
Director 
Director 

Administration/Staff: 

Title 
District Manager 
District O & M 
Legal Counsel 
Secretary 

Jed Welsh 
Christy Vough
Michelle Montgomery 
Leslie Ellison 
Ron Tamarisk 

Paul Quarneri 
Tom Miller 
Shana Bagley - County 
Anna Haley 

Meetings: 2nd Wednesday of every month at 6:45 pm. 

Location: Circle Oaks County Water District Office 
380 Circle Oaks Drive 
Napa, CA 94558 

Attachment One

http://www.cocwd.com/
mailto:cocwd@circle-oaks.com
mailto:waterboard@circleoaks.com


9 

2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

Congress Valley Water District 
Contact Information: 

Address: Post Office Box 3023 
Napa, California 94558 

Phone: (707) 256-0344

Email: k.bjorkman@congressvalleywd.org

Website: https://www.congressvalleywd.org 

Governing Body (Independent): 

Title 
President 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director 

Adam Joffe 
Robin Francis
Rich Nominni 
Erik Erickson 
Rene Sicard 

Administration/Staff: 

Title 
District Manager 
Legal Counsel 
Clerk/Secretary 

Vacant 
Valerie Clemens 
Kiersten Bjorkman 

Meetings: 

Location: 

2nd Monday of every month at 5:30 pm. 

Remote teleconference

Attachment One

mailto:k.bjorkman@congressvalleywd.org
https://www.congressvalleywd.org


10 

2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

County Service Area No. 3 
Contact Information: 

Address: 1195 Third Street, Suite 101 
Napa, California 94559 

Phone: (707) 253-4351

Fax: (707) 253-4627

Website: www.countyofnapa.org

Governing Body (Dependent): 

Title 
Chair 
Vice-Chair 
Supervisor 
Supervisor 
Supervisor 

Belia Ramos
Joelle Gallagher 
Anne Cottrell
Ryan Gregory
Alfredo Pedroza 

Administration/Staff: 

Title 
District Manager 
Legal Counsel 
Staff Analyst 
Clerk 

Mark Witsoe
Shana Bagley – County 
Katherine Bales         
Neha Hoskins 

Meetings: As needed. 

Location: Napa County Administration Building 
Board of Supervisors Chambers 
1195 Third Street, Suite 305 
Napa, CA 94559 

Attachment One

http://www.countyofnapa.org/


11 

2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

County Service Area No. 4 
Contact Information: 

Address: 1195 Third Street, Suite 301 
Napa, California 94559 

Phone: (707) 253-4421

Fax: (707) 253-4176

Website: www.countyofnapa.org 

Governing Body (Dependent): 
Title 
Chair 
Vice-Chair 
Supervisor 
Supervisor 
Supervisor 

Administration/Staff: 
Title 
District Manager 
Legal Counsel 
Clerk 

Belia Ramos
Joelle Gallagher 
Anne Cottrell
Ryan Gregory 
Alfredo Pedroza 

Jennifer Palmer      
Jason Dooley – County 
Neha Hoskins

Meetings: 

Location: 

As needed. 

Napa County Administration Building 
Board of Supervisors Chambers 
1195 Third Street, Suite 305 
Napa, CA 94559 

Attachment One

http://www.countyofnapa.org/


12 

2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

Lake Berryessa Resort Improvement District 
Contact Information: 

Address: 804 First Street 
Napa, California 94559 

Phone: (707) 253-4351

Fax: (707) 253-4627

Website: www.countyofnapa.org

Governing Body (Dependent): 
Title 
Chair 
Vice-Chair 
Supervisor 
Supervisor 
Supervisor 

Administration/Staff: 
Title 
Public Works Director 
Assistant Engineer 
Legal Counsel 
Clerk 

Belia Ramos
Joelle Gallagher 
Anne Cottrell
Ryan Gregory
Alfredo Pedroza 

Steven Lederer 
Anna Maria Martinez 
Tom Zeleny – County 
Neha Hoskins

Meetings: 

Location: 

As needed concurrent with Board of 
Supervisors meetings.  

Napa County Administration Building 
Board of Supervisors Chambers
1195 Third Street, Room 305 
Napa, CA 94559 

Attachment One

http://www.countyofnapa.org/


13 

2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

Los Carneros Water District 
Contact Information: 

Address: 

Phone: 

1515 Soscol Ferry Road 
Napa, California 94558 
(707) 806-9784

Website: www.napasan.com 

Governing Body (Independent): 

Title 
President 
Vice-President 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Treasurer 

Administration/Staff: 

Title 
District Manager 
Legal Counsel 
Auditor/Controller

Laura Deyermond 
Jim Lincoln 
Bob Jones 
Jay Turnipseed
Will Drayton 
Cass Walker 
Matt Wilkinso

None 
Chris R.Y. Apallas – County 
Tracy Schulze

Meetings: 2nd Tuesday of February, May, June, October and 
December at 6:00 pm. 

Location: Napa Sanitation District Office
1515 Soscol Ferry Road 
Napa, California 94558

Attachment One

www.napasan.com


14 

2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

Monticello Public Cemetery District 
Contact Information: 

Address: 1195 Third Street, Suite 101 
Napa, California 94559 

Phone: (707) 253-4351

Fax: (707) 253-4627

Website: www.countyofnapa.org 

Governing Body (Dependent): 

Title 
Chair 
Vice-Chair 
Supervisor 
Supervisor 
Supervisor 

Administration/Staff: 

Title 
District Manager 
Legal Counsel 
Secretary 
Analyst 

Belia Ramos
Joelle Gallagher
Anne Cottrell
Ryan Gregory
Alfredo Pedroza 

Steven Lederer
Shana Bagley - County 
Neha Hoskins
Michael Karath 

Meetings/Location: 

• Board of Trustees meets as needed concurrent with Board of 
Supervisors meetings at the Napa County Administration Building 
Board of Supervisors Chambers, 1195 Third Street, Room 305, 
Napa, CA 94559.

• Advisory Board meets generally the 3rd Wednesday in February 
and August in the Public Works Conference Room, 1195 Third 
Street, Room 101, Napa, CA 94559.

Attachment One

http://www.countyofnapa.org/


15 

2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

Napa County Flood Control and Water Conservation District 
Address: 804 First Street 

Napa, California 94559 

Phone: (707) 259-8600

Fax: (707) 259-8619

Website:  www.countyofnapa.org 

Governing Body (Dependent): 

Title 
Chair 
Vice-Chair 
Mayor 
Vice-Mayor 
Mayor 
Mayor 
Supervisor 
Supervisor 
Supervisor 
Supervisor 
City Councilmember 

Ryan Gregory (Co. of Napa)
Scott Sedgley (City of Napa)
Leon Garcia (American Canyon)
Irais Lopez-Ortega (Calistoga)
Paul Dohring (St. Helena)
Marjorie Mohler (Yountville) 
Anne Cottrell (Co. of Napa)
Joelle Gallagher (Co. of Napa) 
Alfredo Pedroza (Co. of Napa) 
Belia Ramos (Co. of Napa)
Beth Painter (City of Napa) 

Administration/Staff: 

Shana Bagley 

Title 
Deputy Dist. Exec. Officer  Michael Parker 
Watershed Op. Manager  Rick Thomasser 
District Engineer  Andrew Butler
Legal Counsel 
Secretary Neha Hoskins 

Meetings: 

Location: 

1st Tuesday of each month at 1:30 pm. 

Napa County Administration Building 
Board of Supervisors Chambers 
1195 Third Street, Room 305 
Napa, CA 94559 

Attachment One



16 

2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

Napa County Mosquito Abatement District 
Contact Information: 

Address: 15 Melvin Road 
American Canyon, CA 94503 

Phone: (707) 553-9610

Fax: (707) 553-9611

Website: www.napamosquito.org

Governing Body (Independent): 

Title 
President
Trustee
Trustee
Trustee
Trustee

Shelby Valentine 
Frank Cabral  
Deborah Maffei 
Brian Cramer 
Chris Ray 

Administration/Staff: 

Title 
District Manager Wesley Maffei 
Legal Counsel County Counsel 
Admin. Assistant Alicia Hinojoza 

Meetings: 2nd Wednesday of each month at 7:00 pm. 

Location: Mosquito Abatement District Office 
15 Melvin Road 
American Canyon, CA 94503 

Attachment One

http://www.napamosquito.org/


17 

2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

Phone: 

Website: 

Email: 

(707) 259-5933

www.napaoutdoors.org 

info@ncrposd.org

Governing Body (Independent): 

Title 
President 
Vice-President 
Director 
Director 
Director 

Administration/Staff: 

Title 
General Manager 

Tony  Norris         
Nancy Heliotes 
Andrew Brooks 
Barry Christian           
Patricia Clarey 

Chris Cahill 
Asst. General Manager Kyra Purvis
Park Steward 
District Counsel 
District Secretary 
Auditor-Controller 

Jason Jordan 
Chris R.Y. Apallas 
Ryan Ayers  
Tracy Schulze 

Meetings: 2nd Monday of each month at 2:00 pm (except holidays). 

Location: Napa County Administration Building 
Board of Supervisors Chambers 
1195 Third Street, Room 305 
Napa, CA 94559 

Napa County Regional Park 
and Open Space District 
Contact Information: 

Address: 1125 Third Street, 2nd floor 
Napa, California 94559 

Attachment One

http://www.napaoutdoors.org/
mailto:info@ncrposd.org


18 

2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

Napa County Resource Conservation District 

Contact Information: 

Address: 1303 Jefferson Street, Suite 500B 
Napa, California 94559 

Phone: (707) 690-3110

Website: www.naparcd.org 

Governing Body (Independent): 

Title 
President 
Vice-President 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Associate Director 
Associate Director 
Associate Director 
Associate Director 
Associate Director 
Associate Director 
Associate Director
Associate Director 
Associate Director 
Associate Director 
Associate Director
 

Administration/Staff: 

Title 
Executive Director 
Legal Counsel 
Office Manager 

Bruce Barge
Rainer Hoenicke
Paul Asmuth
Jim Lincoln
Bill Pramuk
Gretchen Stranzl McCann 
Vacant
Bryan Avila 
Chris Carpenter
Pam Harter
John Henshaw
Joseph Nordlinger 
Bryan Parker
Lucio Perez
Matthew Reid
Tyler Varian
Pierre Washington
Lauren Winczewski

 
Lucas Patzek 
Corey Utsurogi – County 
Anna Mattinson 

Meetings: 

Location: 

2nd Thursday of each month at 8:00 am. 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) 
625 Burnell Street
Napa, CA 94559 

Attachment One

http://www.naparcd.org/


19 

2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

Napa Berryessa Resort Improvement District 

Contact Information: 

Address: 804 First Street 
Napa, California 94559 

Phone: 707-253-4351

Fax: 707-253-4627

Website: www.countyofnapa.org

Governing Body (Dependent): 
Title 
Chair 
Vice-Chair 
Supervisor 
Supervisor 
Supervisor 

Administration/Staff: 

Title 
District Engineer 
Assistant Engineer 
Legal Counsel 
Clerk 

Meetings: 

Location: 

As needed concurrent with Board of 
Supervisors meetings. 

Napa County Administration Building
Board of Supervisors Chambers
1195 Third Street, Room 305 
Napa, CA 94559 

Belia Ramos
Joelle Gallagher 
Anne Cottrell
Ryan Gregory 
Alfredo Pedroza 

Steven Lederer 
Anna Maria Martinez 
Tom Zeleny - County 
Neha Hoskins

Attachment One

http://www.countyofnapa.org/


20 

2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

Napa River Reclamation District No. 2109 

Contact Information: 

Address: 1501 Milton Road 
Napa, California 94559 

Phone: (707) 255-2996

Website: www.nrrd2109.org

Governing Body (Independent): 
Title 
Chair 
Trustee 
Trustee 
Trustee 
Trustee 

Frank Lagorio 
Richard Newman  
Ana Chretien 
Jim Winters 
Mary Finnegan

Administration/Staff: 

Title 
District Assistant Mgr.   Penny Wilson 
Legal Counsel 
Secretary 

Wendy Dau
Penny Wilson 

Meetings: 1st Thursday of each month at 7:00 pm. 

Location: Edgerly Island Volunteer Fire Station 
1598 Milton Road 
Napa, CA 94559 

Attachment One

http://www.nrrd2109.org/


21 

2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

Napa Sanitation District 

Contact Information: 

Address: 1515 Soscol Ferry Road 
Napa, California 94558 

Phone: (707) 258-6000

Fax: (707) 258-6048

Website: www.napasan.com 

Governing Body (Dependent): 

Title 
Chair 
Vice Chair 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Alternate 
Alternate 

Administration/Staff: 

Title 
General Manager 
Legal Counsel 
Board Clerk/HR 

Scott Sedgley (City of Napa)
Ryan Gregory (County Supervisor) 
Mary Luros (City of Napa) 
David Graves (Public Member)    
Peter Mott (Public Member) 
Alfredo Pedroza (County Member)  
Bernie Navarez (City of Napa)

Tim Healy 
John Bakker - Meyers, Nave, & Riback 
Cheryl Schuh 

Meetings: 1st and 3rd Wednesday of each month at 4:00 pm. 

Location: Soscol Water Recycling Facility 
1515 Soscol Ferry Road 
Napa, CA 94558 

Attachment One

http://www.napasan.com/


22 

2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

Pope Valley Cemetery District 
Contact Information: 

Address: Post Office Box 22 
Pope Valley, California 94567 

Phone: (707) 974-5528

Email: Diana@PopeValleyWinery.com 

Governing Body (Independent): 

Title 
President Brad Kirkpatrick 
Director Jim Hardin 
Director Brian Varner 
Director Jeff Parady 

Administration/Staff: 

Title 
Legal Counsel Vacant 
Secretary/Treasurer Diana Hawkins 

Meetings: As needed. 

Location: Pope Valley Volunteer Fire Department 
5880 Pope Valley Road 
Pope Valley, CA 94567 

Attachment One

mailto:Diana@PopeValleyWinery.com


23 

2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

Silverado Community Services District 
Contact Information: 

Address: 1195 Third Street, Room 101 
Napa, California 94559 

Phone: (707) 253-4351

Fax: (707) 253-4627

Website: www.countyofnapa.org 

Governing Body (Dependent): 

Title 
Chair 
Vice-Chair 
Supervisor 
Supervisor 
Supervisor 

Administration/Staff: 

Title 
District Manager 
Legal Counsel 
District Secretary 
Staff Services Analyst 

Belia Ramos
Joelle Gallagher 
Anne Cottrell
Ryan Gregory 
Alfredo Pedroza 

Steven Lederer 
Shana Bagley - County 
Neha Hoskins         
Michael Karath 

Meetings: 

Location: 

As needed concurrent with Board of 
Supervisors meetings. 

Napa County Administration Building
Board of Supervisors Chambers 
1195 Third Street, Room 305 
Napa, CA 94559 

Attachment One



24 

2023 DIRECTORY OF LOCAL AGENCIES LAFCO OF NAPA COUNTY 

Spanish Flat Water District 
Contact Information: 

Address: 4340 Spanish Flat Loop Road 
Napa, California 94558 

Phone: 

Fax: 

Email: 

(707) 966-1607

(707) 966-0193

pdq9251@gmail.com

Governing Body (Independent): 

Title 
President 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director 

Administration/Staff: 

Title 
Projects Manager 
Legal Counsel 
Secretary 
Operator 

Wesley Plunkett            
Ken Burkhart           
Trusten Williams
Julia Robinson
Mark Fairbanks 

Paul Quarneri 
Jason Dooley - County 
Ruthann Miller
Steve Silva 

Meetings: 2nd Thursday of each month at 6:00 pm. 

Location: Spanish Flat Water District Office 
4340 Spanish Flat Loop Road  (Lake Berryessa) 
Napa, CA 94558 

Attachment One

mailto:pdq9251@gmail.com


 

 

Margie Mohler, Chair 
Councilmember, Town of Yountville 
 

Mariam Aboudamous, Commissioner 
Councilmember, City of American Canyon 
 

Beth Painter, Alternate Commissioner 
Councilmember, City of Napa 
 
 
 

Anne Cottrell, Vice Chair 
County of Napa Supervisor, 3rd District 

 

Belia Ramos, Commissioner 
County of Napa Supervisor, 5th District 

 

Joelle Gallagher, Alternate Commissioner 
County of Napa Supervisor, 1st District 

 

Kenneth Leary, Commissioner 
Representative of the General Public 

 

Eve Kahn, Alternate Commissioner  
Representative of the General Public 

 

Brendon Freeman 
Executive Officer 

 

Local Agency Formation Commission of Napa County  
Subdivision of the State of California  
 
 
We Manage Local Government Boundaries, Evaluate Municipal Services, and Protect Agriculture  

 

 
1754 Second Street, Suite C 

Napa, California  94559 
Phone: (707) 259-8645 
www.napa.lafco.ca.gov 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 9a (Action) 
 
 
 
TO:    Local Agency Formation Commission 
 
PREPARED BY: Brendon Freeman, Executive Officer 
 
MEETING DATE: February 6, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: Subcommittee Appointments 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended the Commission make appointments to the ad hoc Fiscal Year 2023-24 
Budget Committee and the standing Legislative Committee. 
 
SUMMARY 
 
The Commission will consider making appointments to two subcommittees. A summary 
of the subcommittees and recommended actions follows. 
 
Fiscal Year 2023-24 Budget Committee (Ad Hoc) 
 
The Commission establishes an ad hoc Budget Committee each year consistent with the 
adopted Budget Policy, included as Attachment One. The Budget Committee includes two 
Commissioners to advise the Executive Officer in preparing a budget for review and 
adoption by the Commission. The Budget Committee is also tasked with considering the 
Commission’s fee schedule and Work Program. The Budget Committee automatically 
terminates with the adoption of a final budget. Staff recommends the Commission appoint 
two members to the Fiscal Year 2023-24 Budget Committee. 
 
Legislative Committee (Standing) 
  
The Commission’s Legislative Committee is a standing subcommittee. The Commission’s 
Legislative Policy, included as Attachment Two, states the Commission shall appoint two 
members to the Legislative Committee at the beginning of each two-year legislative 
session. The Legislative Committee reviews proposed legislation related to LAFCOs and 
makes recommendations to the full Commission to take positions on pertinent bills. The 
new two-year legislative session began in January 2023. Staff recommends the 
Commission appoint two members to the Legislative Committee. 
 
 

ATTACHMENTS 
 
1) Budget Policy 
2) Legislative Policy 



   LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA COUNTY 

Budget Policy 
(Adopted: August 9, 2001;  Last Amended: November 18, 2019) 

I. Background

The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization (CKH) Act of 2000 includes 
provisions for establishing a budget and for the receipt of funds. Government Code (G.C.) §56381 
establishes that the Commission shall annually adopt a budget for the purpose of fulfilling its duties 
under CKH. 

II. Purpose

It is the intent of the Commission to adopt a policy for budget purposes which establishes 
procedures for compiling, adopting and administering the budget. The Commission is committed 
to providing transparency of its operations including its fiscal activities. The Commission follows 
recognized accounting principles and best practices in recognition of its responsibility to the 
public. 

III. Preparation of Annual Budget

A) An annual budget shall be prepared, adopted and administered in accordance with (G.C.)
§56381.

B) The Commission should annually consider the Fee Schedule, including any anticipated
changes, and Work Program in conjunction with the budget process.

C) The Commission is committed to ensuring the agency is appropriately funded each fiscal year
to effectively meet its prescribed regulatory and planning responsibilities. The Commission is
also committed to controlling operating expenses to reduce the financial obligations on the
County of Napa, the cities and town, hereafter referred to as the “funding agencies,” whenever
possible and appropriate.

D) The budget shall include an undesignated/unreserved fund balance equal to a minimum of one-
third (i.e., four months) of annually budgeted operating expenses.

E)  The Commission shall establish an ad-hoc budget committee at the last meeting of each
calendar year comprising of two Commissioners which will terminate with the adoption of the
final budget. Commissioners appointed to a budget committee shall receive a regular per diem
payment for each meeting attended.

F) The adopted final budget should be posted on the Commission’s website for public viewing
for a minimum of five years.

G) The Executive Officer shall provide quarterly budget reports to the Commission for
informational purposes.

Attachment One

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56381.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56381.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56381.&lawCode=GOV


Budget Policy 
Page 2 of 3 

IV.  Budget Contributions and Collection of Funds 
 

G.C. §56381 establishes that the Commission shall adopt annually a budget for the purpose of 
fulfilling its duties under CKH. It further establishes that the County Auditor shall apportion 
the operating expenses from this budget in the manner prescribed by G.C. §56381(b), or in a 
manner mutually agreed upon by the agencies responsible for the funding of the Commission’s 
budget G.C. §56381(c) states that: 

 
After apportioning the costs as required in subdivision (b), the auditor shall 
request payment from the Board of Supervisors and from each city no later than 
July 1 of each year for the amount that entity owes and the actual administrative 
costs incurred by the auditor in apportioning costs and requesting payment from 
each entity. If the County or a city does not remit its required payment within 60 
days, the Commission may determine an appropriate method of collecting the 
required payment, including a request to the auditor to collect an equivalent 
amount from the property tax, or any fee or eligible revenue owed to the County 
or city. The auditor shall provide written notice to the County or city prior to 
appropriating a share of the property tax or other revenue to the Commission for 
the payment due the Commission pursuant to this section. 

 
It is the intent of the Commission that all agencies provide the costs apportioned to them from 
the LAFCO budget. Pursuant to G.C. §56381(c), the policy of the Commission is: 

 
A) If the County or a city or a town does not remit its required payment within 45 days of the 

July 1 deadline, the County Auditor shall send written notice to the agency in question that 
pursuant to G.C. §56381(c) and this policy, the Auditor has the authority to collect the 
amount of the Commission’s operating expenses apportioned to that agency after 60 days 
from the July 1 deadline. 

 
B) If the County or a city or a town does not remit its required payment within 60 days of the 

July 1 deadline, the County Auditor shall collect an amount equivalent to the cost 
apportioned to that agency from the property tax owed to that agency, or some other eligible 
revenue deemed appropriate or necessary by the County Auditor. The County Auditor shall 
send written notice of the action taken to the agency and to the Commission. 

  

Attachment One

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56381.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56381.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56381.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56381.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56381.&lawCode=GOV


Budget Policy 
Page 3 of 3 

V.  Executive Officer Purchasing and Budget Adjustment Authority 
 

Pursuant to G.C. §56380, the Commission shall make its own provision for necessary quarters, 
equipment, supplies, and services. The associated operating costs are provided for through the 
Commission’s adoption of its annual budget in the manner prescribed in G.C. §56381. 

 
It is the intent of the Commission to charge the LAFCO Executive Officer with the 
responsibility and authority for coordinating and managing the procurement of necessary 
quarters, equipment, supplies, and services, and to adjust the annual budget as necessary under 
certain circumstances. The policy of the Commission is: 

 
A) The Executive Officer is charged with the responsibility and authority for coordinating and 

managing the procurement of necessary quarters, equipment, supplies, and services in 
accordance with applicable laws, regulations and policies. 

 
B) The Executive Officer is authorized to act as the agent for LAFCO in procuring necessary 

quarters, equipment, supplies, and services. 
 
C) Only the Commission itself or the Executive Officer may commit LAFCO funds for the 

purchase of any necessary quarters, equipment, supplies, or services for LAFCO use. 
 
D) The Executive Officer is delegated purchasing authority on behalf of LAFCO for necessary 

quarters, equipment, supplies, and services not to exceed $5,000 per transaction. The 
Commission must approve any purchase of necessary quarters, equipment, supplies, and 
services that exceed the monetary limits set forth in this policy. 

 
E) Following review and approval by the Chair, the Executive Office is authorized to make 

adjustments and administrative corrections to the budget without Commission action 
provided the adjustments and corrections are within the total budget allocations adopted by 
the Commission. 

 
F) Following review and approval by the Chair, the Executive Officer is authorized to adjust 

the budget for purposes of carrying over to the new fiscal year any encumbered funds that 
have been approved by the Commission in a prior fiscal year and involve unspent balances. 
Said funds include committed contracts for services that were not completed in the prior 
fiscal year and must be re-encumbered by way of a budget adjustment in the new fiscal 
year. 

 
 
 
 

Attachment One

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56380.&lawCode=GOV
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=56381.&lawCode=GOV


LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF NAPA 

Legislative Policy 
(Adopted: December 4, 2017; Last Amended: April 4, 2022) 

1) The Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) of Napa County (“the Commission”)
shall establish a standing committee to review proposed legislation (“Legislative
Committee”). At the beginning of each two-year legislative session, the Commission shall
appoint (or re-appoint) two members to the Legislative Committee, in addition to LAFCO’s
Executive Officer. Meetings of the Legislative Committee must be noticed in accordance
with the Ralph M. Brown Act.

2) The Legislative Committee shall, at least annually, review the California Association of
LAFCOs’ legislative platform as well as the Commission’s adopted legislative platform if
applicable and determine what action is needed in terms of adopting or amending a local
legislative platform. The Legislative Committee shall present recommendations to the full
Commission with respect to actions related to the local legislative platform.

3) The Legislative Committee shall, at least annually, review proposed legislation affecting
LAFCO. The Executive Officer shall continue monitoring proposed legislation and present
recommendations to the full Commission with respect to formal positions on proposed
legislation.

4) In the event that proposed legislation affecting LAFCO cannot be considered by the full
Commission due to timing, the Executive Officer is authorized to submit written
correspondence to the appropriate entity regarding the Commission’s position if the
position is consistent with the adopted legislative platform of the Commission. The Chair,
or the Vice-Chair if the Chair is unavailable, shall review and approve the written
correspondence prior to it being submitted by the Executive Officer.

5) All submitted correspondence pursuant to this policy will be included on the next available
Commission agenda.

Attachment Two



 

 

Margie Mohler, Chair 
Councilmember, Town of Yountville 
 

Mariam Aboudamous, Commissioner 
Councilmember, City of American Canyon 
 

Beth Painter, Alternate Commissioner 
Councilmember, City of Napa 
 
 
 

Anne Cottrell, Vice Chair 
County of Napa Supervisor, 3rd District 

 

Belia Ramos, Commissioner 
County of Napa Supervisor, 5th District 

 

Joelle Gallagher, Alternate Commissioner 
County of Napa Supervisor, 1st District 

 

Kenneth Leary, Commissioner 
Representative of the General Public 

 

Eve Kahn, Alternate Commissioner  
Representative of the General Public 

 

Brendon Freeman 
Executive Officer 

 

Local Agency Formation Commission of Napa County  
Subdivision of the State of California  
 
 
We Manage Local Government Boundaries, Evaluate Municipal Services, and Protect Agriculture  

 

 
1754 Second Street, Suite C 

Napa, California  94559 
Phone: (707) 259-8645 
www.napa.lafco.ca.gov 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 9b (Action) 
 
 
 
TO:    Local Agency Formation Commission 
 
PREPARED BY: Brendon Freeman, Executive Officer 
 
MEETING DATE: February 6, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: CALAFCO Board of Directors Vacancy and Possible Nomination 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended the Commission consider providing formal direction to the Executive 
Officer to submit a nomination for an interested county member on the Commission to 
complete an unexpired term on the California Association of LAFCOs (CALAFCO) Board 
of Directors.  
 
SUMMARY 
 
CALAFCO is a 501(c)3 non-profit founded in 1971. CALAFCO serves as an organization 
dedicated to assisting member LAFCOs with educational, technical, and legislative 
resources that otherwise would not be available. CALAFCO provides statewide 
coordination of LAFCO activities, serves as a resource to the Legislature and other bodies, 
and offers a structure for sharing information among the various LAFCOs and other 
governmental agencies. 
 
CALAFCO has a sixteen (16) member Board of Directors, representing all four regions of 
the Association. There are four representatives each from the Northern, Southern, Coastal, 
and Central regions. Each of the four regions has one County, one City, one Special 
District, and one Public Member on the Board. Board of Directors terms are two years. 
 
Members elected to the CALAFCO Board represent the statewide interests of the 
Association and not solely the interests of their region. Examples of Board activities 
include overseeing CALAFCO staff, annual conference planning, and engaging in 
proposed legislation affecting LAFCOs. 
 
Commission Chair Margie Mohler is currently serving a third consecutive two-year term 
as CALAFCO’s Coastal Region City Member. 
 
  



CALAFCO Board of Directors Vacancy and Possible Nomination 
February 6, 2023 
Page 2 of 2 
 
The CALAFCO Coastal Region County seat is currently vacant following the resignation 
of Chris Lopez (Monterey) in January 2023. The unexpired term ends in October 2024.  
 
Under CALAFCO’s policy, vacancies on the Board may be filled by appointment by the 
other Board members for the balance of the unexpired term. Appointees must be from the 
same category as the vacancy and should be from the same region. Alternate county 
members are eligible for the CALAFCO Board. As such, Commissioners Cottrell, Ramos, 
and Gallagher are eligible to be appointed to the Board.  
 
A special vacancy nominations form is included as Attachment One. Nominations are due 
to CALAFCO by 5:00 P.M. on February 13, 2023. The CALAFCO Board is expected to 
make an appointment on February 17, 2023.  
 
Staff recommends the three county members on the Commission discuss their interest, if 
any, in filling the vacant CALAFCO Board seat. If any county members are interested, 
staff recommends the Commission take formal action to direct the Executive Officer to 
submit a nomination form for the CALAFCO Board’s consideration.  
 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENT 
 
1) CALAFCO Board of Directors Special Vacancy Nominations Form 



CALAFCO SPECIAL VACANCY – Coastal/County 
Nomination Packet, Page 1 of 3 

Board of Directors

2023 Special Vacancy Nominations Form 

Nomination to the CALAFCO Board of Directors 

In accordance with the Nominations and Election Procedures of CALAFCO,  

 LAFCo of the Coast Region Nominates 

   to fill the 

special vacancy for the Coastal region County Position on the CALAFCO Board of Directors, to 

a term that expires in 2024. The position will be filled by appointment of the CALAFCO Board 

of Directors pursuant to CALAFCO Policy Section 5.5 8. 

LAFCo Chair 

Date 

NOTICE OF DEADLINE 

Nominations must be received by the Executive Director 

by Monday, February 13, 2023 at 5:00 p.m. to be 

considered by CALAFCO Board of Directors.  

Send completed nominations in digital format to: 

info@calafco.org 

Date Received  

Attachment One



CALAFCO SPECIAL VACANCY – Coastal/County 
Nomination Packet, Page 2 of 3 
 

 
 

Board of Directors 
2023 Special Vacancy Candidate Résumé Form 

(Complete both pages) 
 

Nominated By:    LAFCo Date:   

There currently exists one (1) special vacancy for the:  

COASTAL region, COUNTY position 

 

This position will be filled by appointment of the CALAFCO Board of Directors pursuant to 

CALAFCO Policy 5.5 8. The appointee should be prepared to fill the unexpired term, which will 

run through 2024. 

 

To better assist the CALAFCO Board in making its selection, please provide the following 

information: 

 

Candidate Name   

 Address   

 Phone Office   Mobile   

 e-mail    

 

Personal and Professional Background: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LAFCo Experience: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date Received  

  

Attachment One



CALAFCO SPECIAL VACANCY – Coastal/County 
Nomination Packet, Page 3 of 3 

CALAFCO or State-level Experience: 

Availability: 

Other Related Activities and Comments: 

NOTICE OF DEADLINE 

Nominations must be received by the Executive Director 

by Monday, February 13, 2023 at 5:00 p.m. to be 

considered by CALAFCO Board of Directors.  

Send completed nominations in digital format to: 

info@calafco.org 

Attachment One


	LAFCo NAME: 
	NOMINEE NAME: 
	Date: 
	Nominating LAFCo: 
	Date_2: 
	Candidate Name: 
	Address: 
	Office No: 
	Mobile No: 
	email: 
	Personal and Professional Background: 
	LAFCo Experience: 
	CALAFCO or State-level Experience: 
	Availability: 
	Other Related Activities and Comments: 


